ECONOMIC BURDEN OF SNAKEBITE AND COST-EFFECTIVENESS OF IMPROVING ACCESS TO SNAKE ANTIVENOM IN ASEAN COUNTRIES



A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Social and Administrative Pharmacy Department of Social and Administrative Pharmacy FACULTY OF PHARMACEUTICAL SCIENCES Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2022 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

ภาระทางเศรษฐกิจของแผลงูกัดและความคุ้มทุนของการปรับปรุงการเข้าถึงเซรุ่มพิษงูในกลุ่ม ประเทศอาเซียน



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรดุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาเภสัชศาสตร์สังคมและบริหาร ภาควิชาเภสัชศาสตร์สังคมและบริหาร คณะเภสัชศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2565 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	ECONOMIC BURDEN OF SNAKEBITE AND COST-				
	EFFECTIVENESS OF IMPROVING ACCESS TO SNAKE				
	ANTIVENOM IN ASEAN COUNTRIES				
Ву	Mr. Chanthawat Patikorn				
Field of Study	Social and Administrative Pharmacy				
Thesis Advisor	Assistant Professor Suthira Taychakhoonavudh, Ph.D.				
Thesis Co Advisor	Professor Nathorn Chaiyakunapruk, Pharm.D., Ph.D.				

Accepted by the FACULTY OF PHARMACEUTICAL SCIENCES, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Doctor of Philosophy

		/
		Dean of the FACULTY OF
	-///	PHARMACEUTICAL SCIENCES
	(Professor PORNANONG ARAMWIT, Ph	n.D.)
	ROA	
DISSERTATION CO		
		Chairman
	(Professor lekhsan Othman, Ph.D.)	
-		Thesis Advisor
	(Assistant Professor Suthira Taychakhoo	onavudh, Ph.D.)
	จุหาลงกรณ์แหาวิทย	Thesis Co-Advisor
	(Professor Nathorn Chaiyakunapruk, Ph	arm.D., Ph.D.)
		Examiner
	(Assistant Professor RUNGPETCH SAK	ULBUMRUNGSIL, Ph.D.)
		Examiner
	(Associate Professor Police Lieutenant I	PUREE ANANTACHOTI,
	Ph.D.)	
		Examiner
	(Netnapis Suchonwanich, Ph.D.)	

ฉันทวัฒน์ ปฏิกรณ์ : ภาระทางเศรษฐกิจของแผลงูกัดและความคุ้มทุนของการปรับปรุงการเข้าถึง เซรุ่มพิษงูในกลุ่มประเทศอาเซียน. (ECONOMIC BURDEN OF SNAKEBITE AND COST-EFFECTIVENESS OF IMPROVING ACCESS TO SNAKE ANTIVENOM IN ASEAN COUNTRIES) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : ผศ. ภญ. ดร.สุธีรา เตชคุณวุฒิ, อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม : ศ. ภก. ดร.ณ ธร ชัยญาคุณาพฤกษ์

กลุ่มประเทศอาเซียนเป็นหนึ่งในภูมิภาคเขตร้อนที่พบอุบัติการณ์ของงูกัดที่สูงมาก ดังนั้นการทำ ความเข้าใจสถานการณ์ของูกัดและเซรุ่มพิษงูจึงมีความสำคัญต่อการพัฒนากลยุทธ์ที่ขับเคลื่อนโดยหลักฐาน เชิลประจักษ์ เพื่อลดความเจ็บป่วยและการตายจากงูกัดให้ได้ครึ่งหนึ่งภายในปี ค.ศ. 2030 ตามเป้าหมายของ องค์การอนามัยโลก การศึกษาแรก ผู้วิจัยได้ทำการทบทวนวรรณกรรมอย่างเป็นระบบโดยทำการสืบค้น การศึกษาเกี่ยวกับภาระทางเศรษฐกิจของงูกัด จำนวน 23 ฉบับ และการประเมินความคุ้มค่าของเซรุ่มพิษงู ้จำนวน 3 ฉบับ พบว่ามีการประเมินการะทางเศรษฐกิจของงูกัดมีการวิจัยไม่มาก และส่วนใหญ่ประเมินค่าต่ำ กว่าความเป็นจริง การศึกษาส่วนใหญ่วิเคราะห์เพียงต้นทุนทางตรงของคนไข้งกัดที่เข้ารับการรักษาที่ สถานพยาบาล ดังนั้น ควรใช้ข้อมูลของสถานพยาบาลประกอบกับข้อมูลที่ได้จากการลงพื้นที่เก็บข้อมูลใน ้ชุมชนเพื่อให้มั่นใจว่าสามารถประเมินภาระทางเศรษฐกิจของงูกัดได้แม่นยำยิ่งขึ้น การศึกษาที่สอง ผู้วิจัยได้ ประเมินภาระของงูกัดในกลุ่มประเทศอาเซียน พบว่าภาระโรคและภาระทางเศรษฐกิจของงูกัดมีค่าที่สูงมาก แม้ว่าจะมีการผลิตเซรุ่มพิษงูในภูมิภาคก็ตาม ทั้งนี้พบว่าภาระโรคและภาระทางเศรษฐกิจของงูกัดเกือบ ทั้งหมดเกิดจากการเสียชีวิตก่อนวัยอันควรจากการถูกงูกัด ซึ่งบ่งชี้ให้เห็นว่าภาระโรคและภาระทางเศรษฐกิจ ของงูกัดสามารถหลีกเลี่ยงได้ โดยเฉพาะประเทศที่ผู้ถูกงูกัดส่วนใหญ่ไม่ได้รับการรักษาด้วยเซรุ่มพิษงูที่ เหมาะสม การศึกษาที่สาม ผู้วิจัยได้ประเมินความคุ้มค่าของการปรับปรุงการเข้าถึงเซรุ่มพิษงูใน 5 ประเทศ ภายในกลุ่มประเทศอาเซียน พบว่าการปรับปรุงการเข้าถึงเซรุ่มพิษงูสามารถประหยัดงบประมาณได้ ซึ่งบ่ง ชี้ให้เห็นว่าการปรับปรุงการเข้าถึงเซรุ่มพิษงูโดยให้ผู้ที่ถูกงูกัดทุกรายได้รับเซรุ่มพิษงูสามารถภาระของงูกัดได้ และสามารถบรรลุเป้าประสงค์ขององค์การอนามัยโลกในการลดภาระของงูกัด โดยสรุป การปรับปรุง สถานการณ์ของงูกัดและเซรุ่มพิษงูไม่ได้มีเพียงการผลิตเซรุ่มพิษงู แต่ต้องคำนึงถึงระบบทั้งหมดที่เกี่ยวข้องกับ การจัดการงูกัดและเซรุ่มพิษงู ทั้งนี้การประเมินสถานการณ์ของงูกัดเซรุ่มพิษงูมีความสำคัญอย่างมากใน ประเทศ หรือภูมิภาคที่มีความชุกของงูกัดสูง เพื่อที่จะได้เข้าใจจุดยืดในปัจจุบัน และพัฒนากลยุทธ์ที่ เหมาะสมสำหรับการจัดการปัญหางูกัดในกลุ่มประเทศอาเซียน

สาขาวิชา	เภสัชศาสตร์สังคมและบริหาร	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
ปีการศึกษา	2565	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก
		ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม

6378301533 : MAJOR SOCIAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE PHARMACY

KEYWORD: Snakebite, Antivenom, ASEAN, Southeast Asia, Burden of disease, Cost-effectiveness analysis Chanthawat Patikorn : ECONOMIC BURDEN OF SNAKEBITE AND COST-EFFECTIVENESS OF IMPROVING ACCESS TO SNAKE ANTIVENOM IN ASEAN COUNTRIES. Advisor: Asst. Prof. Suthira Taychakhoonavudh, Ph.D. Co-advisor: Prof. Nathorn Chaiyakunapruk, Pharm.D., Ph.D.

The Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) countries are among the tropical regions with disproportionately high incidence of snakebite. Understanding the snakebite and antivenom market situation and burden of snakebite is crucial for developing evidence-based strategies to pursue the goal set by the World Health Organization (WHO) to halve morbidity and mortality of snakebite by 2030. Firstly, we systematically review 23 cost of illness studies and 3 economic evaluations. Economic burdens of snakebite were underestimated and not extensively studied. Majority of studies only provided direct costs of snakebite patients presented to the hospitals. Thus, hospital data should be used to combine with community survey to ensure the accurate estimation of overall economic burdens of snakebite victims. Secondly, we estimated the high economic and disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN, despite the availability of domestically produced antivenoms. Almost all of the estimated economic and disease burdens were attributed to premature deaths from snakebite envenoming which suggested that the remarkably high burden of snakebite could be averted, especially in countries where large proportions of victims who needed antivenom were not treated with geographically appropriate antivenoms. Thirdly, costeffectiveness analysis demonstrated improving access to snake antivenom from the current to the full level of access in five ASEAN countries was cost-saving. Our findings indicated that the WHO's goal to halve the snakebite burden could be achieved by providing full access to snake antivenoms for all victims in ASEAN. In conclusion, improving the situation of snakebite and antivenom is not only about the availability of antivenom, but the whole landscape of surrounding management and supporting system. The assessment of the situation of snakebite and antivenom is crucial for countries or regions where snakebites are prevalent to recognize their current standpoint to inform the development of strategies to address snakebite problems in ASEAN countries.

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Field of Study: Academic Year: Social and Administrative Pharmacy 2022

Student's Signature
Advisor's Signature
Co-advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This dissertation is supported by the Second Century Fund (C2F), Chulalongkorn University, to Mr. Chanthawat Patikorn, and Assistant Professor Suthira Taychakhoonavudh. This research project is supported by the Wellcome Trust [218539/Z/19/Z]

I would like to especially thank Assistant Professor Suthira Taychakhoonavudh and Professor Nathorn Chaiyakunapruk, my advisors, for their outstanding mentorship and support throughout the academic years at the Doctor of Philosophy program in Social and Administrative Pharmacy (international program), Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University. Moreover, I would like to thank Associate Professor Puree Anantachoti for her guidance and support. I also would like to thank Professor lekhsan Othman, Assistant Professor Rungpetch Sakulbumrungsil, and Dr. Netnapis Suchonwanich for their advice on this dissertation.

Finally, I would like to gratefully thank my family and friends for their love and support throughout the period of this dissertation.



Chanthawat Patikorn

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page	Э
ABSTRACT (THAI)iii	
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)iv	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv	
TABLE OF CONTENTS	
LIST OF TABLESx	
LIST OF FIGURESxi	
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	
1.1 BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE OF STUDY 12	
1.2 PURPOSES OF STUDY14	
1.3 SCOPE OF THE STUDY	
1.4 EXPECTED BENEFITS	
CHAPTER 2 - LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 GLOBAL BURDEN OF SNAKEBITE AND GLOBAL STRATEGIES TO ADDRESS SNAKEBITE PROBLEM	
2.2 SNAKEBITE IN ASEAN COUNTRIES	
2.2.1 Malaysia	
2.2.2 Thailand	
2.2.3 Indonesia	
2.2.4 Philippines	
2.2.5 Lao PDR	
2.2.6 Vietnam	

2.2.7 Myanmar 1	8
2.3 GAP IN KNOWLEDGE 1	9
CHAPTER 3 GLOBAL SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF COST OF ILLNESS AND ECONOMIC	
EVALUATION STUDIES ASSOCIATED WITH SNAKEBITE	0
3.1 ABSTRACT 2	0
3.2 INTRODUCTION	!1
3.3 METHODS 2	2
3.3.1 Data source, search strategy, and eligibility criteria	2
3.3.2 Study selection and data extraction2	2
3.3.3 Quality assessment	3
3.3.4 Data synthesis	3
3.4 RESULTS	3
3.4.1 Study selection	3
3.4.2 Study characteristics	:4
3.4.3 Quality assessment	0
3.4.4 Annual national cost estimates of snakebite	0
3.4.5 Findings of economic evaluation studies associated with snakebite	2
3.5 DISCUSSION	2
3.6 CONCLUSION	4
CHAPTER 4 ESTIMATING ECONOMIC AND DISEASE BURDEN OF SNAKEBITE IN	
ASEAN COUNTRIES USING A DECISION ANALYTIC MODEL	5
4.1 ABSTRACT	6
4.2 INTRODUCTION	7
4.3 METHODS	7

4.3.1 Decision analytic model	38
4.3.2 Input parameters	39
4.3.3 Model assumptions	40
4.3.4 Total number of snakebite victims	40
4.3.5 Costs of snakebite	40
4.3.6 Disease burden of snakebite	41
4.3.7 Analysis	41
4.3.8 Patient and public involvement	41
4.3.9 Research ethics approval	41
4.3.10 Role of the funding source	42
4.4 RESULTS	42
4.4.1 Snakebite victims in ASEAN	42
4.4.2 Economic burden of snakebite in ASEAN	45
4.4.3 Disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN	47
4.4.4 Comparison of economic and disease burden per victim with snakebite	
envenoming across countries	47
4.4.5 Sensitivity analysis	47
4.5 DISCUSSION	47
4.6 CONCLUSION	50
CHAPTER 5 POTENTIAL ECONOMIC AND CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS OF IMPROVING	
ACCESS TO SNAKE ANTIVENOM IN FIVE ASEAN COUNTRIES: A COST-	
EFFECTIVENESS ANALYSIS	51
5.1 ABSTRACT	51
5.2 INTRODUCTION	52

5.3 METHODS	53
5.3.1 Setting	54
5.3.2 Decision analytic model	54
5.3.3 Input parameters	56
5.3.4 Costs	56
5.3.5 Health outcomes	57
5.3.6 Discounting	57
5.3.7 Base-case analyses	57
5.3.8 Sensitivity analyses	57
5.4 RESULTS	58
5.4.1 Base-case analyses	58
5.4.2 Sensitivity analyses	60
5.5 DISCUSSION	62
5.5.1 Limitations	64
5.6 CONCLUSION	65
CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSIONS	66
6.1 CONCLUSIONS	
6.2 POLICY IMPLICATIONS	
REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	
REFERENCES	
VITA	

LIST OF TABLES

	Page
Table 1 Characteristics of the included cost of illness studies associated with	
snakebites	. 26
Table 2 Annual national cost estimates of snakebite in US\$ 2018	. 31
Table 3 Estimated annual disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN countries	. 43
Table 4 Estimated annual economic burden (x1,000 USD) of snakebite in ASEAN	
countries	. 45
Table 5 Estimated economic and clinical impact of snakebite victims between curren	ıt
access and full access to snake antivenom in ASEAN countries	. 59
Table 6 Cost-effectiveness of improving access to snake antivenom in ASEAN count	ries
	. 61

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF FIGURES

	Page
Figure 1 Conceptual framework	12
Figure 2 Study selection flow	24
Figure 3 Decision tree to estimate economic and disease burden of snakebite in ASE	AN
countries	39
Figure 4 Estimated annual epidemiological burden of snakebite in ASEAN countries	44
Figure 5 Estimated proportions of snakebite victims treated with antivenom in ASEAN	
countries	44
Figure 6 Estimated annual economic and disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN	
countries	46
Figure 7 Decision analytic model to estimate economic and disease burden of	
snakebite in ASEAN countries	55
Figure 8 Cost-effectiveness acceptability curves of improving access to snake	
antivenom in ASEAN countries	62
จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย	

Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

This dissertation comprises three studies; (1) the global systematic review of previous economic studies of snakebites conducted to inform the best methodological considerations for (2) estimating the economic burden of snakebites and (3) a cost-effectiveness analysis of improving access to snake antivenom in the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) countries. The input parameters were retrieved from a comprehensive literature review which was validated and complemented by an in-depth interview with country experts in ASEAN countries (**Figure 1**). All of the studies described are part of a dissertation disseminated in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of doctor of philosophy in social and administrative pharmacy.



Figure 1 Conceptual framework

Abbreviation: ASEAN – Association of Southeast Asian Nations.

1.1 BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE OF STUDY

Snakebite is an occupational and environmental disease mostly affecting agricultural workers and children, leading to morbidity, disability, and mortality.¹ Approximately 5.4 million people are bitten by snakes, of which 1.8 to 2.7 million cases are snakebite envenoming, and responsible for 81,000 to 138,000 deaths annually. The annual national costs for snakebite victims have been estimated at up to 13.8 million US Dollars (USD) in Sri Lanka.^{2,3} Highly venomous snakes can be classified into two groups based on the level of medical significance based on the World Health Organization's (WHO) categorization to guide antivenom production; category 1 - highest medical importance, which are

snakes that commonly cause snakebites with high levels of morbidity, disability, and mortality, and category 2 – secondary medical importance which are snakes capable of causing morbidity, disability, or death, but are less common or lack of exact epidemiological and clinical data.⁴ Snakebite envenoming occurs when a snake injects a toxins into the victim's body which could result in a medical emergency. Snakebite envenoming can be classified based on the effects of snake toxins, including hematotoxicity (bleeding), neurotoxicity (paralysis, unable to breathe), and cytotoxicity (inflammation, wound, necrosis).⁵ Consequences of snakebite envenoming range from mild conditions like scarring to severe conditions both physically, such as limb amputation, blindness, and death, and mentally such as chronic anxiety.⁶

Management of snakebite includes first-aid, transportation to a hospital, supportive medical treatments and antivenom treatment specifically for snakebite envenoming.⁵ Snake antivenom immunoglobulins are included in the WHO List of Essential Medicines, guidance for countries in prioritizing patient access to essential medicines.⁷ However, access to effective antivenom is inadequate to meet the need, especially in sub-Saharan and Asia.⁸ Lack of access to antivenom is one of the factors that has driven snakebite victims to seek care outside healthcare facilities, especially the traditional healers.⁹

In 2017, the WHO categorized snakebite envenoming as the highest priority neglected tropical disease and urged countries to collaborate to improve the availability of reliable epidemiological data on snake bites, the regulatory control of antivenoms, and distribution policies with the goal to reduce mortality and morbidity by 50% by 2030 through four key objectives: empower and engage communities, ensure safe and effective treatment, strengthen health systems, and increase partnerships, coordination, and resources.^{1,10}

Snake antivenom immunoglobulins are the only specific treatment of snakebite envenoming. However, sufficient availability of antivenom is challenging because of the high cost and short shelf life of antivenoms and the lack of investment and production in antivenoms from manufacturers due to unlikely profitability.⁹

Southeast Asia is among the tropical regions with a disproportionately high incidence of snakebite compared to the other regions of the world.¹¹ The ASEAN is an economic union comprising ten member countries in Southeast Asia, including Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Indonesia, Lao PDR, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, and Vietnam, with over 600 million population.¹² In the ASEAN countries except for Brunei Darussalam and Singapore, where snakebites rarely occur and/or exact data is lacking, around 78,000 to 470,000 cases of snakebite envenoming occurred in each year resulting in 700 to 18,000 deaths.¹¹ Approximately 16.6 million

13

people in ASEAN countries live in snake-inhabited areas without timely access to healthcare facilities.¹³

The global burden of snakebites was previously estimated as the number of snakebites and deaths.¹¹ However, the burden of snakebite has yet to be extensively studied in ASEAN countries despite being one of the most prevalent snake-inhabited regions. Furthermore, snakebite victims in the region are mostly treated outside healthcare facilities. Thus, the policymakers may find that the burden of snakebites is low and needs no further strategy to improve the situation of snakebites and antivenom in the country.

The information on the economic burden associated with snakebite and economic evaluation of antivenom availability is required to understand the magnitude of the problem, formulate local clinical practice guidelines, and define national budgets for antivenom allocation and healthcare staff training.¹⁴

1.2 PURPOSES OF STUDY

The purposes of this study are to estimate the economic burden of snakebite and evaluate the potential cost-effectiveness of improving access to snake antivenom in ASEAN countries

1.3 SCOPE OF THE STUDY

The systemic review was conducted to identify the cost of illness studies and economic evaluations of snakebites previously conducted in any country. While, the burden estimation of snakebite and economic evaluation of improving access to snake antivenom will be performed in seven selected countries in ASEAN, including Malaysia, Thailand, Indonesia, Philippines, Vietnam, Lao People's Democratic Republic (PDR), and Myanmar.

1.4 EXPECTED BENEFITS

- 1. This dissertation will provide comprehensive data on the economic burden of snakebites and the cost-effectiveness of improving access to antivenom in ASEAN countries.
- This dissertation will support and empower researchers, clinicians, producers, and policymakers to effectively establish informed strategies to address snakebite problems in ASEAN countries.

CHAPTER 2 - LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 GLOBAL BURDEN OF SNAKEBITE AND GLOBAL STRATEGIES TO ADDRESS SNAKEBITE PROBLEM

Snakebite is an occupational and environmental disease mostly affecting agricultural workers and children, leading to morbidity, disability, and mortality.¹ More than 6.85 billion people globally live within areas inhabited by 278 venomous snake species of medical importance.¹³ Approximately 5.4 million people are bitten by snakes, of which 1.8 to 2.7 million cases are snakebite envenoming, and responsible for 81,000 to 138,000 deaths annually.¹ Highly venomous snakes can be classified into two groups based on the level of medical significance based on the WHO's categorization to guide antivenom production; category 1 - highest medical importance, which are snakes that commonly cause snakebites with high levels of morbidity, disability, and mortality, and category 2 – secondary medical importance which are snakes capable of causing morbidity, disability, or death, but are less common or lack of exact epidemiological and clinical data.⁴

Snakebite envenoming occurs when a snake injects toxins into the victim's body which could result in a medical emergency. Snakebite envenoming can be classified based on the effects of snake toxins, including hematotoxicity (bleeding), neurotoxicity (paralysis, unable to breathe), and cytotoxicity (inflammation, wound, necrosis).⁵ Consequences of snakebite envenoming range from mild conditions like scarring to severe conditions both physically, such as limb amputation, blindness, and death, and mentally such as chronic anxiety.⁶

Management of snakebites includes first-aid, transportation to a hospital, supportive medical treatments, and antivenom treatment specifically for snakebite envenoming.⁵ Snake antivenom immunoglobulins are included in the WHO List of Essential Medicines, guidance for countries in prioritizing patient access to essential medicines.⁷ However, access to effective antivenom is inadequate to meet the need, especially in sub-Saharan and Asia.⁸ Sufficient availability of antivenom is challenging because of the high cost and short shelf life of antivenoms and the lack of investment and production in antivenoms from manufacturers due to unlikely profitability. Lack of access to antivenom is one of the factors that has driven snakebite victims to seek care outside healthcare facilities, especially traditional healers.⁹

In 2017, the World Health Organization (WHO) categorized snakebite envenoming as the highest priority neglected tropical disease and urged countries to collaborate to improve the availability of reliable epidemiological data on snake bites, the regulatory control of antivenoms and distribution policies with the goal to reduce mortality and morbidity by 50% by 2030 through four key objectives:

empower and engage communities, ensure safe and effective treatment, strengthen health systems, and increase partnerships, coordination, and resources.^{1,10}

2.2 SNAKEBITE IN ASEAN COUNTRIES

The ASEAN is an economic union comprising ten member countries in Southeast Asia, including Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Indonesia, Lao PDR, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, and Vietnam, with over 600 million population.¹² In the ASEAN countries except for Brunei Darussalam and Singapore, where snakebites rarely occur and/or exact data is lacking, around 78,000 to 470,000 cases of snakebite envenoming occurred each year, resulting in 700 to 18,000 deaths.¹¹ Approximately 16.6 million people in ASEAN countries live within snake-inhabited areas and lack timely access to healthcare facilities.¹³

There are five manufacturers of antivenom in ASEAN countries, including Queen Saovabha Memorial Institute (QSMI) Thailand, Burma Pharmaceutical Industries (BPI) Myanmar, Institute of Vaccines and Medical Biologicals (IVAC) Vietnam, Research Institute of Tropical Medicines (RITM) Philippines, and Bio Farma Indonesia. These manufacturers produce a total of 15 antivenoms comprising 12 monovalent antivenoms and 3 polyvalent antivenoms.⁴

Most manufacturers of antivenoms in ASEAN countries are highly subsidized by the government in each country because local manufacturers of antivenoms are needed to produce the geographically appropriate antivenoms for snakes of medical importance in each country. Snakes may have different toxicity profiles, even from the same species from different geographical areas. Therefore, importing antivenoms from a foreign country needs evidence of cross-neutralization to show that imported antivenoms could neutralize the venoms of snakes in the designated country.¹⁵

2.2.1 Malaysia

Malaysia has a total population of 32 million people.¹⁶ In Malaysia, 35 species of land snakes are potentially dangerous.¹⁷ There were 2,612 to 3,658 cases of snakebites annually occurred, with only 1 to 4 deaths in Malaysia from 2010 to 2014.¹⁸ Malaysia is one of the ASEAN countries with an established system to deal with snakebites, including annual statistics of snakebites collected by the Malaysian Health Informatics Center, Malaysian clinical practice guideline for the management of snakebite¹⁸, list of land snakes of medical significance in Malaysia,¹⁷ and the Remote Envenomation Consultancy Services, a 24-hour on-call consultation service established since 2012 by a group of emergency physicians and clinical toxicologists specialized in treating snakebite patients.¹⁹ These strategies help physicians and healthcare professionals, who might not be an expert in snake identification and management of snakebites, manage snakebite patients properly. Malaysia has imported eight antivenoms from the QSMI and one antivenom from Seqirus, Australia, to treat their

population because these antivenoms have been demonstrated to cross-neutralize most of the medically important snakes in Malaysia. Therefore, it has been shown that less than 1% of snakebite patients result in death.¹⁸

2.2.2 Thailand

Thailand has a total population of 65 million people.¹⁶ There are at least 85 venomous snakes in Thailand.²⁰ 6,648 patients were treated with antivenom, with 0 death in 2017 in Thailand. Thailand is also one of the ASEAN countries with a well-established system to manage snakebite and antivenom, including locally produced antivenoms for inhabited snakes in Thailand by the QSMI, poison centers in many university hospitals to provide 24-hour clinical consultation services, and the Thai national antidote program which was established in 2010 with the aim to improve stock management of antidotes and antivenoms. The QSMI has produced antivenoms since 1923.²¹: The QSMI produces nine antivenoms, seven monovalent antivenoms, and two polyvalent antivenoms. Moreover, with establishing the Thai national antidote program, the stock of antidotes and antivenoms is better managed using an online system to ensure antidote availability at the point of service, reduce wastage, and save lives.²²

2.2.3 Indonesia

Indonesia has a total population of 270 million people.¹⁶ There are approximately 450 snake species in Indonesia. Indonesia has its own locally produced antivenom manufacturer, Bio Farma, which produces one polyvalent antivenom (BIOSAVE) for *Calloselasma rhodostoma*, *Bungarus fasciatus*, and *Naja sputatrix* which are the species of snake of medical importance in Indonesia.²³ However, the exact burden of snakebites in Indonesia is still unknown due to the lack of national statistics, with few published epidemiological and clinical studies of snakebites in Indonesia.²³⁻²⁶ Therefore, lack of data limits the policymakers to formulating an informed strategy to manage the problem of snakebites, especially access to antivenom.

2.2.4 Philippines

The Philippines has a total of 108 million people.¹⁶ There are 145 snake species in the Philippines, of which less than 15% of them are venomous.²⁷ The RITM produces Purified Cobra Antivenom (PCAV) for the treatment of envenoming from *Naja philippinensis* which also has been proven to cross-neutralize with *Naja samarensis*.²⁸ There were a number of epidemiological studies of snakebites in the Philippines. However, they were published in the 1980s and most focused on only *Naja philippinensis*.²⁹⁻³⁴ Therefore, information on the current burden of snakebite in the Philippines is still lacking.

2.2.5 Lao PDR

Lao PDR has a total of 7 million people.¹⁶ There are 23 venomous snakes in Lao PDR. It has been estimated from a community survey in Lao PDR that the incidence of snakebite could be as high as 1,105 cases per 100,000 population per year, with less than 5% of snakebite victims who were treated in healthcare facilities. Most victims sought traditional healers due to strong cultural beliefs, financial issues, and lack of antivenom at the healthcare facilities.³⁵ Antivenoms are available in some selected hospitals in Lao PDR under a research project funded by Germany, which directly purchased antivenoms from QSMI and provided training to healthcare professionals on managing snakebites.³⁶ Therefore, antivenoms must be officially available throughout the country so snakebite victims can timely access antivenom treatment.

2.2.6 Vietnam

Vietnam has a total of 92 million people.¹⁶ There are 31 species of venomous snake in Vietnam.³⁷ It has been estimated from a community and hospital survey that the incidence of snakebite in the South Vietnam was 48 cases per 100,000 population per year.³⁸ There are two monovalent antivenoms, which are locally produced by the IVAC, including SAV-Tri for *Trimeresurus alborabris* and SAVE-Naja for *Naja kaouthia*. However, antivenom production was found to be below the national requirement, resulting in healthcare professionals reserving antivenoms for only severe cases. Moreover, the cost of antivenom was found to be expensive for a rural population, which drove victims to seek traditional healers.³⁹

2.2.7 Myanmar

Myanmar has a total of 54 million people.¹⁶ There are at least 44 species of deadly venomous snakes in Myanmar.⁴⁰ Myanmar also has its own locally produced antivenoms, including Cobra antivenin for *Naja kaouthia*, and Viper antivenin for *Daboia siamensis* produced by the BPI.⁴ Snakebites place a considerable amount of burden on Myanmar, given the annual incidence of more than 15,000 cases reported to the Ministry of Health and Sports Myanmar, of which more than 1,000 were dead.⁴¹ However, this number might be underestimating the real burden of snakebites in Myanmar because many victims still seek care from traditional healers only or are dead before reaching healthcare facilities in spite of the availability of locally produced antivenoms.⁴² In 2014, the Myanmar Snakebite Project was established with a joint collaboration between Myanmar and Australia with the aim of improving outcomes for snakebite patients. The project has covered three areas of the problem of snakebites in Myanmar, including antivenom production, health system management of snakebites, and antivenom distribution. Since then, antivenom production has been improved with better snake and horse husbandry, and improved immunization, bleeding, and freeze-dried production techniques resulting in improved production capacity of antivenom. Health system

management of snakebites has also been improved by training healthcare professionals on snake identification and proper management of snakebite patients. The antivenom distribution has been improved so that antivenoms are available at all healthcare facilities. However, it was still challenging due to the country's lack of a pharmaceutical logistic system.⁴³

2.3 GAP IN KNOWLEDGE

In spite of the availability of local manufacturers of antivenoms, not all snakebite victims in ASEAN countries could access to antivenoms for several reasons, such as out-of-pocket expenses for long travel distances and inpatient services in healthcare facilities, and shortage of antivenoms in healthcare facilities.^{35,36,42} As a result, some victims decided to seek care from traditional healers in the community, which costs much lower. Traditional healing methods include the procedures to remove the venom from the victims' bodies by making incisions with a razor blade, tattooing with ink or herbal medicines, sucking out venom, or rolling a heated glass bottle on the bite site and spiritual rituals using holy water, chants, prayers, and astrology.⁴² When snakebite victims are mostly treated outside healthcare facilities, the government and responsible authorities may find that the burden of snakebite is low and needs no further strategy to improve the situation of snakebite and antivenom in the country.

The global burden of snakebites was previously estimated as the number of snakebites and deaths.¹¹ However, the burden of snakebite has not been extensively studied in ASEAN countries despite being one of the most prevalent snake-inhabited regions.¹³ Previous literature on snakebites and antivenom in ASEAN countries is mostly performed on the epidemiological aspects. Therefore, the information on the burden of snakebite, the economic burden associated with snakebite, and the economic evaluation of antivenom availability in ASEAN countries are required to understand the magnitude of the problem, formulate local clinical practice guidelines, define national budgets for antivenom allocation and healthcare staff training.¹⁴

CHAPTER 3 GLOBAL SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF COST OF ILLNESS AND ECONOMIC

EVALUATION STUDIES ASSOCIATED WITH SNAKEBITE

Patikorn C, Leelavanich D, Ismail AK, Othman I, Taychakhoonavudh S, Chaiyakunapruk N. Global systematic review of cost of illness and economic evaluation studies associated with snakebite. Journal of Global Health. 2020;10(2).

Authors and affiliation

Chanthawat Patikorn¹, Doungporn Leelavanich¹, Ahmad Khaldun Ismail², lekhsan Othman³, Suthira Taychakhoonavudh^{1,*}, Nathorn Chaiyakunapruk^{4,*}

1 Department of Social and Administrative Pharmacy, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand.

2 Department of Emergency Medicine, Chancellor Tuanku Muhriz Hospital, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia Medical Centre, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.

3 Neuropharmacology Research Laboratory, Jeffrey Cheah School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Monash University Malaysia, Bandar Sunway, Selangor, Malaysia.

4 College of Pharmacy, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, Utah, USA; School of Pharmacy, Monash University Malaysia, Selangor, Malaysia;

* Co-corresponding authors

3.1 ABSTRACT

Background: Snakebite envenoming, a high priority Neglected Tropical Disease categorized by the World Health Organization (WHO), has been considered as a poverty-related disease that requires greater global awareness and collaboration to establish strategies that effectively decrease economic burdens. This prompts the need for a comprehensive review of the global literature that summarizes the global economic burden and a description of methodology details and their variation. This study aimed to systematically identify studies on cost of illness and economic evaluation associated with snakebites, summarize study findings, and evaluate their methods to provide recommendations for future studies.

Methods: We searched PubMed, EMBASE, Cochrane library, and Econlit for articles published from inception to 31 July 2019. Original articles reporting costs or full economic evaluation related with snakebites were included. The methods and reporting quality were assessed. Costs were presented in US dollars (US\$) in 2018.

Results: Twenty-three cost of illness studies and three economic evaluation studies related to snakebites were included. Majority of studies (18/23, 78.26%) were conducted in Low- and Middle-income countries. Most cost of illness studies (82.61%) were done using hospital-based data of snakebite patients. While, four studies (17.39%) estimated costs of snakebites in communities. Five studies (21.74%) used societal perspective estimating both direct and indirect costs. Only one study (4.35%) undertook incidence-based approach to estimate lifetime costs. Only three studies (13.04%) estimated annual national economic burdens of snakebite which varied drastically from US\$126,319 in Burkina Faso to US\$13,802,550 in Sri Lanka. Quality of the cost of illness studies were varied and substantially under-reported. All three economic evaluation studies were cost-effectiveness analysis using decision tree model. Two of them assessed cost-effectiveness of having full access to antivenom and reported cost-effective findings.

Conclusions: Economic burdens of snakebite were underestimated and not extensively studied. To accurately capture the economic burdens of snakebites at both the global and local level, hospital data should be collected along with community survey and economic burdens of snakebites should be estimated both in short-term and long-term period to incorporate the lifetime costs and productivity loss due to premature death, disability, and consequences of snakebites. **Funding:** This systematic review was done without any financial support.

3.2 INTRODUCTION

Snakebite envenoming is one of the most overlooked public health issues globally. Even though almost 4.5-5.4 million people are bitten by snakes annually, snake antivenoms are still not readily and sufficiently available especially in the developing region of the world like Sub-Saharan Africa, South-East Asia and South Asia.⁴⁴ Snakebite envenoming can result in fatalities; permanent physical disabilities, such as amputation, blindness and kidney failure; and psychological symptoms, such as Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD). In 2017, World Health Organization (WHO) has recognized the importance of snakebite envenoming and categorized it as a high priority Neglected Tropical Disease with the goal of facilitating a cooperation and collaboration across countries to establish strategies to effectively decrease the burden of snakebite envenoming.⁴⁵

To systematically establish the effective strategies to deal with snakebites as well as prioritize resources for making antivenom available, it is important to know the true burden of the public-health threat posed by snakebites. However, only a few studies have estimated the economic burdens of snakebites and include only some regions of the world.^{3,45-47} This study aimed to summarize the global economic burden of snakebites by systematically identify studies on cost of illness and economic evaluation associated with snakebites as well as evaluate the methods used in these

studies. Our findings will generate overall findings and methodological recommendations for future economic studies related to snakebites.

3.3 METHODS

This review followed the Methodological Expectations of Cochrane Intervention Reviews (MECIR)⁴⁸ and was reported according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement.⁴⁹ The PRISMA checklist table of this review is provided in **Table A1** in **Appendix A.** The study protocol was submitted to PROSPERO for registration (Record no.147299).

3.3.1 Data source, search strategy, and eligibility criteria

We searched the following four electronic bibliographic databases; PubMed, Embase, Cochrane Library, and EconLit to identify articles related to cost of illness and economic evaluations associated with snakebites from any country which were published from inception to 31 July 2019. The search term used was *snake* AND (burden OR economic* OR cost* OR "cost of illness" OR resource OR expenditure OR "economic evaluation" OR "cost-effectiveness" OR "cost-utility" OR "cost-benefit").* There was no language restriction in this review. Additional searches were done on the health economic databases including Health Economic Evaluation Database (HEED), Cost-effectiveness Analysis Registry, and Health Technology Assessment Database. The detailed search strategies are provided in **Table A2** in **Appendix A**. To be included, study must meet the following inclusion criteria; original articles reporting costs associated with snakebites estimated by primary data collection and original articles of the full economic evaluations associated with snakebites.

3.3.2 Study selection and data extraction

Two reviewers (CP and DL) independently performed the screening of titles and abstracts for relevance. The full-text articles of the potentially eligible studies were retrieved and selected based on the eligibility criteria by two independent reviewers (CP and DL). Data extraction was performed by two independent reviewers (CP and DL) using the data extraction form in MS Excel (Microsoft Inc, Seattle WA, USA). Discrepancies were discussed among reviewers and resolved by the third reviewer (ST). Methodological characteristics and study findings from the cost of illness studies and economic evaluations were extracted. We extracted the following data from cost of illness studies; study design, country, setting, study period/duration, sample size, perspective, data source, cost estimation method, cost components, currency year, snake species, antivenoms, and cost estimates. The following data were extracted from economic evaluation studies; target population, study perspective, comparators, time horizon, discount rate, choice of health outcomes, resource and cost estimation method, currency year, choice of model, sensitivity analyses, snake species, antivenoms, study parameters, incremental costs and outcomes.

3.3.3 Quality assessment

Two independent reviewers (CP and DL) assessed the quality of the studies. Cost of illness studies were assessed using the cost-of-illness evaluation checklist by Larg and Moss.⁵⁰ Economic evaluations were assessed using the ten-item Drummond checklist⁵¹ and the 24-item Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards (CHEERS) checklist.⁵²

3.3.4 Data synthesis

Methodological characteristics, study findings, and quality of the studies were summarized and presented. Countries were classified by income level according to the World Bank.⁵³ Costs were presented according to the recommendations of Turner et al., 2019.⁵⁴ For studies that did not provide the year of cost data, the year of publication was used. Adjustment for inflation was done using the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) deflator of the studied country. Cost estimates were then converted and reported in 2018 US dollars (US\$). To further facilitate comparison of costs across countries, the total costs associated with snakebites were estimated as percentage of the country's GDP in 2018. GDP deflator, exchange rate, and GDP were obtained from the World Bank.⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷

3.4 RESULTS

3.4.1 Study selection

We identified 3,237 articles through electronic database searches. The searches in health economic databases found no additional articles. The detailed process of electronic database searching is presented in Table A2 in Appendix A. We included 26 studies which met the eligibility criteria as shown in **Figure 2**. The included studies comprised of 23 cost of illness studies and 3 economic evaluations. Cost of illness studies were done in 16 countries, of which mainly comprised 13 low- and middle-income countries. Only five studies (21.74%) were conducted in high-income countries. ⁵⁸⁻⁶²



3.4.2 Study characteristics

The description of the study characteristics of the included studies are presented in detail in **Tables A3** and **A4** in **Appendix A**. Of the 23 cost of illness studies, only 3 studies (13.04%) estimated annual national economic burdens of snakebite (**Table 1**).^{3,66,67} Nineteen studies (82.61%) were hospital-based study as they included only snakebite patients presented at hospitals.^{58-62,66-79} While the remaining four studies (17.39%) considered snakebite victims in the communities to also include those who did not reach treatment facilities e.g. deaths or those who seek traditional healers.^{3,42,80,81} Among these studies, only one study (4.35%) holistically collected both hospital-based and community-based data.³

Most studies (95.65%) undertook prevalence-based approach which costs of illness of all prevalent cases in the specific period of the study, usually one episode of snakebite, were estimated.^{3,42,58-}

^{62,66,68-81} Only one study (4.35%) undertook incidence-based approach to estimate lifetime costs of illness including costs of productivity loss due to snakebite, disability, and premature death.⁶⁷ In terms of study perspectives, five studies (21.74%) utilized societal perspective which included both direct and indirect costs.^{3,61,67,68,74} Components of indirect costs reported in the included studies were costs of productivity loss due to premature death and disability, income loss, and family income loss. Conversely, direct medical costs especially antivenom costs were estimated in all studies. Direct medical cost components estimated varied across studies. For example, traditional healer costs were reported in three studies (13.04%),^{3,42,80} while six studies (26.09%) estimated direct non-medical costs including costs of transportation, communication, food, accommodation, and caregivers.^{3,68,71,75,77,80} All of the reported cost components are summarized in **Table A5** in **Appendix A**.

Multiple sources of information were used to quantify, and value healthcare resources utilized by snakebite patients. Sources of healthcare resource utilization data were chart, database, interview, and literature. Chart (n=12, 52.17%)^{58.60,67.69,70,72-74,76-79} and interview (n=10, 43.48%)^{3,42,67,71,73-75,77,80,81} were the most commonly used sources. Prices of healthcare resources were from interview, listed price, literature, and market price. Listed price was the most common source of price data (n=15, 65.22\%).^{3,60-62,67-70,72-78}

Only three economic evaluation studies were identified. All of them were cost-effectiveness analysis using decision analytic models.⁶³⁻⁶⁵ Two studies compared no access to antivenom to full access in envenomed snakebite patients presented to hospital.^{63,64} While, another study compared antivenom alone with the antivenom adjunct combination strategy to improve the proportion of snake victims reaching healthcare facilities.⁶⁵ The health outcomes of snakebite in the models were similar including full recovery, death, and amputation. Lifelong was selected as the time horizon to capture deaths and disabilities. Discount was applied only to outcomes because direct costs of snakebite normally occurred during treatment in healthcare facilities.⁶³⁻⁶⁵

		Source of	price data		Interview		Listed price		Listed price, Literature	Listed price		Listed price					
	Source of	resource	utilization data		Interview		Database		Database	Chart		Database, Interview, Literature					
		Indirect cost	estimation method		Not collected		Not collected		Not collected	Not collected		Not collected					
		Direct cost	estimation method		Participatory appraisal methods with the communities		Analysis of Spanish hospital discharge and registry database		Analysis of Medical evacuation (medevac) database	Review of clinical files		Extraction from Iranian drug affair's, drug selection committee, pharmaceuticals statistics. Direct interview with stockholders and key opinion leaders					
		Study design	study design					Cross-sectional		Retrospective		Retrospective	Retrospective		Retrospective		
			Sample size	158 participants	1649 patients	້	57 patients 79 patients		-	Not reported							
			Study setting		Three villages in Mandalay	JLA	Nationwide	КО	Five hinder land regions	One children hospital in Northwestern Mexico	ľ	Nationwide					
		Perspective			Patient		Health system		Societal	Provider		Health system					
_			Country							Myanmar		Spain		Guyana	Mexico		Iran
		Income		fic	Lower- middle	l Asia	High	Caribbean	Upper- middle	Upper- middle	orth Africa	Upper- middle					
			Author, year	East Asia and Paci	Schioldann, 2018 ⁴²	Europe and Centra	Saz-Parkinson, 2012 ⁶²	Latin America and	Bachan, 2017 ⁶⁸	Sotelo, 2008 78	Middle East and No	Nikfar, 2011 ⁷⁵					

Table 1 Characteristics of the included cost of illness studies associated with snakebites

26

Source of price data	Interview, Listed price		Market price	Listed price	Listed price	Market price		Interview, Listed price	Market price, Interview,
Source of resource utilization data	Chart, Interview		Chart	Chart	Database	Database		Database, Interview	Interview
Indirect cost estimation method	Indirect cost estimation method Review of patients' medical records and self-reports of specialists. Face-to-face or telephone interviews with the patients. Productivity loss due to hospitalization and disability were multiplied with average wage. Productivity loss due to premature mortality was calculated using GDP per capita.		Not collected	Not collected	Not collected	Not collected		Income lost in victims and their families were derived from the representative nation-wide community-based household survey	Loss of wage was derived from interview using structured questionnaires
Direct cost estimation method	Review of patients' medical records and self- reports of specialists. Face-to-face or telephone interviews with the patients.		Review of the Health Canada Special Access Program records	Review of medical records	Analysis of Pediatric Health Information System database	Review of medical records		Representative nation-wide community-based household survey for patients' costs. Health system costs were obtained from hospital cost accounting systems and estimates of antivenom usage.	Interview using structured questionnaires
Study design	Cross-sectional		Retrospective	Retrospective	Retrospective	Retrospective		Cross-sectional, Modelling	Prospective
Samole size	655 patients		99 patients	37 patients	2755 patients	146 patients		695 victims (44,136 households)	83 patients
Study setting	Three hospitals in Ahvaz	Сн	Nationwide	One referral children hospital in Oklahoma	Thirty-three tertiary children's hospitals	One regional hospital in Texas	Y	All households in nine provinces	Four rural tertiary level hospitals
Perspective	Societal		Provider	Provider	Societal	Provider		Societal	Patient
Country	Iran		Canada	United States	United States	United States		Sri Lanka	Banglad esh
Income	Upper- middle		Чġн	High	High	High		Upper- middle	Lower- middle
Author vear	Author, year Mashhadi, 2017 67		Curran-Sills, 2018 ⁵⁸	Lopoo, 1998 ⁶⁰	Narra, 2014 ⁶¹	Fowler, 2017 ⁵⁹	South Asia	Kasturiratne, 2017 ³	Hasan, 2012 ⁷¹

	Source of	a price data	Interview	Listed price	Listed price	Listed price	Listed price	Interview		Listed price, Literature	Listed price	Listed price
Source of	resource	utilization dat	Interview	Chart	Chart, Interview	Chart, Interview	Chart	Interview		Chart, Database	Chart, Interview	Chart
	Indirect cost	estimation method	Income loss and economic loss were derived from interview using structured questionnaires	Not collected	Not collected	Not collected	Not collected	Community-based survey with interview using a standardized questionnaire		Not collected	Not collected	Not collected
	Direct cost	estimation method	Interview using structured questionnaires	Review of medical records	Review of medical records and patients interview	Review of medical records and patients interview	Review of medical records	Community-based survey with interview using a standardized questionnaite	- 4	Analysis of KwaZulu Natal Department of Health central pharmacy antivenom supply data and review of hospital admission records	Review of medical records and patients' interview	Review of hospital records
		Study design	Cross-sectional	Retrospective	Prospective	Prospective, Retrospective	Prospective	Cross-sectional	8	Modelling, Retrospective	Prospective	Retrospective
		Sample size	1115 victims (7578 households)	497 patients	200 patients	190 patients	74 patients	143 victims (1817 households)	ລັຍ	56 hospitals	72 patients	995 patients
		Study setting	Thirty villages in rural Tami Nadu	One hospital in Himachal Pradesh	One tertiary hospital in Southern Rajasthan	One rural hospital	Two public-sector hospitals	Community-based; Five villages in eastem Terai	RSIT	Fifty-six public hospitals in KwaZulu Natal	One 22-bed rural hospital in central Nigeria	Six urban major referral hospitals
		Perspective	Patient	Provider	Health system	Provider	Health system	Patient		Health system	Societal	Provider
		Country	India	India	India	India	Pakistan	Nepal		South Africa	Nigeria	Zimbabw e
	Income	economies	Lower- middle	Lower- middle	Lower- middle	Lower- middle	Lower- middle	Low		Upper- middle	Lower- middle	Lower- middle
		Author, year	Valyapuri, 2013 ⁸¹	Gupt, 2015 ⁷⁰	Meena, 2016 ⁷³	Ramanath, 2016 77	Qureshi, 2013 ⁷⁶	Sharma, 2004 ^{so}	Sub-Saharan Africa	Darryl, 2016 ⁶⁹	Michael, 2011 74	Kasilo, 1993 ⁷²

			1
price data	Market price	Market price	
utilization data	Chart	Database	
estimation method	collected	collected	
estimation method	Review of medical records	Number of cases were extracted from Statistical Yearbook of the Ministry of Health. Antivenom consumption data were collected from the drug wholesalers established in Burkina Faso.	
Study design	Retrospective	Retrospective	
Sample size	78 patients	114,126 patients	
Study setting	One large teaching hospital	All public health facilities	LALONGKORN UNIVERS
Perspective	Provider	Patient	
Country	Zimbabw e	Burkina Faso	
economies	Lower- middle	Low	
Author, year	Tagwireyi, 2001	Gampini, 2016 ®	
	Author, year economies Country Perspective Study setting Sample size Study design estimation method estimation method utilization data price data	Author. yearCountryDespectiveStudy settingStudy designStudy designestimation methodutilization dataprice dataTagwireyi. 2001Lover-ZimbabwProviderOne large teaching78 patientsRetrospectiveRetrospectiveNot collectedMarketTagwireyi. 2011Lover-ZimbabwProviderTagrite teaching78 patientsRetrospectiveRetrospectiveNot collectedChartMarketTagmine teachingeProviderTagrite teachingRetrospectiveReview of medical recordsNot collectedChartPriceTagmine teachingeProviderInspirationTagmine teachingNot collectedNot collectedPriceTagmine teachingeProviderProviderProviderProviderPricePriceTagmine teachingeProviderProviderProviderPricePricePriceTagmine teachingeProviderPriceReview of medical recordsNot collectedPriceTagmine teachingeProviderPricePricePricePricePriceTagmine teachingePricePricePricePricePricePriceTagmine teachingePricePricePricePricePricePriceTagmine teachingePricePricePricePricePricePriceTagmine teachingePricePricePricePricePricePr	Author, yearCountyDespectiveStudy settingStudy settingStudy settingStudy settingStudy settingInitiation dataInitiation dataInitiationInitiation dataInitiation dataInitiation dataInitiation dataInitiation dataInitiationInitiationInitiation dataInitiation dataInitiat

3.4.3 Quality assessment

Reporting quality of the included studies was assessed and presented in **Tables A6** and **A7** in **Appendix A**. Reporting quality of the included cost of illness studies was substantially varied. Perspective, epidemiologic approach, healthcare resource valuation, and detailed cost components were not clearly specified and reported. None of the included studies performed sensitivity analysis or estimated intangible costs. In contrast, reporting quality of the included economic evaluation studies was high where most aspects were met by all three studies.

3.4.4 Annual national cost estimates of snakebite

Among the included cost of illness studies, three studies estimated costs of snakebites as annual national costs in Iran, Sri Lanka, and Burkina Faso.^{3,66,67} **Table 2** shows the annual national cost estimates of snakebite in US\$ 2018, cost breakdowns, and their contribution to the total costs. The number of snakebite patients ranged from 5,379 patient in Iran⁶⁷ to 80,277 patients in Sri Lanka.³ These numbers were either retrieved from annual report or extrapolated and estimated from studies. The total annual national costs of snakebite drastically varied from US\$126,319 in Burkina Faso⁶⁶ to US\$13,802,550 in Sri Lanka.³ These three studies estimated the annual national economic burdens of snakebite, of which direct medical costs contributed the most to the total costs (68.01-77.14%) followed by indirect costs (13.16-24.86%), and direct non-medical costs (7.13-9.70%).^{3,66,67} Moreover, the total annual national costs from three countries were then calculated as percentage of the country's GDP in 2018 which resulted in less than 0.001% in Iran and Burkina Faso and 0.016% in Sri Lanka. Average cost estimates per patient per episode of snakebite were summarized in US\$ 2018 in **Table A8** in **Appendix A**.

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

						Annual national cost	estimates in US\$ 2	018 with cost cont	ribution to total
							costs		
							Direct		
			Study	Annual number of	Source of annual	Direct medical	non-medical	Indirect	
Author, year	Country	Perspective	approach	snakebite patients	incident cases	costs (%)	costs (%)	costs (%)	Total costs
Mashhadi, 2017 ⁶⁷	Iran	Societal	Incidence- based	5,379	Annual report	2,658,464 (68.01%)	278,665 (7.13%)	971,612 (24.86%)	3,908,741
00000000000000000000000000000000000000			Prevalence-		Extrapolated from community survey	10,647,355	1,338,614	181,6581	
Kasturiratne, 2017	Sri Lanka	Societal		90'77'08	and previous studies	(77.14%)	(%0.70%)	(13.16%)	0cc,202,51
Gampini, 2016 ⁶⁶	Burkina Faso	Patients	Prevalence- based	22,337	Estimated from previous studies	126,319 (100.00%)	лк	NR	126,319

Table 2 Annual national cost estimates of snakebite in US\$ 2018

N/A – Not Applicable, NR – Not reported

31

3.4.5 Findings of economic evaluation studies associated with snakebite

Two studies reported outcomes as Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) and deaths from snakebite,^{63,64} while the other study reported only DALYs.⁶⁵ All three studies concluded that their interventions were very-cost effective because the Incremental Cost-Effectiveness Ratio (ICER) per DALY averted of these studies ranged from 69.87 to 256.62 US\$, which were much below the willingness-to-pay threshold of one GDP per capita of US\$351.60 to US\$2,504.14 in the study countries.⁶³⁻⁶⁵ While, the ICER per death averted of two studies ranged from US\$1,634.40 to US\$5666.75.^{63,64} Costs of antivenom^{63,64} and proportion of patients with severe envenomation⁶⁵ were the most sensitive parameters (**Table A9** in **Appendix A**).

3.5 DISCUSSION

Accurate and comprehensive estimations of economic burdens of snakebites are highly needed to demonstrate the real impact of this neglected tropical disease. Revealing the economic burdens of snakebites will make the policymakers understand the magnitude and contribution of each cost component. Moreover, the cost estimates derived can be further utilized in the subsequent economic evaluation studies which accurate cost estimates will result in less uncertain economic models. Thus, strategies and resources could be better developed and allocated to effectively deal with snakebites.

This review is the first systematic review which comprehensively identified economic studies related to snakebites in published literature. The methodological characteristics and study findings were summarized. Our review found that 23 cost of illness studies and 3 economic evaluations had been conducted so far. Majority of these studies were conducted in Low- and Middle-income countries in regions highly inhabited by snakes. However, the overall methods of the included cost of illness studies related to snakebites were not comprehensive as most of them estimated only non-national direct costs in the hospital setting from non-societal perspectives.

Based on our review findings, several methodological issues should be considered for future research on economic burden estimation. Firstly, the economic burden studies of snakebites should be done from the societal perspective in the national level to fully capture both direct and indirect costs and their relevant cost components. Our review found that collecting only direct medical costs could only capture 68.01-77.14% of the national annual total costs of snakebites. Direct non-medical costs and indirect costs contribute 7.13-9.07% and 13.16-24.86%, respectively.^{3,66,67}

Secondly, economic burden studies should capture all snakebite victims by using both hospitalbased and community-based data to ensure that those not seeking medical care are included. Hospital-based studies mostly captured envenomed or severe snakebite victims who were more likely to go to hospital. Therefore, incorporating the community-based survey could further improve the completeness of the economic burdens because not all of the victims could reach hospital. They may die beforehand due to long travel distances, be referred to higher level healthcare facilities, or seek traditional healers for help due to cultural belief.^{3,42,80,81} For example, it was found that approximately 45.2% of snakebite victims in Sri Lanka consulted traditional healers which could further delay access to effective antivenom and result in worse outcomes.⁸² Therefore, victim transportation and treatment seeking behavior should also be incorporated into the analysis depending on each country. If national epidemiological data of snakebites is lacking, data collection could be done in a representative group of snakebite victims then appropriately extrapolate to national cost estimates.

Thirdly, although snakebites are episodic and most costs occur during the first few weeks, economic burdens of snakebites should be estimated both in short-term and long-term period to take into account the lifetime costs and productivity loss due to premature death and disability. Estimating indirect costs only in the short-term period as income loss might underestimate the indirect costs of snakebites. The contribution of indirect cost estimates to the total costs increased from 13.16% to 24.86% when long-term costs of productivity loss due to premature death and disability from snakebite were incorporated.^{3,66,67}

Lastly, consequences of snakebites should be broader to include all relevant disabilities and their following costs and productivity loss such as premature death, amputation, blindness, kidney failure, malignant ulcers, pregnancy loss, scarring, and PTSD.⁶³ These will be varied by species of venomous snakes within each country. Therefore, all important snake species and their geographical distribution should also be considered to capture all relevant costs and consequences of snakebites. Our systematic review has several limitations that should be discussed. The quality assessment of the included cost of illness studies could only be done in the aspects of reporting quality, since there are no guidelines or checklist to directly evaluate the methodological quality of the cost of illness studies. Nonetheless, articles with good reporting quality could imply their methodological quality to some extent. Moreover, the global economic burdens of snakebite and country comparison could not be estimated due to the underestimated nature of snakebite economic burdens revealed from our review. Further research should be conducted using both hospital-based and community-based data to gather and highlight the overlooked global economic burdens of this neglected tropical disease taking into account our methodological recommendations.

33

3.6 CONCLUSION

Economic burdens of snakebite were underestimated and not extensively studied. Majority of studies only provided direct costs of snakebite patients presented to the hospitals. There was a lack of study estimating national economic burdens of snakebites. Due to likely underestimated economic burden, hospital data should be used to combine with community survey to ensure the accurate estimation of overall economic burdens of snakebite victims. Having full access to antivenom was found to be very cost-effective. Future studies should focus on how to make antivenoms available and affordable to snakebite victims.



Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER 4 ESTIMATING ECONOMIC AND DISEASE BURDEN OF SNAKEBITE IN ASEAN COUNTRIES USING A DECISION ANALYTIC MODEL

Patikorn, C., Blessmann, J., Nwe, M. T., Tiglao, P. J. G., Vasaruchapong, T., Maharani, T., Doan, U.
V., Zainal Abidin, S. A., Ismail, A. K., Othman, I., Taychakhoonavudh, S. and Chaiyakunapruk, N.
Estimating economic and disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN countries using a decision analytic model. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases. 2022;16(9):e0010775.

Authors and affiliations

Chanthawat Patikorn¹, Jörg Blessmann², Myat Thet Nwe³, Patrick Joseph G. Tiglao^{4,5,6,7}, Taksa Vasaruchapong⁸, Tri Maharani⁹, Uyen Vy Doan¹⁰, Syafiq Asnawi Zainal Abidin¹¹, Ahmad Khaldun Ismail¹², lekhsan Othman¹¹, **Suthira Taychakhoonavudh**^{*1}, **Nathorn Chaiyakunapruk**^{*13,14,15}

* Corresponding authors

1 Department of Social and Administrative Pharmacy, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences,

Chulalongkorn

University, Bangkok, Thailand

2 Department of Implementation Research, Bernhard Nocht Institute for Tropical Medicine, Hamburg, Germany

3 Myanmar Snakebite Project, Mandalay, Myanmar

4 Department of Emergency Medicine, Eastern Visayas Regional Medical Center, Tacloban City,

Philippines

5 Philippine Toxinology Society, Inc., Philippines

6 Department of Emergency Medicine, University of the Philippines-Manila, Philippine General

Hospital, Manila, Philippines

7 Department of Emergency Medicine, Corazon Locsin Montelibano Memorial Regional Hospital,

Bacolod City, Negros Occidental, Philippines

8 Snake Farm, Queen Saovabha Memorial Institute, The Thai Red Cross Society, Bangkok, Thailand

9 National Institute Research and Development, Ministry of Health, Indonesia

10 Division of Medical Toxicology, Cho Ray Hospital, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

11 Jeffrey Cheah School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Monash University Malaysia, Jalan

Lagoon Selatan, Bandar Sunway, Selangor, Malaysia

12 Department of Emergency Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, Jalan Yaacob Latif, Bandar Tun Razak, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
13 Department of Pharmacotherapy, College of Pharmacy, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, USA

14 IDEAS Center, Veterans Affairs Salt Lake City Healthcare System, Salt Lake City, UT, USA15 School of Pharmacy, Monash University Malaysia, Selangor, Malaysia

4.1 ABSTRACT

Background: Understanding the burden of snakebite is crucial for developing evidence-informed strategies to pursue the goal set by the World Health Organization to halve morbidity and mortality of snakebite by 2030. However, there was no such information in the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) countries.

Methodology: A decision analytic model was developed to estimate annual burden of snakebite in seven countries, including Malaysia, Thailand, Indonesia, Philippines, Vietnam, Lao PDR, and Myanmar. Country-specific input parameters were sought from published literature, country's Ministry of Health, unpublished local data, and expert opinion. Economic burden was estimated from the societal perspective. Costs were expressed in 2019 US Dollars (USD). Disease burden was estimated as disability-adjusted life years (DALYs). Probabilistic sensitivity analysis was performed to estimate a 95% credible interval (Crl).

Principal Findings: We estimated that annually there were 242,648 snakebite victims (95%Crl 209,810-291,023) of which 15,909 (95%Crl 7,592-33,949) were dead and 954 (95%Crl 383-1,797) were amputated. We estimated that 80,813 snakebite victims (69% of victims who were indicated for antivenom treatment) were not treated with antivenom. Annual disease burden of snakebite was estimated at 391,979 DALYs (95%Crl 187,261-836,559 DALYs) with total costs of 2.5 billion USD (95%Crl 1.2-5.4 billion USD) that were equivalent to 0.09% (95%Crl 0.04-0.20%) of the region's gross domestic product. >95% of the estimated burdens were attributed to premature deaths. Conclusion/Significance: The estimated high burden of snakebite in ASEAN was demonstrated despite the availability of domestically produced antivenoms. Most burdens were attributed to premature deaths from snakebite envenoming which suggested that the remarkably high burden of snakebite could be averted. We emphasized the importance of funding research to perform a comprehensive data collection on epidemiological and economic burden of snakebite to eventually reveal the true burden of snakebite in ASEAN and inform development of strategies to tackle the problem of snakebite.

Funding: This work is supported by the Wellcome Trust [218539/Z/19/Z] to CP, AKI, IO, SAZA, ST, and NC (<u>https://wellcome.org</u>). This research project is supported by the Second Century Fund (C2F), Chulalongkorn University to CP and ST (<u>https://c2f.chula.ac.th</u>).

4.2 INTRODUCTION

Snakebite is a neglected tropical disease that was estimated to affect 5.4 million victims with up to 138,000 deaths around the world.¹¹ Snakebite envenoming has been recognized by the World Health Organization (WHO) as the highest priority neglected tropical diseases since 2017. The WHO has set its goal to halve the global morbidity and mortality burden of snakebite by 2030.^{1,10}

The Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) is an economic union comprising of ten member countries including Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Indonesia, Lao PDR, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, and Vietnam with over 600 million people.¹² ASEAN is one of the tropical regions with disproportionately high incidence of snakebite. Previous estimation of snakebite in 2007 found that approximately 234,000-1,410,000 people were bitten by snake annually resulting in 700-18,000 deaths in eight ASEAN countries, except Brunei Darussalam and Singapore where snakebite rarely occurred and/or exact data were lacking.¹¹

Our previous study found that there are five domestic antivenom manufacturers in ASEAN, including Thailand, Indonesia, Philippines, Vietnam, and Myanmar. Up to 290,000 vials of antivenoms were annually produced by these manufacturers which could treat approximately 42,000 victims with snakebite envenoming. However, these produced antivenoms were not enough to treat all victims indicated for antivenom treatment. Besides, the total demand of antivenoms in ASEAN was not estimated.⁸³ This warranted a comprehensive research on burden of snakebite in the region to quantitatively highlight the neglected problem.

Understanding the current economic and disease burden of snakebite is crucial for developing evidence-informed strategies to reduce morbidity and mortality of snakebite victims to pursue the goal set by the WHO.¹⁰ Studies have been conducted to estimate the annual national economic and disease burden of snakebite in regions where snakebites are prevalent such as Africa.^{2,3,9,46,67,84,85} Nevertheless, there was no such information in ASEAN countries. Thus, we aimed to estimate economic and disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN using a decision analytic modelling approach.

4.3 METHODS

A decision analytic model was developed to estimate the annual economic and disease burden of snakebite in seven ASEAN countries including Malaysia, Thailand, Indonesia, Philippines, Vietnam, Lao PDR, and Myanmar. These seven countries were selected based on the evidence of documented snakebite in the country and availability of local key informants to gather more insights on the situation of snakebite which were not publicly available. Brunei Darussalam and Singapore were not included because snakebite rarely occurred and/or exact data were lacking.¹¹ Cambodia

was not included due to lack of recently published literature on snakebite and key informants that hindered the proper estimation of the burden of snakebite in Cambodia.

Annual number of snakebite victims in the region were estimated using a decision analytic model which incorporated treatment seeking behavior to include victims who were not treated in healthcare facilities. Economic burden was estimated from the societal perspective to estimate lifetime costs of snakebite victims which occurred from snakebite episode to long-term consequences. To enable comparison of economic burden between countries, all costs of snakebite were presented as annual national total costs for each country in 2019 USD and converted to the percentage of country's gross domestic product (GDP) in 2019. Disease burden of snakebite was estimated and quantified as disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) lost due to snakebite in one year in each country.

4.3.1 Decision analytic model

A decision analytic model was developed to simulate the course of snakebite victims in ASEAN which was adapted from previous economic evaluations of antivenoms for snakebite antivenom in West Africa

(Figure 3).^{63,64} Victims who were bitten by snake sought for treatment either at conventional treatment (hospitals or healthcare facilities) or traditional treatment through traditional healers to reflect the treatment seeking behavior of victims in the region.⁸³ Victims who firstly sought traditional healers might subsequently switch to conventional treatment or continue their treatments with traditional healers. Snakebite victims might be indicated for antivenom treatment depending on the occurrence of systemic envenoming following snakebite. Victims who were not indicated for antivenom treatment were assumed to result in being alive as the envenoming is not life-threatening.^{25,36,38,41,86-68} Victims indicated for antivenom treatment who sought conventional treatment might be given with antivenom depending on the current level of access to antivenom in each country. Level of access to antivenom was determined by the number of antivenoms treatment available divided by number of victims indicated for antivenom treatment. Victims who received antivenom treatment might have adverse drug reaction (ADR) following antivenom administration. Victims indicated for antivenom treatment seeking behavior might be alive or dead. Alive victims might have disability. Disabilities included in this model were digit and limb amputation.



Figure 3 Decision tree to estimate economic and disease burden of snakebite in

ASEAN countries

Abbreviation: ADR - adverse drug reaction

4.3.2 Input parameters

Country-specific input parameters were sought from various sources, including published literature, data from the country's Ministry of Health, unpublished local data, and expert opinion (**Table B1** in **Appendix B**).^{13,18,25,36-38,41,86-126} An in-depth interview with key informants who were experts in snakebite in ASEAN was also conducted to confirm the retrieved parameters, refer to potential sources of

information that might not be publicly available, and ask for their opinions when data were not available. The input parameters were validated through triangulation of data from literature, unpublished local data, and interview. Justification of input parameters was described in **Methods B1** in **Appendix B**.

Main sources of information were national statistics and published research for the burden estimation of Malaysia, Thailand, and Myanmar. Published research and anecdotal evidence (unpublished local data, and expert opinion) were the main sources of information for the burden estimation of Vietnam, and Lao PDR. Anecdotal evidence was the only source of information for the burden estimation of Indonesia, and Philippines.

4.3.3 Model assumptions

There were three key assumptions of the model. First, one person can be bitten by snake only once in a lifetime. Second, snakebite victims were accompanied by relatives or family members who took care of them during snakebite episode. Third, antivenom was given to reverse snakebite envenoming and save lives. However, there was no data on the efficacy or effectiveness of antivenom in ASEAN countries. Thus, antivenom effectiveness was based on a study in Nigeria which found a 2.33 fold (95% confidence interval [CI]; 1.26-4.06) increase risk of death in antivenom indicated victims who were not treated with antivenom compared to those treated with antivenom.¹⁰⁴ This relative risk was used to calculate the probability of death due to snakebite in those who were not treated with geographically appropriate antivenoms.

4.3.4 Total number of snakebite victims

Estimating the total number of snakebite victims occurring in one year in each country was done by applying the country-specific input parameters into the model. The estimated snakebite victims were categorized by their gender, age groups, treatment seeking behavior, indication for antivenom treatment, and disease consequences, i.e., deaths, alive without disabilities, and alive with disabilities.

4.3.5 Costs of snakebite

Costs of snakebite were estimated from societal perspective, including direct medical costs, direct non-medical costs, and indirect costs (Method B1 and Table B1 in Appendix B). Direct medical costs were estimated using a bottom-up approach which included costs of hospitalization, antivenom treatment, antivenom logistics, ADR management, and amputation. Direct non-medical costs included costs of transportation and additional food for victims and their relatives during snakebite episodes. Indirect costs were estimated using a human capital approach by multiplying the time lost due to illness to the daily income based on the GDP per capita of each country.¹²⁵ Indirect costs included productivity losses during snakebite episode of victims and their relatives

and productivity losses due to premature death. Productivity losses during snakebite episodes for victims and their relatives were estimated by multiplying length of stay to the daily income. Productivity losses due to premature death were estimated by multiplying the remaining working years from the age of death up to retirement age at 60 years to the GDP per capita. Productivity losses were not quantified for those who died after the age of 60. Productivity losses due to premature death were discounted at the rate of 3% and adjusted for annual growth of GDP per capita in each country.^{122-124,126}

4.3.6 Disease burden of snakebite

Disease burden of snakebite was calculated as DALYs using the template developed by WHO.¹²⁷ DALYs were the sum of years of life lost (YLL) and years lived with disability (YLD). YLLs due to snakebite envenoming were calculated from the number of deaths multiplied by a global standard life expectancy at the age of death. YLDs of snakebite victims included YLDs for snakebite episode and YLDs for amputation. YLDs were calculated from the duration of disability multiplied to a disability weight for each condition according to the Global Burden of Disease 2013 study (Table B1 in Appendix B).¹¹⁰

4.3.7 Analysis

Economic and disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN was estimated using input parameters as base-case estimates. Sensitivity analyses were performed to assess the model robustness. One-way sensitivity analysis was performed to assess uncertainty of the base-case input parameters over their plausible ranges on the model outputs. Scenario analysis was performed by incorporating post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) into the model as a mental disability which estimated that PTSD would occur in 8% (95%CI; 2-18%) of the victims who survived from snakebite envenoming.¹²⁸ PTSD could also occur following a snakebite without systemic envenoming. However, the incidence was unknown. Therefore, by applying a lower boundary level of the probability of PTSD following snakebite. Estimation of economic burden of PTSD following snakebite is explained in **Method B2** in **Appendix B**.^{6,129,130} Probabilistic sensitivity analysis was performed using Monte Carlo simulations for 1,000 times by randomly sampling on a distribution of all parameters to estimate a 95% credible interval (CrI) of the economic and disease burden of snakebite.

4.3.8 Patient and public involvement

Patients or the public were not involved in the design, or conduct, or reporting, or dissemination plans of our research.

4.3.9 Research ethics approval

This study was approved by the Monash University Research Ethics Committee (Project ID: 23246).

4.3.10 Role of the funding source

The funders had no role in study design, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, writing of the report, or the decision to submit for publication.

4.4 RESULTS

4.4.1 Snakebite victims in ASEAN

The model estimated that there were 242,648 snakebite victims (95%Crl 209,810-291,023) annually occurring in ASEAN with annual incidence of 38.03 per 100,000 population (95%Crl 32.89-45.62). The estimated incidence of snakebite ranged from the lowest in Malaysia (10.68 per 100,000 population) to the highest in Lao PDR (200.00 per 100,000 population) (Among 117,575 snakebite victims who were indicated for antivenom treatment (95%Crl 73,790-175,390), there were 954 amputations (95%Crl 383-1,797) and 15,909 deaths (95%Crl 7,592-33,949) following snakebite envenoming. Mortality of snakebite envenoming was estimated at 2.49 per 100,000 population (95%Crl 1.19-5.32), ranging from the lowest in Thailand (0.006 per 100,000 population) to the highest in Lao PDR (14.04 per 100,000 population) (Figure 4 and Table B2 in Appendix B). It was estimated that 80,813 snakebite victims in ASEAN (69% of victims who were indicated for antivenom treatment) were not treated with antivenom, ranging from the lowest in Lao PDR (4.2%) to the highest in Thailand (99.9%) (Figure 5).

Table 3 and Table B2 in Appendix B).

Among 117,575 snakebite victims who were indicated for antivenom treatment (95%Crl 73,790-175,390), there were 954 amputations (95%Crl 383-1,797) and 15,909 deaths (95%Crl 7,592-33,949) following snakebite envenoming. Mortality of snakebite envenoming was estimated at 2.49 per 100,000 population (95%Crl 1.19-5.32), ranging from the lowest in Thailand (0.006 per 100,000 population) to the highest in Lao PDR (14.04 per 100,000 population) (**Figure 4** and **Table B2** in **Appendix B**).

It was estimated that 80,813 snakebite victims in ASEAN (69% of victims who were indicated for antivenom treatment) were not treated with antivenom, ranging from the lowest in Lao PDR (4.2%) to the highest in Thailand (99.9%) (Figure 5).



Chulalongkorn University

	Snakebite	Antivenom indicated		Amputations,				DALYs per 100,000
	victims, n	victims, n	Deaths, n	n	YLLs	YLDs	DALYs	population
Malaysia	3,412	481	2	0	50	1.4	52	0.2
	(3,303-3,533)	(254-767)	(0-6)		(0-151)	(0.6-2.5)	(1-152)	(0.003-0.5)
Thailand	8,715	5,166	4	2	102	8	110	0.2
	(8,525-8,906)	(3,766-6,482)	(2-7)	(0-7)	(51-178)	(4-14)	(57-185)	(0.1-0.3)
Indonesia*	135,000	49,632	10,547	799	262,302	586	262,888	97
	(134,297-	(34,229-65,496)	(5,012-	(355-1,426)	(124,650-	(246-	(125,252-	(46-208)
	135,689)		22,563)		561,145)	1,120)	562,144)	
Philippines ¹	13,377	1,755	550	12	13,311	7	13,320	12
	(11,452-15,772)	(1,457-2,127)	(274-1,099)	(6-16)	(6,624-26,641)	(4-11)	(6,632-26,649)	(6-25)
Vietnam [¶]	46,745	41,236	1,655	0	40,136	114	40,250	42
	(17,500-91,013)	(15,290-80,701)	(490-4,440)		(11,869-	(38-258)	(11,931-	(12-112)
					107,679)		107,876)	
Lao PDR*	14,339	3,029	1,007	141	24,468	61	24,532	342
	(14,111-14,571)	(2,917-3,138)	(510-2,009)	(22-348)	(12,420-	(10-189)	(12,462-	(174-682)
					48,837)		48,880)	
Myanmar	21,059	16,275	2,145	0	50,786	44	50,830	94
	(20,623-21,540)	(15,877-16,679)	(1,303-		(30,877-	(27-67)	(30,926-	(57-168)
			3,824)		90,632)		90,673)	
Total	242,648	117,575	15,909	954	391,154	825	391,979	61
	(209,810-	(73,790-175,390)	(7,592-	(383-1,797)	(186,491-	(329-	(187,261-	(29-131)
	291,023)		33,949)	5.	835,263)	1,661)	836,559)	

Table 3 Estimated annual disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN countries

Note: Estimates are presented as base-case estimates with their 95% credibility interval (in parentheses) based on probabilistic sensitivity analysis. Abbreviations: DALYs – disability-adjusted life years; YLDs – years lived with disabilities; YLLs – years of life lost; ⁺ input parameters were based on national statistics and published literature; ¹ Input parameters were based on published literature and anecdotal evidence; ⁺ Input parameters were based on anecdotal evidence.





Figure 4 Estimated annual epidemiological burden of snakebite in ASEAN countries

The estimated incidence of snakebite ranged from the lowest in Malaysia (10.68 per 100,000 population) to the highest in Lao PDR (200.00 per 100,000 population). The estimated mortality of snakebite envenoming ranged from the lowest in Thailand (0.006 per 100,000 population) to the highest in Lao PDR (14.04 per 100,000 population). Main sources of information were national statistics and published research for the burden estimation of Malaysia, Thailand, and Myanmar. Published research and anecdotal evidence (unpublished local data, and expert opinion) were the main sources of information for the burden estimation of Vietnam, and Lao PDR. Anecdotal evidence was the only source of information for the burden estimation of Indonesia, and Philippines. Made with Natural Earth. Free vector and raster map data @ naturalearthdata.com.



Figure 5 Estimated proportions of snakebite victims treated with antivenom in ASEAN countries

Percentages are estimated from number of snakebite victims treated with antivenom divided by total number of snakebite victims with systemic envenoming who need antivenom; Main sources of information were national statistics and published research for the burden estimation of Malaysia, Thailand, and Myanmar. Published research and anecdotal evidence (unpublished local data, and expert opinion) were the main sources of information for the burden estimation of Vietnam, and Lao PDR. Anecdotal evidence was the only source of information for the burden estimation of Indonesia, and Philippines.

4.4.2 Economic burden of snakebite in ASEAN

Annual economic burden of snakebite in ASEAN was estimated at 2.5 billion USD (95%Crl 1.2-5.4 billion USD) which was equivalent to 0.09% (95%Crl 0.04-0.20%) of the GDP (**Table 4** and **Figure 6**). The total costs of snakebite included direct medical costs of 69.0 million USD (95%Crl 49.0-94.8 million USD), direct non-medical costs of 6.5 million USD (95%Crl 4.2-10.3 million USD), and indirect costs of 2.4 billion USD (95%Crl 1.1-5.3 billion USD). The estimated economic burden of snakebite ranged from the lowest in Malaysia (2 million USD) to the highest in Indonesia (1.9 billion USD).

 Table
 4 Estimated annual economic burden (x1,000 USD) of snakebite in ASEAN

countries

	Direct i	medical costs, x1,0	000 USD	Direct non-me x1,000	dical costs, USD	Indirect costs	s, x1,000 USD		
	Healthcare costs	Antivenom- related costs	Amputation costs	Transportation	Additional food costs	Productivity losses during Snakebit episode	Productivity losses due to Premature death	Total costs, x1,000 USD	Total costs, % of GDP
Malaysia	754	475	0	38	29	366	622	2,284	0.001%
	(620-932)	(249-758)		(34-42)	(23-40)	(289-484)	(0-1,866)	(1,380-3,736)	(0.000- 0.001%)
Thailand	2,027	1,176	0.2	58	50	925	762	4,999	0.001%
	(1,615-	(844-1,506)	(0-0.6)	(54-64)	(37-67)	(702-1,190)	(381-1,333)	(3,861-6,260)	(0.001-
	2,531)			A					0.001)
Indonesia*	51,836	4,129	100	1,579	1,442	8,752	1,922,241	1,988,891	0.178%
	(36,900-	(3,727-4,520)	(44-178)	(1,431-1,738)	(1,027-	(6,506-11,566)	(914,489-	(975,513-	(0.087-
	70,844)		V	STreeces 30	1,970)		4,110,887)	4,202,049)	0.375%)
Philippines [¶]	444	147	1	63	46	638	81,905	83,244	0.022%
	(338-578)	(130-162)	(1-2)	(52-76)	(35-60)	(518-793)	(40,762-	(42,165-	(0.011-
						1961	163,735)	165,246)	0.044%)
Vietnam [¶]	3,208	1,094	0	853	1,463	3,801	257,594	268,013	0.102%
	(1,090-	(447-1,210)		(299-1,874)	(494-3,264)	(1,320-8,251)	(76,180-	(82,106-	(0.031-
	7,137)				9	e 1	690,928)	710,764)	0.271%)
Lao PDR*	55	27	12 6	133 6 6 6 7 1	16	427	80,031	80,583	0.443%
	(42-71)	(23-32)	(2-34)	(12-15)	(13-20)	(361-501)	(40,573-	(41,188-	(0.227-
		GH	ULALO	NGKORM		ERSITY	159,767)	160,291)	0.882%)
Myanmar	1,382	2,159	0	474	394	1,208	73,569	79,186	0.104%
	(1,047-	(1,910-2,425)		(417-526)	(303-516)	(952-1,551)	(44,703-	(50,302-	(0.066-
	1,815)						131,172)	136,615)	0.180%)
Total	59,706	9,208	114	3,078	3,441	16,117	2,416,724	2,507,199	0.091%
	(41,652-	(7,329-	(46-215)	(2,299-4,335)	(1,932-	(10,648-24,335)	(1,117,087-	(1,196,516-	(0.043-
	83,950)	10,613)			5,938)		5,259,687)	5,384,962)	0.195%)

Note: Estimates are presented as base-case estimates (x 1000 USD) with their 95% credibility interval (in parentheses) based on probabilistic sensitivity analysis. Costs are presented as 2019 USD where 1 USD = 14,147.67 Indonesian Rupees = 51.80 Philippine Pesos = 23,050.24 Vietnamese Dong = 8,679.41 Lao Kip = 1,518.26 Myanmar Kyat. Abbreviation: GDP – gross domestic product; USD - US Dollar; input parameters were based on national statistics and published literature; ¹ Input parameters were based on published literature and anecdotal evidence; $^+$ Input parameters were based on anecdotal evidence.



Figure 6 Estimated annual economic and disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN countries

(A) Disease burden of snakebite; data in parentheses are the percentages of disease burden attributable to years of life lost. (B) Costs in million USD; data in parentheses are the percentages of economic burden attributable to indirect costs. (C) Costs in percentage of gross domestic product; Main sources of information were national statistics and published research for the burden estimation of Malaysia, Thailand, and Myanmar. Published research and anecdotal evidence (unpublished local data, and expert opinion) were the main sources of information for the burden estimation of Vietnam, and Lao PDR. Anecdotal evidence was the only source of information for the burden estimation of Indonesia, and Philippines. Costs are presented as 2019 USD where 1 USD = 14,147.67 Indonesian Rupees = 51.80 Philippine Pesos = 23,050.24 Vietnamese Dong = 8,679.41 Lao Kip = 1,518.26 Myanmar Kyat. Abbreviation: GDP – gross domestic product; USD - US Dollar.

The total economic burden of 2.5 billion USD was broken down into hospitalization costs (59.7 million USD; 2.4% of the total economic burden), antivenom-related costs (9.2 million USD; 0.4%), amputation costs (0.1 million USD, 0.005%), transportation costs (3.1 million USD, 0.1%), food costs (3.4 million USD, 0.1%), productivity losses of victims and relatives during snakebite episode (16.1 million USD, 0.6%), and productivity losses due to premature death (2.4 billion USD, 96.4%).

4.4.3 Disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN

We estimated an annual disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN of 391,979 DALYs (95%Crl 187,261-836,559), which was equivalent to 61 DALYs per 100,000 population (95%Crl 29-131) (**Table 4**, **Figure 6**, and **Table B2** in **Appendix B**). The estimated disease burden of snakebite involved 391,154 YLLs due to death from snakebite envenoming (95%Crl 186,491-835,263; 99.8% of the total DALYs), 330 YLDs for snakebite episode (95%Crl 154-613; 0.08%), and 495 YLDs for amputation (95%Crl 175-1,049; 0.13%). DALYs lost due to snakebite ranged from the lowest in Malaysia (52 DALYs) to the highest in Indonesia (262,888 DALYs).

4.4.4 Comparison of economic and disease burden per victim with snakebite envenoming across countries

Economic and disease burden per victim with snakebite envenoming was compared across ASEAN countries (**Table B3** in **Appendix B**). Mortality rate of snakebite envenoming ranged from the lowest in Thailand (0.001) to the highest in Lao PDR (0.332). Amputation rate of snakebite envenoming ranged from the lowest in Malaysia, Vietnam, and Myanmar (0.000) to the highest in Lao PDR (0.047). DALYs lost due to snakebite envenoming per victim ranged from the lowest in Thailand (0.02 DALYs per victim) to the highest in Lao PDR (8.10 DALYs per victim). Total costs of snakebite envenoming per victim ranged from the lowest in Philippines (47,072 USD per victim).

4.4.5 Sensitivity analysis

One-way sensitivity analysis found that influential parameters for economic and disease burden were discount rate, probability of death due to snakebite envenoming, relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available, probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment, incidence of snakebite, and length of stay of victims indicated for antivenom treatment (**Figures B1** and **B2** in **Appendix B**). When PTSD was incorporated in the model in scenario analysis, the model estimated that there would be 10,293 cases of PTSD (95%Crl 4,651-20,954) with disease burden of 17,458 YLDs (95%Crl 5,869-40,035 YLDs) and productivity losses of 12.7 million USD (95%Crl 4.7-27.9 million USD) (Table B4 in the **Appendix B**). PTSD following snakebite was found to slightly increased the economic (total costs of 2.52 billion USD; 0.5% increase) and disease burden (405,102 DALYs; 4.5% increase).

4.5 DISCUSSION

To achieve the goal set by the WHO to halve burden of snakebite by 2030, countries should know their current economic and disease burden of snakebite to understand their current standpoint. To

our understanding, this is the first study conducted to estimate the economic and disease burden of snakebite in Southeast Asia. The annual economic and disease burden of snakebite in seven ASEAN countries were estimated using a decision analytic model incorporating input parameters from various sources including published literature and local sources to estimate the burden of all snakebite victims regardless of their treatment seeking behavior.

We estimated that annually there were 242,648 snakebite victims (95%Crl 209,810-291,023) of which 15,909 victims (95%Crl 7,592-33,949) were dead and 954 victims (95%Crl 383-1,797) were amputated. The estimated number of snakebite victims and deaths were comparable to the previous estimates in 2007 of approximately 234,000-1,410,000 snakebite victims and 700-18,000 deaths.¹¹ Annual disease burden of snakebite was estimated at 391,979 DALYs (95%Crl 187,261-836,559). Total costs of snakebite were estimated at 2.5 billion USD (95%Crl 1.2-5.4 billion USD) which were equivalent to 0.09% (95%Crl 0.04-0.20%) of the region's GDP. The share of the estimated economic burden from snakebite of the country's GDP ranged from 0.001% in Malaysia to 0.443% in Lao PDR which were remarkably high compared to less than 0.001%. in Iran and Burkina Faso and 0.016% in Sri Lanka.^{2,3,46,67} The estimated disease burden of snakebite of 391,979 DALYs in seven ASEAN countries (61 DALYs per 100,000 population) was low compared to the previous estimates of 319,874 DALYs in 16 Western African countries (approximately 93 DALYs per 100,000 population)⁸⁴ and 1,029,209 DALYs in 41 Sub-Saharan African countries (approximately 120 DALYs per 100,000 population).9 This could be partly explained by the differences in the incidence and mortality of snakebite and access to antivenom treatment. Compared to the disease burden of neglected tropical diseases in seven ASEAN countries that were estimated in the Global Burden of Disease 2019 study, snakebite was the second highest burden ranking below dengue (909,899 DALYs) (Figure B3 in Appendix B). The disease burdens of malaria (72,844 DALYs) and rabies (66,525 DALYs) were much lower than snakebite.¹³¹

In Malaysia and Thailand, >90% of victims indicated for antivenom could access to it. In contrast, remarkably lower proportions were demonstrated in Lao PDR, Indonesia, Philippines, Vietnam, and Myanmar of which 4-64% antivenom indicated victims were treated with antivenoms. These victims either sought traditional healers or were treated in healthcare facilities but did not receive antivenom due to inadequate supply of antivenom. Consequently, most deaths from snakebite envenoming (99.9%) in ASEAN were from Indonesia, Philippines, Vietnam, Lao PDR, and Myanmar which contributed to high economic and disease burden of premature death from snakebite envenoming. We found that more than 95% of the estimated economic and disease burden was attributed to premature deaths. Treating all snakebite victims who need antivenoms in these countries would save their lives which would result in a tremendous decrease in the burden of snakebite in ASEAN.

However, increasing access to antivenom was not only about producing antivenoms but the whole surrounding supporting and management system especially the information system to inform decision making and logistics to efficiently deliver antivenoms even to the farthest healthcare facilities. We previously assessed the situation of snakebite in ASEAN and provided the potential opportunities to improve situation of snakebite in ASEAN to meet the WHO's target of halving snakebite mortality and morbidity by 2030. These potential opportunities included accurate estimation of antivenom demand, rigorous regulations of antivenom, strengthening the supply chain system, raising public awareness about the importance of treating snakebite envenoming by healthcare professionals, strengthening the health system to ensure appropriate snakebite management and rational use of antivenoms, and expanding collaboration of local and international stakeholders and funders.⁸³

There were few important limitations of this study worth mentioning. Firstly, Cambodia was not included in this study because we were not able to identify published literature and key informants that could be utilized to estimate the burden of snakebite in Cambodia. It is important to note that Cambodia is one of the countries that imported antivenoms from Thailand, indicating that there were snakebite victims in this country.⁸³ Secondly, consequences of snakebite included in the model and its sensitivity analysis were limited to death, amputation, and PTSD. Other disabilities such as blindness, malignant ulcers, and pregnancy loss were not included due to a lack of empirical evidence in ASEAN.⁶³ This warrants future studies in ASEAN to evaluate all relevant consequences and disabilities and associated costs of snakebite to allow better estimation of burden of snakebite. Lastly, there was no nation-wide community and hospital study to comprehensively collect the number of snakebite victims in some of the included countries. Hence, input parameters must be estimated based on non-national studies, unpublished local data, and expert opinions, resulting in a wide range of the estimated economic and disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN. This is especially relevant in Lao PDR and Indonesia where snakebite incidences were very high and estimated by local experts. Nevertheless, our findings suggested that there was high burden of snakebite despite the availability of domestically produced antivenoms in the region. We emphasized the importance of funding research to perform a comprehensive data collection on epidemiological and economic burden of snakebite to eventually reveal the true burden of snakebite in ASEAN. These data will yield more accurate information on burden of snakebite to guide decision making in not only the ASEAN but also the WHO to develop global strategies to tackle the problem of snakebite.

4.6 CONCLUSION

Annual production of 290,000 vials of antivenom in ASEAN were given to only 31% of victims who were indicated for antivenom treatment. Our estimates highlighted the high economic and disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN despite the availability of domestically produced antivenoms. Almost all of the estimated economic and disease burdens were attributed to premature deaths from snakebite envenoming which suggested that the remarkably high burden of snakebite could be averted, especially in countries where large proportions of victims who needed antivenom were not treated with geographically appropriate antivenoms. Strategies should be developed with the goal to improve health outcomes of snakebite victims. However, strategies used to achieve this goal are likely to be complex and different across countries depending on each country's context and situation such as accurate informatics, rigorous regulations of antivenoms, efficient supply chain, rational use of antivenoms, appropriate treatment seeking behaviors, and good governance to support a strong healthcare system



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

CHAPTER 5 POTENTIAL ECONOMIC AND CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS OF IMPROVING ACCESS TO SNAKE ANTIVENOM IN FIVE ASEAN COUNTRIES: A COST-EFFECTIVENESS ANALYSIS

Patikorn C, Ismail AK, Zainal Abidin SA, Othman I, Chaiyakunapruk N, Taychakhoonavudh S.
Potential economic and clinical implications of improving access to snake antivenom in five ASEAN countries: A cost-effectiveness analysis. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases. 2022;16(11):e0010915.

Authors and affiliations

Chanthawat Patikorn^{1,2}, Ahmad Khaldun Ismail³, Syafiq Asnawi Zainal Abidin⁴, lekhsan Othman⁴, Nathorn Chaiyakunapruk^{2,5,6*}, Suthira Taychakhoonavudh^{1*}

* Corresponding authors

1 Department of Social and Administrative Pharmacy, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences,

Chulalongkorn

University, Bangkok, Thailand

2 Department of Pharmacotherapy, College of Pharmacy, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, Utah, USA

3 Department of Emergency Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, Jalan Yaacob Latif, Bandar Tun Razak, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

4 Jeffrey Cheah School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Monash University Malaysia, Jalan Lagoon Selatan, Bandar Sunway, Selangor, Malaysia

5 IDEAS Center, Veterans Affairs Salt Lake City Healthcare System, Salt Lake City, Utah , USA

6 School of Pharmacy, Monash University Malaysia, Selangor, Malaysia

5.1 ABSTRACT

Background: Despite domestic production of antivenoms in the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) countries, not all victims with snakebite envenomings indicated for antivenom received the appropriate or adequate effective dose of antivenom due to insufficient supply and inadequate access to antivenoms. We aimed to conduct a cost-effectiveness analysis to project the potential economic and clinical impact of improving access to antivenoms when all snakebite envenomings in ASEAN countries were hypothetically treated with geographically appropriate antivenoms. **Methodology**: Using a decision analytic model with input parameters from published literature, local data, and expert opinion, we projected the impact of "full access" (100%) to antivenom, compared to "current access" in five most impacted ASEAN countries, including Indonesia (10%) , Philippines (26%), Vietnam (37%), Lao PDR (4%), and Myanmar (64%), from a societal perspective with a lifetime time horizon. Sensitivity analyses were performed.

Principal Findings: In base-case analyses, full access compared to current access to snake antivenom in the five countries resulted in a total of 9,362 deaths averted (-59%), 230,075 disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) averted (-59%), and cost savings of 1.3 billion USD (-53%). Incremental cost-effectiveness ratios (ICERs) of improving access to antivenom found higher outcomes but lower costs in all countries. Probabilistic sensitivity analyses of 1,000 iterations found that 98.1-100% of ICERs were cost-saving.

Conclusion/Significance: Improving access to snake antivenom will result in cost-saving for ASEAN countries. Our findings emphasized the importance of further strengthening regional cooperation, investment, and funding to improve the situation of snakebite victims in ASEAN countries. **Funding**: This work is supported by the Wellcome Trust [218539/Z/19/Z] to CP, AKI, IO, SAZA, ST, and NC (https://wellcome.org). This research project is supported by the Second Century Fund (C2F), Chulalongkorn University to CP and ST (https://c2f.chula.ac.th).

5.2 INTRODUCTION

Snakebite is a highly prioritized neglected tropical disease recognized by the World Health Organization (WHO). Due to the high global burden of snakebite, WHO has set its goal to reduce morbidity and mortality of snakebite by 50% by 2030.^{1,10,11} WHO has developed four strategic objectives to tackle the problems, including empowering and engaging communities, ensuring safe and effective treatment, strengthening health systems, and increasing partnerships, coordination, and resources.¹⁰

The Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) is an economic union comprising of ten member countries including Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Indonesia, Lao PDR, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, and Vietnam with over 600 million population.¹² ASEAN is among the tropical regions with a disproportionately high incidence of snakebite. Our previous study estimated that there were approximately 243,000 snakebite victims with 16,000 deaths and 950 amputations from snakebite envenoming in seven ASEAN countries, namely, Malaysia, Thailand, Indonesia, Philippines, Vietnam, Lao PDR, and Myanmar. The annual economic and disease burden of snakebite in these countries was estimated at approximately 2.5 billion US Dollars (USD) and 392,000 disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) lost due to snakebite.¹³² Previous economic evaluations have demonstrated the cost-effectiveness of antivenoms over no treatment for victims who suffered from snakebite envenoming indicating that antivenoms should be included as part of the pharmaceutical benefits schemes.^{2,63,64} Antivenoms are already included in the essential medicine lists in many countries in the ASEAN.⁸³ However, not all victims with snakebite envenoming in ASEAN countries could access to geographically appropriate antivenoms for many reasons including inadequate supplies of antivenom, inefficient supply chain system, and inappropriate treatment seeking behavior.⁸³ Especially in Indonesia, Philippines, Vietnam, Lao PDR, and Myanmar, where 4-64% of victims with snakebite envenoming were treated with antivenoms.¹³² Lack of access to antivenom in ASEAN countries could actually be avoided with evidence-informed strategies to improve access to snake antivenom with the goal that every victim with snakebite envenoming should receive antivenoms. However, strategies used to achieve this are likely to be complex and different across countries depending on each country's context and situation. Moreover, improving access to antivenoms could not be solely done by increasing the production of antivenoms. It requires a multifaceted approach involving strengthening the whole system surrounding the management of snakebite victims, such as accurate informatics, rigorous regulations of antivenoms, efficient supply chain, rational use of antivenoms, appropriate treatment seeking behaviors, and good governance to support a strong healthcare system. To accelerate the development of strategies to improve access to snake antivenoms, it is needed to demonstrate the potential impact of treating all victims with snakebite envenoming with snake antivenoms. Therefore, we aimed to conduct a cost-effectiveness analysis to project the potential economic and clinical impact of improving access to snake antivenoms when all victims with snakebite envenomings in ASEAN countries were hypothetically treated with geographically appropriate antivenoms. Our findings would emphasize the unmet medical needs of snakebite victims in ASEAN countries and the importance of developing strategies to provide access to geographically appropriate antivenoms for all victims with snakebite envenoming to reduce the burden of snakebite in the region.

5.3 METHODS

An economic evaluation was conducted using a decision analytic model to assess the costeffectiveness of improving access to snake antivenom from the current level to full access in ASEAN countries. We projected the economic and clinical implications of "full access" to antivenom relative to "current access" in a hypothetical cohort of snakebite victims in each country from a societal perspective with a lifetime time horizon to capture lifetime costs and consequences of snakebite victims. We developed our study following the methodological considerations for economic

evaluations of snakebites described in the previous systematic review.² We reported our study following the Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards (CHEERS) 2022 statement (**Table C1** in **Appendix C**).¹³³

5.3.1 Setting

We selected the five most impacted ASEAN countries for this study, including Indonesia, Philippines, Vietnam, Lao PDR, and Myanmar because the previous estimates in these countries found that only 4-64% of victims who were indicated for antivenoms were treated with antivenoms.¹³²

Malaysia and Thailand were not selected because more than 90% of victims in these countries who were indicated for antivenoms were treated with antivenoms.¹³⁴ Brunei Darussalam and Singapore were not selected because snakebite rarely occurs and/or exact data were lacking.¹¹ Cambodia was not selected due to a lack of information and key informants, although it is one of the countries with a high incidence of snakebites.¹¹

5.3.2 Decision analytic model

A decision analytic model (**Figure 7**) was adapted from the previously developed model to estimate the number of snakebite victims occurring in one year in ASEAN countries and the economic and disease burden of snakebite victims.¹³² Briefly, victims who were bitten by snakes sought either conventional treatment or traditional treatment. The victims who were indicated for antivenom treatment might be treated with antivenom depending on the level of access. Snakebite victims might be alive, alive with disabilities, or dead. Disabilities included in this model were digit and limb amputation.

จุฬาลงกรณมหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



Figure 7 Decision analytic model to estimate economic and disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN countries Abbreviation: ADR – adverse drug reaction.

There were four key assumptions of the model.¹³² First, one person can be bitten by a snake only once in a lifetime. Second, snakebite victims were accompanied by relatives or family members who took care of them during the snakebite episode. Third, due to lack of data, antivenom effectiveness was based on a study in Nigeria which found 2.33 folds (95% confidence interval; 1.26-4.06) increased risk of death in antivenom indicated victims who were not treated with antivenom compared to those treated with antivenom.¹⁰⁴ Fourth, current access to antivenom was determined as the proportion of the number of antivenoms treatment available by a total number of victims indicated for antivenom treatment with the values of 0.04 (Lao PDR), 0.10 (Indonesia), 0.26 (Philippines), 0.37 (Vietnam), and 0.64 (Myanmar) that were previously estimated.¹³² Full access was modeled as all snakebite victims who were indicated for antivenom could be treated with geographically appropriate antivenoms. In the full access scenario, all snakebite victims who firstly sought traditional healers when access is now full are assumed to switch to conventional treatment.

5.3.3 Input parameters

Input parameters for each country (**Table C2** in **Appendix C**) were based on the previous study that estimated the economic and disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN countries.¹³⁴ These parameters were sought from published literature, data from the Ministry of Health in each country, local data, and expert opinion.^{16,25,36-38,41,86,88,104,110,112-117,120,121,123-126} The input parameters were validated by triangulation of data from the literature, local data, and interview with key informants who were experts in snakebite in ASEAN.

Main sources of information were national statistics and published research for the burden estimation of Malaysia, Thailand, and Myanmar. Published research and anecdotal evidence (local data, and expert opinion) were the main sources of information for the burden estimation of Vietnam and Lao PDR. Anecdotal evidence was the main source of information for the burden estimation of Indonesia, and Philippines.

5.3.4 Costs

Costs of snakebite in this model included direct costs and indirect costs (**Table C2** in **Appendix C**).¹³² Direct costs included costs of hospitalization, antivenom treatment, antivenom logistics, adverse drug reaction management, amputation, transportation, and additional food for victims and their relatives. Costs of antivenom treatment were estimated based on the average dose of antivenom vials used in the treatment of snakebite envenoming with the consideration of different types of snakes and antivenoms in each country. Indirect costs included productivity losses during snakebite episodes of victims and their relatives and productivity losses due to premature death. Productivity losses due to premature death were discounted at the rate of 3% and adjusted for the annual growth of GDP per capita in each country.

5.3.5 Health outcomes

Health outcomes of the model included the number of deaths from snakebite envenoming and disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) lost due to snakebite. DALYs were estimated using the template developed by WHO.¹²⁷ DALYs were the sum of years of life lost (YLL) and years lived with disability (YLD). YLLs due to snakebite envenoming were calculated from the number of deaths multiplied by a global standard life expectancy at the age of death. YLDs of snakebite victims included YLDs for snakebite episodes and YLDs for amputations. YLDs were calculated from the duration of disability multiplied by a disability weight for each condition according to the Global Burden of Disease 2013 study (**Table C2** in **Appendix C**).¹¹⁰

5.3.6 Discounting

Costs and health outcomes that occurred after one year were discounted at the rate of 3%.^{123,124}

5.3.7 Base-case analyses

In the base-case analyses, the expected costs and outcomes for each level of access were calculated. Primary outcomes of the model were deaths averted, DALYs averted, and incremental costs of full access compared to current access. Costs were expressed in 2019 US Dollars (USD) which equaled to 14,147.67 Indonesian Rupees, 51.80 = Philippine Pesos, 23,050.24, Vietnamese Dong, 8,679.41 Lao Kip, and 1,518.26 Myanmar Kyat.¹³⁵

The results were presented as incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) per death averted and ICER per DALY averted in each country. The willingness-to-pay (WTP) thresholds were based on the local pharmacoeconomic guidelines in Indonesia (4,136 USD)¹²⁴, set by the Formulary Executive Council in the Philippines (2,317 USD)¹³⁶, and based on the country's GDP per capita in countries without explicit WTP thresholds including Vietnam (2,715 USD), Lao PDR (2,625 USD), and Myanmar (1,421 USD).¹²⁵ ICERs per death averted and ICER per DALY averted with values below these WTP thresholds were considered cost-effective.

5.3.8 Sensitivity analyses

A series of sensitivity analyses were performed to evaluate the robustness of the base-case conclusions. One-way sensitivity analyses were performed to assess the impact of varying input parameters from minimum to maximum values on the ICERs.

We performed a series of scenario analyses. In the base-case analyses, antivenom had no effect on amputation. Thus, we performed scenario analyses by assuming that antivenom treatment could reduce the amputation rate of snakebite victims with the same relative risk of 2.33 in antivenom indicated victims who were not treated with antivenom compared to those treated with antivenom.¹⁰⁴ Scenario analyses were performed by incorporating post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) in the model as a mental disability occurring in 8% of victims who survived snakebite envenoming.^{6,129,130,132}

We performed scenario analyses by excluding indirect costs from the model. Lastly, scenario analyses were performed by increasing the logistic costs from 5% to 10% of antivenom price because these could be higher, especially in archipelagic countries like Indonesia and Philippines. Threshold sensitivity analyses were performed to estimate the lowest level of antivenom effectiveness and the highest level of costs of antivenom treatment that would result in the "not cost-saving" situation where ICER is equal to zero but still considered cost-effective.

Probabilistic sensitivity analyses were performed to assess the model robustness and uncertainty of the base case input parameters over their plausible ranges on the model output. Monte Carlo simulations for 1,000 iterations of ICERs were performed by randomly sampling all input parameters based on the probability distributions. Results of probabilistic sensitivity analyses were presented using the cost-effectiveness plane and the cost-effectiveness acceptability curves (CEACs).

5.4 RESULTS

5.4.1 Base-case analyses

We projected the economic and clinical impact of improving access to snake antivenom in ASEAN countries from the societal perspective (**Table 5**). When compared to current access, full access to antivenom in each country could save 433 lives in Philippines to 5,981 lives in Indonesia and reduce 10,473 DALYs in Philippines to 148,684 DALYs in Indonesia. However, full access to antivenom resulted in a higher number of patients with amputations (4 amputees in Philippines to 122 amputees in Indonesia) since more patients are being treated and as a result, more survivors from snakebite envenoming. Full access to antivenom had higher direct costs (2 million USD in Philippines to 50 million USD in Indonesia) but less indirect costs (-1,091 million USD in Indonesia to -28 million USD in Philippines to 1,040 million USD in Indonesia. In total cost savings of 27 million USD in Philippines to 1,040 million USD in Indonesia. In total, when compared to current access, full access to snake antivenom in ASEAN countries resulted in 9,362 deaths averted (-59%), 230,075 DALYs averted (-59%), and cost savings of 1.3 billion USD (-53%).

Table 5 Estimated economic and clinical impact of snakebite victims between current access and full access to snake antivenom in

ASEAN countries

		Indonesia			Philippine	s		Vietnam			Lao PDR			Myanmar	
	Current	Full	Difference	Current	Full	Difference	Current	Full	Difference	Current	Full	Difference	Current	Full	Difference
Health outcomes															
Deaths, n	10,547	4,566	-5,981	220	117	-433	1,655	619	-1,037	1,007	141	-866	2,145	1,099	-1,046
Amputations, n	667	921	+122	12	16	+4	0	0	0	141	202	-09	0	0	0
DALYs for snakebite	262,888	114,203	-148,684	13,317	2,844	-10,473	40,250	15,111	-25,139	24,532	3,513	-21,019	50,830	26,070	-24,759
Economic burden, million USD			זרי Al		¥	J									
Direct costs	69	109	+20	L	2	+2	Ł	16	6+	0.1	1	+1	4	11	7+7
Indirect costs	1,931	840	-1,091	83	54	-28	261	100	-161	80	12	-69	75	39	-36
Total costs	1,990	026	-1,040	83	29	-27	268	116	-152	81	13	-68	62	50	-29
						A COMPANY IN FUEL	SCOTT NUMBER		3						

Costs are presented as USD where 1 USD = 14, 147, 67 Indonesian Rupees = 51,80 Philippine Pesos = 23,050;24 Methamese Dong = 8,679,41 Lao Kip = 1,518.26 Myanmar Kyat. DALY - disability-adjusted life year, USD - US

Dollar.

Base-case analyses of ICERs per death averted and ICERs per DALY averted of full access compared to current access found higher outcomes (0.02 deaths averted in Vietnam to 0.06 death averted in Lao PDR and 0.5 DALYs averted in Vietnam to 1.2 DALYs averted in Myanmar) but lower costs (-7,698 USD in Indonesia to -1,370 USD in Myanmar) in all five ASEAN countries. Thus, improving access to snake antivenom will result in cost-saving (Table 6).

5.4.2 Sensitivity analyses

One-way sensitivity analyses were presented with tornado diagrams to show the percentage change of base-case ICERs corresponding to varying values of the input parameters (Figures C1 and C2 in Appendix C). The most influential parameters for ICERs per death averted were discount rate and relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available. The most sensitive parameters for ICERs per DALY averted were relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available, discount rate, and probability of death in snakebite victims treated with antivenom. One-way sensitivity analyses found that the base-case conclusions were robust.

Scenario analyses were presented in **Tables C3** and **C4** in **Appendix C**. Incorporating PTSD in the model, assuming that antivenom could reduce the risk of amputation, and increasing the logistic costs of antivenom resulted in similar ICERs per death averted and ICERs per DALY averted in all countries indicating that improving access will result in cost-saving. Excluding indirect costs from the model resulted in ICERs per death averted ranging from 1,488 in Lao PDR to 8,632 USD per death averted in Vietnam. These ICERs per death averted were above the WTP thresholds in all countries except Lao PDR. While ICERs per DALY averted excluding indirect costs from the model ranged from 61 in Lao PDR to 356 in Vietnam. These ICERs per DALY averted were death were below the WTP thresholds in all countries.

Threshold analyses of antivenom effectiveness and costs of antivenom treatment resulted in an ICER of 0 are shown in **Table C5** in **Appendix C**. The lowest level of antivenom effectiveness, presented as a risk ratio of death in indicated victims who were not treated with antivenom compared to those treated with antivenom, was ranging from 0.35 in Lao PDR to 1.19 in Myanmar. The highest level of costs of antivenom treatment was ranging from 9 to 149 times the base-case value in Myanmar and Lao PDR, respectively.

	Costs,	Deaths,	DALYs	Incremental costs,	Deaths	DALYs	Incremental costs per Death	Probability of being cost-	Incremental costs per DALY	Probability of being cost-	WTP Threshold, USD per DALY
	asn	c		asn	averted, n	averted	averted, USD	saving*	averted, USD	saving*	averted
Indonesia											
Current access (reference)	14,733	0.08	1.9								
Full access	7,035	0.03	0.8	869'2-	0.04	1.1	Cost-saving	99.8%	Cost-saving	100%	4,136
Philippines				ULA	-0 หา						
Current access (reference)	6,223	0.04	1.0	\LO	ลง			2 ALA			
Full access	1,536	0.01	0.2	-4,687	0.0 UZ	0.8	Cost-saving	%6.66	Cost-saving	%6.66	2,317
Vietnam				KO F	ณ์เ				h àti		
Current access (reference)	5,733	0.04	0.9	RN	หา			- Munul	10		
Full access	2,473	0.01	0.3	-3,260	0.02	0.5	Cost-saving	%6`66	Cost-saving	100%	2,715
Lao PDR				IVE	1						
Current access (reference)	5,620	0.07	1.7	RSI	เ ล้ย		a sa	A 10 10			
Full access	910	0.01	0.2	-4,710	0.06	1.5	Cost-saving	100%	Cost-saving	100%	2,625
Myanmar											
Current access (reference)	3,760	0.10	2.4								
Full access	2,390	0.05	1.2	-1,370	0.05	1.2	Cost-saving	98.1%	Cost-saving	98.1%	1,421
Note: *Percentage of	[:] 1,000 itera	tions that v	vere cos	st-saving based on a	i probabilistic	sensitivity ar	nalysis. Costs are presented :	as 2019 USD where 1 U	SD = 14,147.67 = Indonesiar	n Rupees = 51.80 = Ph	llippine Pesos =

Table 6 Cost-effectiveness of improving access to snake antivenom in ASEAN countries

23,050.24 Vietnamese Dong = 8,679.41 Lao Kip = 1,518.26 Myanmar Kyat. DALY - Disability-adjusted life year; USD - US Dollars; WTP - Willingness-to-pay.

Probabilistic sensitivity analyses were performed for 1,000 iterations with the results presented in **Figure 8** and **Figures C2** and **C3** in **Appendix C** We found that 98.1-100% of 1,000 ICERs per death averted and 98.3-100% of 1,000 ICERs per DALYs averted were cost-saving.



Figure 8 Cost-effectiveness acceptability curves of improving access to snake antivenom in ASEAN countries

Probabilities of full access to snake antivenom being cost-effective compared to current access in each ASEAN country at varying willingness-to-pay thresholds based on 1,000 iterations of a probabilistic sensitivity analysis are presented.

5.5 DISCUSSION

Chulalongkorn University

This is the first study to our understanding that projected the cost-effectiveness of improving access to snake antivenom. This cost-effective analysis was not done to evaluate whether antivenom was cost-effective or not because antivenoms were already available in ASEAN but not all victims with snakebite envenoming were treated antivenoms.^{83,132} Thus, we tried to evaluate the potential economic and clinical impacts of increasing the access to antivenom in ASEAN countries when all snakebite victims in the full access scenario are treated with geographically appropriate antivenom. We used a decision analytic model with input parameters from various sources including published literature, local sources, and expert opinion. We did not propose specific strategies to improve access to snake antivenoms as each country has different problems which require different strategies and policies to address them.⁸³ Rather, we demonstrated the potential economic and

clinical impact when all victims with snakebite envenoming in ASEAN countries were treated with geographically appropriate antivenoms.

We found that improving access to snake antivenoms would result in cost-saving with higher outcomes (deaths and DALYs averted) but lower costs. In total, when compared to current access, full access to snake antivenom in five ASEAN countries resulted in 9,362 deaths averted (-59%), 230,075 DALYs averted (-59%), and cost savings of 1.3 billion USD (-53%). Although full access to antivenom compared to current access had higher direct costs because all victims with snakebite envenoming received antivenom treatment, the direct costs were entirely offset by indirect costs because antivenoms could save the victims' lives which would avoid tremendously productivity losses due to premature death.

Mortality and disabilities of snakebite envenoming in each country differ in regards to differences in the toxicity and lethality of the snakes.^{83,132} Nevertheless, improving access to antivenom was found to be cost-saving in all five ASEAN countries regardless of differences in snakes causing the snakebite envenoming and baseline level of access to antivenom. We performed a series of sensitivity analyses and found that the conclusion of our study remained robust. Threshold analyses found that the antivenom effectiveness could be as low as 0.35 to 1.19, and the costs of antivenom treatment could increase as high as 9 to 149 times of the base-case value to render improving access to antivenom no longer a cost-saving strategy. This emphasizes the cost-effectiveness of improving access to antivenom.

ASEAN has made significant progress in the management of snakebite and antivenom, but there remain challenges in this region to be addressed especially the lack of snakebite-related informatics system and inadequate access to antivenoms.⁸³ Our previous estimates highlighted the high burden of snakebite in ASEAN despite the availability of domestically produced antivenoms. It was estimated that there were approximately 243,000 snakebite victims with 16,000 deaths and 950 amputations from snakebite envenoming in these countries with the estimated annual economic and disease burden of snakebite of approximately 2.5 billion USD and 392,000 DALYs lost due to snakebite.¹³² Findings of this study indicated that improving access to antivenoms in ASEAN countries would result in tremendous cost savings for the whole society. Thus, further investment and funding is warranted so that we could achieve the WHO's goal to halve the snakebite burden in ASEAN.¹⁰

This study supports and informs that improving access to snake antivenom where all victims with snakebite envenoming received geographically appropriate antivenoms will result in cost-saving. As a result, policy makers and relevant stakeholders in ASEAN to develop effective strategies to improve access to antivenom and reduce the burden of snakebite victims in the region given that

antivenom is a lifesaving drug that should be universally accessible. However, improving access to antivenom is not only about increasing the production of antivenoms or purchasing more antivenoms, but also strengthening the whole health system to effectively deal with snakebite problems. More importantly, encouraging and engaging communities is needed to change the behavior of snakebite victims to seek care at appropriate healthcare facilities instead of traditional healers or seek no care at all. We previously discussed the potential opportunities to improve access to antivenom in ASEAN that included accurate estimation of antivenom demand, rigorous regulations of antivenom, strengthening the supply chain system, raising public awareness about the importance of treating snakebite envenoming by healthcare professionals, strengthening the health system to ensure appropriate snakebite management and rational use of antivenoms, and expanding collaboration of local and international stakeholders to better improve access to snake antivenom for victims in the region.⁸³ Nevertheless, there is no single strategy that could improve access to snake antivenom in every country. Strategies should be developed with consideration of the actual challenges and barriers to policy implementation in individual countries such as the infrastructure and capacity of the health system to appropriately tackle the snakebite problem.

5.5.1 Limitations

There were limitations in our approach that needed to be discussed. Firstly, although Cambodia is one of the countries with snakebite victims, Cambodia was not included in this study because of a lack of published literature and key informants. However, given our findings in five ASEAN countries, improving access to antivenom would be highly cost-saving as well. Secondly, all input parameters used in the model were derived from the available published literature, local data, and expert opinion when data were not available. These input parameters carried inherent uncertainty. We assumed antivenom effectiveness based on a study in Nigeria.¹⁰⁴ Most snakebites In Nigeria are inflicted by snakes of the genus *Echis*, for which antivenoms, in general, have high effectiveness.⁶³ This assumption may have a limitation as snakes in Nigeria are different from ASEAN. Nevertheless, our sensitivity analyses showed robust conclusions of the model. We strongly emphasized the need to conduct comprehensive research to estimate the true burden of snakebite in ASEAN. Thirdly, other disabilities of snakebite envenoming such as blindness, malignant ulcers, and pregnancy loss were not included due to lack of empirical evidence.⁶³ Chronic kidney disease due to Russell's viper (Daboia russelii) bite was not included in our study. It was found that Russell's viper bite caused acute kidney injury. However, information on chronic kidney disease following Russell's viper bite in ASEAN was not documented because patients were lost to follow-up after they were discharged.¹³⁷⁻ ¹³⁹ This emphasizes the importance of funding future studies in ASEAN to evaluate all relevant

consequences and disabilities and associated costs of snakebite to allow better estimation of the cost-effectiveness of improving access to antivenom. Fourthly, we assumed that all snakebite victims in full access would eventually seek conventional treatment. However, this might not be possible because not all victims could have timely access to healthcare facilities, especially those who lived in the farthest rural areas. This is especially important as timely access to healthcare facilities is related to the prognosis of the victims, both in terms of mortality and long-term disability.^{140,141} Lastly, costs of strategy to improve access of antivenoms from the current level to full e.g., costs of increasing antivenom manufacturing capacity, or costs of improving the supply chain, were not included in the analysis. However, these costs were assumed to be covered by the costs of antivenom treatment.

5.6 CONCLUSION

Our study demonstrated improving access to snake antivenom from the current to the full level of access in five ASEAN countries was cost-saving. Our findings indicated that the WHO's goal to halve the snakebite burden could be achieved by providing full access to snake antivenoms for all victims in ASEAN which emphasized further strengthening regional cooperation, investment, and funding to improve the situation of snakebite victims in ASEAN countries to reach the ultimate goal where all victims with snakebite envenoming needing antivenom adequately received the geographically appropriate antivenoms.



CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSIONS

6.1 CONCLUSIONS

Snakebite envenoming is a neglected tropical disease posing public health challenges globally. The Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) countries are among the tropical regions with disproportionately high incidence of snakebite. Understanding the snakebite and antivenom market situation and burden of snakebite is crucial for developing evidence-based strategies to pursue the goal set by the World Health Organization (WHO) to halve morbidity and mortality of snakebite by 2030. However, there was no such information in the ASEAN countries.

Firstly, we identified studies 23 cost of illness studies and 3 economic evaluations. We found that economic burdens of snakebite were underestimated and not extensively studied. Majority of studies only provided direct costs of snakebite patients presented to the hospitals. There was a lack of study estimating national economic burdens of snakebites. Due to likely underestimated economic burden, hospital data should be used to combine with community survey to ensure the accurate estimation of overall economic burdens of snakebite victims. Having full access to antivenom was found to be very cost-effective. Future studies should focus on how to make antivenoms available and affordable to snakebite victims.

Secondly, we estimated that annually there were 242,648 snakebite victims (95% Credibility Interval (CrI) 209,810-291,023) of which 15,909 victims (95%CrI 7,592-33,949) were dead and 954 victims (95%CrI 383-1,797) were amputated. Annual disease burden of snakebite was estimated at 391,979 disability adjusted life years (DALYs) (95%CrI 187,261-836,559 DALYs). Total costs of snakebite were estimated at 2.5 billion USD (95%CrI 1.2-5.4 billion USD) which were equivalent to 0.09% (95%CrI 0.04-0.20%) of the region's gross domestic product. More than 95% of the estimated burden was attributed to premature deaths.

Thirdly, we estimated the potential economic and clinical impact of improving access to snake antivenom in five ASEAN countries including Indonesia, Philippines, Vietnam, Lao PDR, and Myanmar countries. When compared to current access, full access to snake antivenom in resulted in the total of 9,362 deaths averted (-59%), 230,075 disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) averted (-59%), and cost savings of 1.3 billion USD (-53%). Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICERs) of improving access to antivenom found higher outcomes but lower costs in all countries indicating that improving access was a cost-saving strategy. Probabilistic sensitivity analyses of 1,000 iterations found that 98.1-100% of ICERs were cost-saving.

In conclusion, ASEAN have made significant progress in the management of snakebite and antivenom, but there remain challenges in this region to be addressed especially the lack of snakebite-related informatics system, inadequate antivenoms at the healthcare facilities, and when the majority of snakebite victims seeking traditional healers instead of conventional treatment. Our estimates highlighted the high burden of snakebite in ASEAN despite the availability of domestically produced antivenoms. Almost all of the estimated economic and disease burdens were attributed to premature deaths from snakebite envenoming which suggested that the remarkably high burden of snakebite could be averted by increasing access to antivenom especially in Indonesia, Philippines, Vietnam, Lao PDR, and Myanmar. Our study demonstrated improving access to snake antivenom from current to full level of access in Indonesia, Philippines, Vietnam, Lao PDR, and Myanmar was a cost-saving strategy. Our findings indicated that the WHO's goal to halve snakebite burden could be achieved by providing full access to snake antivenoms for all victims in ASEAN which emphasized the importance of further investment and funding to improve the situation of snakebite victims in ASEAN.

6.2 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

Antivenom is a lifesaving drug which should be universally accessible. Therefore, from the overview of snakebite management system across seven ASEAN countries, we proposed the following potential opportunities to further improve the situation of snakebite and antivenom. First, the accurate estimation of antivenom demand is fundamentally needed. Comprehensive research on epidemiological and economic burden of snakebite is needed to spotlight the neglected unmet need of snakebite victims. However, the national statistics of snakebite are still lacking in most countries which hinders the accurate prediction of antivenom demand. The available national statistics of snakebite underestimate the real burden of snakebite because snakebites are mostly not a mandatory notifiable disease and not all victims are treated in the healthcare facilities. When an individual country acknowledges the actual burden of snakebite and antivenom demand, they could better decide what types of antivenoms are needed and whether to domestically produce antivenoms or purchase antivenoms from other countries. The estimated demand of antivenoms could also facilitate the procurement of antivenoms so the manufacturers could prepare and produce enough number of antivenoms for both domestic usage and exportation. Periodic updating the information of snakebite and ecological data of snakes is recommended to track the current situation and allocate resources accordingly.

Second, antivenoms should be rigorously regulated by the national regulatory authority to ensure the quality, safety, and efficacy of the antivenoms. Evidence of non-clinical cross-neutralization should be mandatory for countries who import antivenoms from other countries to ensure that the purchased antivenoms could be effectively reverse snakebite envenoming in the destination countries. The

quality of antivenom production should also be further improved such as lyophilization to prolong shelf-life, and purification to reduce immunogenicity.¹⁴² The technology transfer of antivenom production among ASEAN countries may provide the suitable antivenom for neutralizing particular snake venom of each countries to address the venom variability from different geographical areas. Third, strengthening the supply chain of antivenoms to ensure that antivenoms are readily accessible at the point of service. Centralized pooled procurement is encouraged to increase negotiation power with the manufacturers to ensure constant and reliable antivenom supplies at the affordable prices. Inventory and logistics of antivenom should be managed with support from online system to ensure availability of antivenom at healthcare facilities and provide real-world data of antivenom utilization which allows reallocation of antivenoms and better estimation of antivenom demand and supply within country.

Fourth, raising public awareness about snakebite is important. Healthcare authorities should engage with communities to educate people regarding the danger of snakebite envenoming, how to avoid and prevent snakebite, appropriate first aid measures, and when to seek care at healthcare facilities. In areas where there is a strong cultural belief on traditional healing methods, the collaboration with traditional healers is vital to engage the traditional healers on performing safe treatments and to encourage victims to receive proper treatment at healthcare facilities.

Fifth, health system should be further strengthened to ensure appropriate snakebite management especially efficient use of antivenom with support from the local clinical practice guidelines, training for healthcare professionals, clinical consultation services, and snakebite identification services with the goal of better outcomes of snakebite victims. Healthcare professionals should also be trained periodically to remind the current practices since some might not be familiar with snakebite or snakebite rarely occurs in their hospitals.

Lastly, international collaboration should be expanded to multi-stakeholder alliance from public and private sectors in ASEAN. There is an opportunity for the PAAV consortium to further raise awareness of policymakers on the burden of snakebite and advocate development of informed strategic solutions especially through capacity building to strengthen health management system to address this neglected snakebite issue in ASEAN. There is the need to develop snakebite and antivenom accessibility index to monitor the situation over time. This index can be helpful to evaluate situation and identify areas that could be rectified through collaborative strategic efforts to improve overall population health.

In conclusion, improving the situation of snakebite and antivenom is not only about the availability of antivenom, but the whole landscape of surrounding management and supporting system. The assessment of the situation of snakebite and antivenom is crucial for countries or regions where

snakebites are prevalent to recognize their current standpoint to inform the development of strategies to address snakebite problems in ASEAN countries.



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

REFERENCES

1. World Health Organization. Snakebite envenoming: Geneva: World Health Organization;

2018 [February 26, 2019]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-

sheets/detail/snakebite-envenoming.

2. Patikorn C, Leelavanich D, Ismail AK, Othman I, Taychakhoonavudh S, Chaiyakunapruk N.

Global systematic review of cost of illness and economic evaluation studies associated with

snakebite. J Glob Health. 2020;10(2).

3. Kasturiratne A, Pathmeswaran A, Wickremasinghe AR, Jayamanne SF, Dawson A, Isbister

GK, et al. The socio-economic burden of snakebite in Sri Lanka. PLoS Negl Trop Dis.

2017;11(7):e0005647.

4. World Health Organization. Venomous snakes and antivenoms search interface 2010 [cited

2021 Apr 20]. Available from:

https://apps.who.int/bloodproducts/snakeantivenoms/database/default.htm.

5. World Health Organization. Guidelines for the management of snake-bites in South-East Asia. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.

CHILLAL ONGKODN HNIVED

6. Waiddyanatha S, Silva A, Siribaddana S, Isbister GK. Long-term effects of snake

envenoming. Toxins. 2019;11(4):193.

7. World Health Organization. WHO model list of essential medicines, 20th list (March 2017,

amended August 2017). 2017.

8. Gutiérrez JM, Burnouf T, Harrison RA, Calvete JJ, Kuch U, Warrell DA, et al. A

multicomponent strategy to improve the availability of antivenom for treating snakebite envenoming.

Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2014;92:526-32.
9. Halilu S, Iliyasu G, Hamza M, Chippaux JP, Kuznik A, Habib AG. Snakebite burden in Sub-Saharan Africa: estimates from 41 countries. Toxicon. 2019;159:1-4.

10. World Health Organization. Snakebite envenoming: a strategy for prevention and control

[Internet]. 2019 [cited 2021 Apr 20]. Available from:

https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/324838/9789241515641-eng.pdf.

11. Kasturiratne A, Wickremasinghe AR, de Silva N, Gunawardena NK, Pathmeswaran A,

Premaratna R, et al. The global burden of snakebite: a literature analysis and modelling based on regional estimates of envenoming and deaths. PLoS Med. 2008;5(11):e218.

Association of Southeast Asian Nations. ASEAN Member States [Internet]. [cited 2021 Apr
 Available from: <u>https://asean.org/asean/asean-member-states/</u>.

13]. Available from. <u>https://asean.org/asean/asean-member-states/</u>.

13. Longbottom J, Shearer FM, Devine M, Alcoba G, Chappuis F, Weiss DJ, et al. Vulnerability

to snakebite envenoming: A global mapping of hotspots. The Lancet. 2018;392(10148):673-84.

14. Chippaux J-P. Estimating the global burden of snakebite can help to improve management.PLoS medicine. 2008;5(11):e221.

15. Leong PK, Tan CH, Sim SM, Fung SY, Sumana K, Sitprija V, et al. Cross neutralization of **CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** common Southeast Asian viperid venoms by a Thai polyvalent snake antivenom (Hemato Polyvalent Snake Antivenom). Acta tropica. 2014;132:7-14.

16. World Bank. Population, total [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2021 Apr 13]. Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.TOTL.

17. Ismail AK, Wah TE, Das I, Vasaruchapong T, Weinstein SA. Land Snakes of Medical

Significance in Malaysia: Malaysia Biodiversity Information System (MyBIS); 2017.

18. Sivaganabalan R, Ismail AK, Salleh MS, Mohan K, Tan CH, Adnan A. Guideline on the

Management of Snakebites. Ministry of Health Malaysia; 2017.

 Ashar AM, Lam MC, Zainudin S, Ismail AK. A mobile-based clinical decision support model design for remote snakebite management consultation in Malaysia. J Comput Theor Nanosci.
 2019;16(5-6):2223-32.

20. Chanhome L, Cox MJ, Wilde H, Jintakoon P, Chaiyabutr N, Sitprija V. Venomous snakebite in Thailand I: Medically important snakes. Mil Med. 1998;163(5):310-7.

21. Warrell DA, Looareesuwan S, Theakston RDG, Phillips RE, Chanthavanich P, Viravan C, et

al. Randomized comparative trial of three monospecific antivenoms for bites by the Malayan pit viper (Calloselasma rhodostoma) in southern Thailand: clinical and laboratory correlations. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1986;35(6):1235-47.

22. Suchonwanich N, Wananukul W. Improving access to antidotes and antivenoms, Thailand.Bull World Health Organ. 2018;96(12):853.

23. Yuniasih D, Tejosukmono A, Heriyanto J. Snakebite as a neglected tropical diseases in indonesia: A review. Int J Sci Technol Res. 2020;9(3):6180-5.

24. Nasution MS. [Titration of anti-snake venom serum]. Madjalah Kedokt Indones. 1959;9:475-

504.

จุฬาสงกรณมหาวทยาสย

25. Adiwinata R, Nelwan EJ. Snakebite in Indonesia. Acta Med Indones. 2015;47(4):358-65.

26. Rifaie F, Maharani T, Hamidy A. Where did Venomous Snakes Strike? A Spatial Statistical

Analysis of Snakebite Cases in Bondowoso Regency, Indonesia. Hayati J Biosciences.

2017;24(3):142-8.

27. Weinell JL, Hooper E, Leviton AE, Brown RM. Illustrated Key to the Snakes of the

Philippines. Proc Calif Acad Sci. 2019;66(1):1-49.

28. Tan CH, Palasuberniam P, Blanco FB, Tan KY. Immunoreactivity and neutralization capacity of Philippine cobra antivenom against Naja philippinensis and Naja samarensis venoms. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2021;115(1):78-84.

29. Watt G, Theakston RD. Seasnake bites in a freshwater lake. Am J Trop Med Hyg.

1985;34(4):770-3.

30. Watt G, Theakston RD, Hayes CG, Yambao ML, Sangalang R, Ranoa CP, et al. Positive response to edrophonium in patients with neurotoxic envenoming by cobras (Naja naja philippinensis). A placebo-controlled study. N Engl J Med. 1986;315(23):1444-8.

Watt G, Padre L, Tuazon ML, Hayes CG. Bites by the Philippine cobra (Naja naja philippinensis): an important cause of death among rice farmers. Am J Trop Med Hyg.
1987;37(3):636-9.

Watt G, Padre L, Tuazon L, Theakston RD, Laughlin L. Bites by the Philippine cobra (Naja naja philippinensis): prominent neurotoxicity with minimal local signs. Am J Trop Med Hyg.
1988;39(3):306-11.

Watt G, Padre L, Tuazon ML, Theakston RD, Laughlin LW. Tourniquet application after cobra
CHULALONGKORN CONVERSITY
bite: delay in the onset of neurotoxicity and the dangers of sudden release. Am J Trop Med Hyg.
1988;38(3):618-22.

34. Watt G, Meade BD, Theakston RD, Padre LP, Tuazon ML, Calubaquib C, et al. Comparison of Tensilon and antivenom for the treatment of cobra-bite paralysis. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene. 1989;83(4):570-3.

35. Vongphoumy I, Phongmany P, Sydala S, Prasith N, Reintjes R, Blessmann J. Snakebites in two rural districts in Lao PDR: community-based surveys disclose high incidence of an invisible public health problem. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2015;9(6):e0003887.

36. Vongphoumy I, Chanthilat P, Vilayvong P, Blessmann J. Prospective, consecutive case series of 158 snakebite patients treated at Savannakhet provincial hospital, Lao People's Democratic Republic with high incidence of anaphylactic shock to horse derived F (ab') 2 antivenom. Toxicon. 2016;117:13-21.

37. Le Khac Q. Clinical evaluation of snakebites in Vietnam: A study from Cho Ray hospital.2004.

38. Thang VV, Bao TQQ, Tuyen HD, Krumkamp R, Hai LH, Dang NH, et al. Incidence of snakebites in Can Tho Municipality, Mekong Delta, South Vietnam—Evaluation of the responsible snake species and treatment of snakebite envenoming. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2020;14(6):e0008430.
39. Patra A, Mukherjee AK. Assessment of snakebite burdens, clinical features of envenomation, and strategies to improve snakebite management in Vietnam. Acta Tropica.

2021:105833.

40. Leviton A, Zug G, Vindum J, Wogan G. Handbook to the dangerously venomous snakes of Myanmar. Calif Acad Sci. 2008.

41. Mahmood MA, Halliday D, Cumming R, Thwin K-T, Zu Kyaw MM, White J, et al. Snakebite CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY incidence in two townships in Mandalay Division, Myanmar. PLoS Negl Trop Dis.

2018;12(7):e0006643.

42. Schioldann E, Mahmood MA, Kyaw MM, Halliday D, Thwin KT, Chit NN, et al. Why snakebite patients in Myanmar seek traditional healers despite availability of biomedical care at hospitals? Community perspectives on reasons. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2018;12(2):e0006299.

43. White J, Mahmood MA, Alfred S, Thwin KT, Kyaw KM, Zaw A, et al. A comprehensive

approach to managing a neglected, neglected tropical disease; The Myanmar Snakebite Project

(MSP). Toxicon: X. 2019;1.

44. World Health Organization. Snakebite envenoming: Prevalence of snakebite envenoming

2019 [Available from: https://www.who.int/snakebites/epidemiology/en/.

45. World Health Organization. Global snakebite burden 2018 [Available from:

http://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/WHA71/A71_17-en.pdf.

46. Gampini S, Nassouri S, Chippaux J-P, Semde R. Retrospective study on the incidence of envenomation and accessibility to antivenom in Burkina Faso. Journal of Venomous Animals and Toxins including Tropical Diseases. 2016;22(1):10.

47. Mohapatra B, Warrell DA, Suraweera W, Bhatia P, Dhingra N, Jotkar RM, et al. Snakebite mortality in India: a nationally representative mortality survey. PLoS neglected tropical diseases. 2011;5(4):e1018.

48. Chandler J, Churchill R, Higgins J, Lasserson T, Tovey D. Methodological standards for the conduct of new Cochrane Intervention Reviews Version 2.3 (2013). Methodological expectations of Cochrane intervention reviews (MECIR). 2016.

49. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. Annals of internal medicine. 2009;151(4):264-9.

50. Larg A, Moss JR. Cost-of-illness studies: a guide to critical evaluation. Pharmacoeconomics.

2011;29(8):653-71.

51. Drummond MF, Sculpher MJ, Claxton K, Stoddart GL, Torrance GW. Methods for the economic evaluation of health care programmes: Oxford university press; 2015.

52. Husereau D, Drummond M, Petrou S, Carswell C, Moher D, Greenberg D. Force CT.

Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards (CHEERS) statement. Value Health.

2013;16(2):e1-5.

53. The World Bank. World Bank Country and Lending Groups - Country Classification 2019 [Available from: <u>https://datahelpdesk.worldbank.org/knowledgebase/articles/906519-world-bank-</u> country-and-lending-groups.

54. Turner HC, Lauer JA, Tran BX, Teerawattananon Y, Jit M. Adjusting for Inflation and

Currency Changes Within Health Economic Studies. Value in Health. 2019.

55. The World Bank. Inflation, GDP deflator: linked series (annual %) 2019 [Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.DEFL.KD.ZG.AD.

56. The World Bank. Official exchange rate (LCU per US\$, period average) 2019 [Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/PA.NUS.FCRF.

57. The World Bank. GDP (current US\$) 2019 [Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/ny.gdp.mktp.cd.

58. Curran-Sills G, Kroeker J. Venomous Snakebites in Canada: A National Review of Patient

Epidemiology and Antivenom Usage. Wilderness & environmental medicine. 2018;29(4):437-45.

59. Fowler AL, Hughes DW, Muir MT, VanWert EM, Gamboa CD, Myers JG. Resource Utilization After Snakebite Severity Score Implementation into Treatment Algorithm of Crotaline Bite. The Journal of emergency medicine. 2017;53(6):854-61.

60. Lopoo JB, Bealer JF, Mantor PC, Tuggle DW. Treating the snakebitten child in North

America: a study of pit viper bites. Journal of pediatric surgery. 1998;33(11):1593-5.

61. Narra A, Lie E, Hall M, Macy M, Alpern E, Shah SS, et al. Resource utilization of pediatric patients exposed to venom. Hospital pediatrics. 2014;4(5):276-82.

62. Saz-Parkinson Z, del Pino Luengo M, Lopez-Cuadrado T, Andujar D, Carmona-Alferez R,

Flores RM, et al. Approach to the epidemiology of venomous bites in Spain. Toxicon. 2012;60(4):706-

11.

63. Habib AG, Lamorde M, Dalhat MM, Habib ZG, Kuznik A. Cost-effectiveness of antivenoms for snakebite envenoming in Nigeria. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2015;9(1):e3381.

64. Hamza M, Idris MA, Maiyaki MB, Lamorde M, Chippaux JP, Warrell DA, et al. Cost-Effectiveness of Antivenoms for Snakebite Envenoming in 16 Countries in West Africa. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2016;10(3):e0004568.

65. Herzel BJ, Samuel SP, Bulfone TC, Raj CS, Lewin M, Kahn JG. Snakebite: An Exploratory Cost-Effectiveness Analysis of Adjunct Treatment Strategies. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2018;99(2):404-

12.

66. Gampini S, Nassouri S, Chippaux JP, Semde R. Retrospective study on the incidence of envenomation and accessibility to antivenom in Burkina Faso. The journal of venomous animals and toxins including tropical diseases. 2016;22:10.

67. Mashhadi I, Kavousi Z, Peymani P, Salman Zadeh Ramhormozi S, Keshavarz K. Economic
burden of scorpion sting and snake bite from a social perspective in Iran. Shiraz E Medical Journal.
2017;18(8).

68. Bachan V, Tatkan G, Adu-Krow W. Transportation (medical evacuations) of snake bitten persons from the Hinterland Regions in Guyana: Cost analysis. West Indian Medical Journal. 2017;66:43.

69. Darryl W, Sartorius B, Hift R. Estimating the Burden of Snakebite on Public Hospitals in KwaZulu Natal, South Africa. Wilderness & environmental medicine. 2016;27(1):53-61.

70. Gupt A, Bhatnagar T, Murthy BN. Epidemiological profile and management of snakebite cases - A cross sectional study from Himachal Pradesh, India. Clinical Epidemiology and Global Health. 2015;3:S96-S100.

71. Hasan SM, Basher A, Molla AA, Sultana NK, Faiz MA. The impact of snake bite on household economy in Bangladesh. Tropical doctor. 2012;42(1):41-3.

72. Kasilo OM, Nhachi CF. A retrospective study of poisoning due to snake venom in

Zimbabwe. Human & experimental toxicology. 1993;12(1):15-8.

73. Meena VK, Atray M, Agrawal A. Evaluation of drug utilization pattern in indoor patients of medicine department at tertiary care teaching hospital in southern Rajasthan. International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Research. 2016;7(9):3835-40.

74. Michael GC, Thacher TD, Shehu MI. The effect of pre-hospital care for venomous snake bite on outcome in Nigeria. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene.

2011;105(2):95-101.

75. Nikfar S, Khatibi M, Abdollahi-Asl A, Abdollahi M. Cost and utilization study of antidotes: An Iranian experience. International Journal of Pharmacology. 2011;7(1):46-9.

76. Qureshi H, Alam SE, Mustufa MA, Nomani NK, Asnani JL, Sharif M. Comparative cost and efficacy trial of Pakistani versus Indian anti snake venom. JPMA The Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association. 2013;63(9):1129-32.

77. Ramanath KV, Anitha C, Junied S. Study on snake bite poisoning and it's outcomes in a

Rural Tertiary Care Hospital. Research Journal of Pharmaceutical, Biological and Chemical Sciences.

2016;7(5):1875-89.

78. Sotelo N. Review of treatment and complications in 79 children with rattlesnake bite. Clinical pediatrics. 2008;47(5):483-9.

79. Tagwireyi DD, Ball DE, Nhachi CF. Routine prophylactic antibiotic use in the management of snakebite. BMC clinical pharmacology. 2001;1:4.

80. Sharma SK, Chappuis F, Jha N, Bovier PA, Loutan L, Koirala S. Impact of snake bites and determinants of fatal outcomes in Southeastern Nepal. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2004;71(2):234-8.

Vaiyapuri S, Vaiyapuri R, Ashokan R, Ramasamy K, Nattamaisundar K, Jeyaraj A, et al.
 Snakebite and its socio-economic impact on the rural population of Tamil Nadu, India. PLoS One.
 2013;8(11):e80090.

82. Ediriweera DS, Kasturiratne A, Pathmeswaran A, Gunawardena NK, Jayamanne SF, Lalloo DG, et al. Health seeking behavior following snakebites in Sri Lanka: Results of an island wide community based survey. PLoS neglected tropical diseases. 2017;11(11):e0006073-e.

83. Patikorn C, Ismail AK, Abidin SAZ, Blanco FB, Blessmann J, Choumlivong K, et al. Situation of snakebite, antivenom market, and access to antivenom in ASEAN countries. BMJ Global Health. 2022;0:e007639.

84. Habib AG, Kuznik A, Hamza M, Abdullahi MI, Chedi BA, Chippaux JP, et al. Snakebite is
Under Appreciated: Appraisal of Burden from West Africa. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2015;9(9):e0004088.
85. Ahmed S, Koudou GB, Bagot M, Drabo F, Bougma WR, Pulford C, et al. Health and
economic burden estimates of snakebite management upon health facilities in three regions of
southern Burkina Faso. PLoS neglected tropical diseases. 2021;15(6):e0009464.

86. Shafie NA, Fauzi H, Wahab M, Senek M, Ismail A. The prevalence of hypersensitivity reactions to snake antivenoms administered in sultanah nur zahirah hospital from 2013 to 2016. Med J Malaysia. 2020;75(3):217.

87. Thiansookon A, Rojnuckarin P. Low incidence of early reactions to horse-derived F (ab') 2 antivenom for snakebites in Thailand. Acta tropica. 2008;105(2):203-5.

Watt G, Padre L, Tuazon ML, Hayes CG. Bites by the Philippine cobra (Naja naja philippinensis): an important cause of death among rice farmers. Am J Trop Med Hyg.
1987;37(3):636-9.

89. National Health Security Office, Thailand. Report on the creation of the National Health Security for fiscal year BE 2562 (AD 2019). Bangkok, Thailand; 2019.

90. Mitrakul C, Dhamkrong-At A, Futrakul P, Thisyakorn C, Vongsrisart K, Varavithya C, et al.

Clinical features of neurotoxic snake bite and response to antivenom in 47 children. Am J Trop Med

Hyg. 1984;33(6):1258-66.

91. Wongtongkam N, Wilde H, Sitthi-Amorn C, Ratanabanangkoon K. A study of Thai cobra (Naja kaouthia) bites in Thailand. Military medicine. 2005;170(4):336-41.

92. Wongtongkam N, Wilde H, Sitthi-Amorn C, Ratanabanangkoon K. A study of 225 Malayan pit viper bites in Thailand. Military Medicine. 2005;170(4):342-8.

93. Hutton RA, Looareesuwanzj S, Ho M, Silamut K, Chanthavanich P, Karbwang J, et al.
Arboreal green pit vipers (genus Trimeresurus) of south-east Asia: Bites by T. albolabris and T.
macrops in Thailand and a review of the literature. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 1990;84(6):866-74.
94. Mitrakul C, Juzi U, Pongrujikorn W. Antivenom therapy in Russell's viper bite. Am J Clin

Pathol. 1991;95(3):412-7.

95. Viravan C, Looareesuwan S, Kosakam W, Wuthiekanun V, McCarthy CJ, Stimson AF, et al. A national hospital-based survey of snakes responsible for bites in Thailand. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 1992;86(1):100-6.

96. Rojnuckarin P, Mahasandana S, Intragumthornchai T, Sutcharitchan P, Swasdikul D.

Prognostic factors of green pit viper bites. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1998;58(1):22-5.

97. Rojnuckarin P, Intragumtornchai T, Sattapiboon R, Muanpasitporn C, Pakmanee N, Khow O, et al. The effects of green pit viper (Trimeresurus albolabris and Trimeresurus macrops) venom on the fibrinolytic system in human. Toxicon. 1999;37(5):743-55.

98. Chotenimitkhun R, Rojnuckarin P. Systemic antivenom and skin necrosis after green pit viper bites. Clin Toxicol (Phila). 2008;46(2):122-5.

99. Laohawiriyakamol S, Sangkhathat S, Chiengkriwate P, Patrapinyokul S. Surgery in

management of snake envenomation in children. World J Pediatr. 2011;7(4):361-4.

100. Tongpoo A, Sriapha C, Pradoo A, Udomsubpayakul U, Srisuma S, Wananukul W, et al. Krait envenomation in Thailand. Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management. 2018;14:1711-7.

101. Thumtecho S, Tangtrongchitr T, Srisuma S, Kaewrueang T, Rittilert P, Pradoo A, et al.

Hematotoxic manifestations and management of green pit viper bites in Thailand. Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management. 2020;16:695.

102. Malasit P, Warrell DA, Chanthavanich P, Viravan C, Mongkolsapaya J, Singhthong B, et al. Prediction, prevention, and mechanism of early (anaphylactic) antivenom reactions in victims of snake bites. British Medical Journal (Clinical research ed). 1986;292(6512):17-20.

103. Pongpit J, Limpawittayakul P, Juntiang J, Akkawat B, Rojnuckarin P. The role of prothrombin time (PT) in evaluating green pit viper (Cryptelytrops sp) bitten patients. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.

2012;106(7):415-8.

104. Habib AG, Warrell DA. Antivenom therapy of carpet viper (Echis ocellatus) envenoming: effectiveness and strategies for delivery in West Africa. Toxicon. 2013;69:82-9.

105. Jiranantakan T, Pantumongkol W, Uansri S, Wisaiprom J, Tantivess S, Leelahavarong P, et

al. Budget Impact, Output and Outcome Analysis of Thailand National Antidote Project [Internet].

Health Intervention and Technology Assessment Program, Thailand; 2019 [Available from:

https://www.hitap.net/en/research/174746.

106. Pochanugool C, Limthongkul S, Wilde H. Management of Thai cobra bites with a single bolus of antivenin. Wilderness and Environmental Medicine. 1997;8(1):20-3.

107. Trishnananda M, Oonsombat P, Dumavibhat B, Yongchaiyudha S, Boonyapisit V. Clinical manifestations of cobra bite in the Thai farmer. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 1979;28(1):165-6.

108. Buranasin P. Snakebites at Maharat Nakhon Ratchasima Regional Hospital. The Southeast Asian journal of tropical medicine and public health. 1993;24(1):186-92.

109. Pochanugool C, Wilde H, Bhanganada K, Chanhome L, Cox MJ, Chaiyabutr N, et al.

Venomous snakebite in Thailand II: Clinical experience. Military Medicine. 1998;163(5):318-23.

110. Salomon JA, Haagsma JA, Davis A, de Noordhout CM, Polinder S, Havelaar AH, et al.

Disability weights for the Global Burden of Disease 2013 study. The Lancet Global Health.

2015;3(11):e712-e23.

111. Attorney General's Chambers Malaysia. Fees (Medical) (Cost of Services) Order 2014.Federal Government Gazette; 2014.

112. Menteri Kesehatan Republik Indonesia. Peraturan Menteri Kesehatan Republik Indonesia Nomor 63 Tahun 2014 tentang Pengadaan Obat Berdasarkan Katalog Elektronik (E-catalogue).

2014.

113. Edillo FE, Halasa YA, Largo FM, Erasmo JNV, Amoin NB, Alera MTP, et al. Economic cost and burden of dengue in the Philippines. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2015;92(2):360-6.

114. Department of Health, Republic of the Philippines. Drug Price Reference Index [Internet]. [Available from: <u>https://dpri.doh.gov.ph/index.php?page=search</u>. 115. Maternal and Reproductive Health Division, Department of Public Health Myanmar. Costed implementation plan to meet family planning 2020 commitments of Myanmar. Strategic prioritization of implementation 2018-2020 [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2021 May 10]. Available from:

https://www.familyplanning2020.org/sites/default/files/myanmar_cip_2018.10.pdf.

116. Flessa S, Dung NT. Costing of services of Vietnamese hospitals: identifying costs in one central, two provincial and two district hospitals using a standard methodology. The international journal of health planning and management. 2004;19(1):63-77.

117. Riewpaiboon A. Standard cost lists for health economic evaluation in Thailand. Journal of the Medical Association of Thailand= Chotmaihet Thangphaet. 2014;97:S127-34.

118. Pharmaceutical Services Programme, Ministry of Health Malaysia,. Consumer Price Guide [Internet]. [cited 2021 May 15]. Available from: https://www.pharmacy.gov.my/v2/en/apps/drug-price.

119. Chong HY, Lim YH, Prawjaeng J, Tassaneeyakul W, Mohamed Z, Chaiyakunapruk N. Costeffectiveness analysis of HLA-B* 58: 01 genetic testing before initiation of allopurinol therapy to prevent allopurinol-induced Stevens–Johnson syndrome/toxic epidermal necrolysis in a Malaysian population. Pharmacogenetics and genomics. 2018;28(2):56-67.

120. Riewpaiboon A. Economic burden of hand, foot, and mouth disease in Vietnam; An evidence for priority setting and efficiency management.

121. Vodicka E, Zimmermann M, Lopez AL, Silva MW, Gorgolon L, Kohei T, et al. Japanese encephalitis vaccination in the Philippines: A cost-effectiveness analysis comparing alternative delivery strategies. Vaccine. 2020;38(13):2833-40.

122. Division of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Ministry of Health Malaysia (MOH).

Pharmacoeconomic guideline for Malaysia. Putrajaya, Malaysia; 2012.

123. Teerawattananon Y. Guidelines for health technology assessment in Thailand (second edition). J Med Assoc Thai. 2014;97(5):S4–9.

124. Indonesian Health Technology Assessment Committee MoHotRol. Health Technology Assessment (HTA) guideline.

125. World Bank. GDP per capita (current LCU) [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2021 Apr 16]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CN.

126. World Bank. GDP per capita growth (annual %) [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2021 Apr 16]. Available from: <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.KD.ZG</u>.

127. Mathers CD, Vos T, Lopez AD, Salomon J, Ezzati M. National burden of disease studies: a practical guide. Geneva: World Health Organization. 2001.

128. Khosrojerdi H, Amini M. Acute and delayed stress symptoms following snakebite. Asia

Pacific Journal of Medical Toxicology. 2013;2(4):140-4.

129. Kessler RC, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, Alonso J, Benjet C, Bromet EJ, Cardoso G, et al. Trauma and PTSD in the WHO world mental health surveys. European journal of psychotraumatology.

2017;8(sup5):1353383.

130. Ferry FR, Brady SE, Bunting BP, Murphy SD, Bolton D, O'Neill SM. The economic burden of PTSD in Northern Ireland. Journal of traumatic stress. 2015;28(3):191-7.

131. Vos T, Lim SS, Abbafati C, Abbas KM, Abbasi M, Abbasifard M, et al. Global burden of 369

diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global

Burden of Disease Study 2019. The Lancet. 2020;396(10258):1204-22.

132. Patikorn C, Blessmann J, Nwe MT, Tiglao PJG, Vasaruchapong T, Maharani T, et al.

Estimating economic and disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN countries using a decision analytic

model. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2022;16(9):e0010775.

133. Husereau D, Drummond M, Augustovski F, de Bekker-Grob E, Briggs AH, Carswell C, et al. Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards 2022 (CHEERS 2022) Explanation and Elaboration: A Report of the ISPOR CHEERS II Good Practices Task Force. Value in health: the journal of the International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research. 2022;25(1).

134. Patikorn C, Ismail AK, Abidin SAZ, Othman I, Taychakhoonavudh S, Chaiyakunapruk N.

Estimating economic and disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN countries using a decision analytic

model. Manuscript submitted for publication. 2022.

135. World Bank. Official exchange rate (LCU per US\$, period average) [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2021 Apr 16]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/PA.NUS.FCRF.

136. Genuino AJ, Guerrero AM, Reungwetwattana T, Thakkinstian A. Cost-utility analysis of adjuvant trastuzumab therapy for HER2-positive early-stage breast cancer in the Philippines. BMC Health Serv Res. 2019;19(1):1-12.

137. Alfred S, Bates D, White J, Mahmood MA, Warrell DA, Thwin KT, et al. Acute Kidney Injury Following Eastern Russell's Viper (Daboia siamensis) Snakebite in Myanmar. Kidney Intl Rep.

 CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

 138. Aye KP, Thanachartwet V, Soe C, Desakorn V, Thwin KT, Chamnanchanunt S, et al. Clinical

 and laboratory parameters associated with acute kidney injury in patients with snakebite

 envenomation: a prospective observational study from Myanmar. BMC Nephrol. 2017;18(1):92.

 139. Waikhom R, Makkar V, Sarkar D, Patil K, Singh A, Bennikal M. Acute kidney injury following

 Russell's viper bite in the pediatric population: a 6-year experience. Pediatr Nephrol.

2013;28(12):2393-6.

2019;4(9):1337-41.

140. Sharma SK, Bovier P, Jha N, Alirol E, Loutan L, Chappuis F. Effectiveness of rapid transport of victims and community health education on snake bite fatalities in rural Nepal. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene. 2013;89(1):145.

141. Sharma SK, Chappuis F, Jha N, Bovier PA, Loutan L, Koirala S. Impact of snake bites and determinants of fatal outcomes in Southeastern Nepal. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2004;71(2):234-8.

142. León G, Vargas M, Segura Á, Herrera M, Villalta M, Sánchez A, et al. Current technology for the industrial manufacture of snake antivenoms. Toxicon. 2018;151:63-73.

143. Drugs and Medical Supplies Information Center (DMSIC), Ministry of Public Health Thailand.Reference drug price [Internet]. [cited 2021 May 12]. Available from:

http://dmsic.moph.go.th/price/price1 1.php?method=drug.

144. Chanthawong S, Lim YH, Subongkot S, Chan A, Andalusia R, Bustamam RSA, et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis of olanzapine-containing antiemetic therapy for managing highly emetogenic chemotherapy in Southeast Asia: a multinational study. Supportive Care in Cancer. 2019;27(3):1109-19.

145. Lam A, Zaim M, Helmy H, Ramdhan I. Economic Impact of Managing Acute Diabetic Foot Infection in a Tertiary Hospital in Malaysia. Malaysian Orthopaedic Journal. 2014;8(1):46.

APPENDICES



APPENDIX A GLOBAL SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF COST OF ILLNESS AND ECONOMIC EVALUATION STUDIES ASSOCIATED WITH SNAKEBITE

Table A1 PRISMA checklist.

Table A2 Full search strategies.

Table A3 Methodological characteristics of the included cost of illness studies associated with

snakebites.

Table A4 Methodological characteristics of the included economic evaluation studies associated

with snakebites.

Table A5 Cost components reported in the included cost of illness studies associated with

snakebites.

Table A6 Quality assessment of the included cost of illness studies associated with snakebites.

Table A6 Quality assessment of included economic evaluation studies associated with snakebites.

Table A7 Cost estimates per episode of snakebite in US\$ 2018.

Table A8 Summary of findings of included economic evaluation studies associated with snakebites.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Reported on page #		Title		3.1 Abstract s of key		3.2 Introduction	3.2 Introduction		stration 3.3 Methods
Checklist item		Identify the report as a systematic review, meta-analysis, or both.		Provide a structured summary including, as applicable: background; objectives; data sources; study eligibility criteria, participants, and interventions; study appraisal and synthesis methods; results; limitations; conclusions and implication findings; systematic review registration number.		Describe the rationale for the review in the context of what is already known.	Provide an explicit statement of questions being addressed with reference to participants, interventions, comparisons, outcomes, and study design (PICOS).		Indicate if a review protocol exists, if and where it can be accessed (e.g., Web address), and, if available, provide regis
#		-		N		с	4		5
Section/topic	TITLE	Title	ABSTRACT	Structured summary	INTRODUCTION	Rationale	Objectives	METHODS	Protocol and registration

Table A9 PRISMA checklist.

Sertion/tonic	#	Checklist tiem	Reported
	±		on page #
		information including registration number.	
Eligibility criteria	9	Specify study characteristics (e.g., PICOS, length of follow-up) and report characteristics (e.g., years considered, language,	3.3.1 Data source,
		publication status) used as criteria for eligibility, giving rationale.	search strategy, and
			eligibility criteria
Information sources	7	Describe all information sources (e.g., databases with dates of coverage, contact with study authors to identify additional	3.3.1 Data source,
		studies) in the search and date last searched.	search strategy, and
		หาวิ พ U	eligibility criteria
Search	ω	Present full electronic search strategy for at least one database, including any limits used, such that it could be repeated.	3.3.1 Data source,
		าลัย ERS	search strategy, and
		9 ITY	eligibility criteria,
			Table A2
Study selection	0	State the process for selecting studies (i.e., screening, eligibility, included in systematic review, and, if applicable, included in	3.3.2 Study selection
		the meta-analysis).	and data extraction
Data collection process	10	Describe method of data extraction from reports (e.g., piloted forms, independently, in duplicate) and any processes for	3.3.2 Study selection

Section/tonic	#	Checklist tiem	Reported
			on page #
		obtaining and confirming data from investigators.	and data extraction
Data items	11	List and define all variables for which data were sought (e.g., PICOS, funding sources) and any assumptions and	3.3.2 Study selection
	_	simplifications made.	and data extraction
Risk of bias in individual	12	Describe methods used for assessing risk of bias of individual studies (including specification of whether this was done at the	3.3.3 Quality
studies	_	study or outcome level), and how this information is to be used in any data synthesis.	assessment
Summary measures	13	State the principal summary measures (e.g., risk ratio, difference in means).	N/A
Synthesis of results	14	Describe the methods of handling data and combining results of studies, if done, including measures of consistency (e.g., l ²) for each meta-analysis,	N/A
Risk of bias across studies	15	Specify any assessment of risk of bias that may affect the cumulative evidence (e.g., publication bias, selective reporting within studies).	N/A
Additional analyses	16	Describe methods of additional analyses (e.g., sensitivity or subgroup analyses, meta-regression), if done, indicating which	N/A
		were pre-specified.	
RESULTS			

Saction/tonic	#	Checklist item	Reported
	:		on page #
Study selection	17	Give numbers of studies screened, assessed for eligibility, and included in the review, with reasons for exclusions at each	3.4.1 Study selection,
		stage, ideally with a flow diagram.	Figure 2
Study characteristics	18	For each study, present characteristics for which data were extracted (e.g., study size, PICOS, follow-up period) and provide	3.4.2 Study
		the citations.	characteristics, Table 1,
			Tables A3 and A4
Risk of bias within studies	19	Present data on risk of bias of each study and, if available, any outcome level assessment (see item 12).	3.4.3 Quality
		ил ²	assessment, Tables A6
			and A7
Results of individual studies	20	For all outcomes considered (benefits or harms), present, for each study: (a) simple summary data for each intervention group (b) effect estimates and confidence intervals, ideally with a forest plot.	Table S5
Synthesis of results	21	Present results of each meta-analysis done, including confidence intervals and measures of consistency.	N/A
Risk of bias across studies	22	Present results of any assessment of risk of bias across studies (see Item 15).	N/A
Additional analysis	23	Give results of additional analyses, if done (e.g., sensitivity or subgroup analyses, meta-regression [see Item 16]).	N/A
DISCUSSION			

Cartion/Ponic	#	Charterist item	Reported
	ŧ		on page #
Summary of evidence	24	Summarize the main findings including the strength of evidence for each main outcome; consider their relevance to key groups	3.5 Discussion
		(e.g., healthcare providers, users, and policy makers).	
Limitations	25	Discuss limitations at study and outcome level (e.g., risk of bias), and at review-level (e.g., incomplete retrieval of identified	3.5 Discussion
		research, reporting bias).	
Conclusions	26	Provide a general interpretation of the results in the context of other evidence, and implications for future research.	3.6 Conclusion
FUNDING			
Funding	27	Describe sources of funding for the systematic review and other support (e.g., supply of data); role of funders for the	
		systematic review.	

From: Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, The PRISMA Group (2009). Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: The PRISMA

Statement. PLoS Med 6(7): e1000097. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed1000097

Table A10 Full search strategies.

Searches were conducted for articles published up to 31 July 2019.

1. PubMed

Search number	Search terms	Results
#1	snake*	25363
#2	burden OR economic* OR cost* OR "cost of illness" OR resource OR expenditure	1481775
#3	"economic evaluation" OR "cost-effectiveness" OR "cost-utility" OR "cost-benefit"	113425
#4	#2 OR #3	1481775
#5	#1 AND #4	1317

2. EMBASE (via Elsevier)

	and a second distance and a second se	
Search number	Search terms	Results
#1	snake*	23162
#2	burden OR economic* OR cost* OR "cost of illness" OR resource OR expenditure	1527675
#3	"economic evaluation" OR "cost-effectiveness" OR "cost-utility" OR "cost-benefit"	214963
#4	#2 OR #3	1527675
#5	#1 AND #4	1783

3. Cochrane library

Search number	Search terms	Results
#1	snake*	458
#2	burden OR economic* OR cost* OR "cost of illness" OR resource OR expenditure	108006
#3	"economic evaluation" OR "cost-effectiveness" OR "cost-utility" OR "cost-benefit"	26054
#4	#2 OR #3	108006
#5	#1 AND #4	48

4. EconLit (via EBSCO)

Search number	Search terms	Results
#1	snake*	107
#2	burden OR economic* OR cost* OR "cost of illness" OR resource OR expenditure	1259448
#3	"economic evaluation" OR "cost-effectiveness" OR "cost-utility" OR "cost-benefit"	12663
#4	#2 OR #3	1259448
#5	#1 AND #4	89

Additional searches in health economic databases

1. Health Economic Evaluation Database (HEED)

HEED ceased to publish and was inaccessible since 2014.

2. Tuft's Cost-effectiveness Analysis (CEA) Registry

Search found no result.

3. Health Technology Assessment Database

Search found no result.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

ocion/	Contraction	Author woor	Dorenootivo	Ctudy nonulation	Ctudy cotting	Chudy noriod	Comple cite	Churchy	Chick	Currenter	Direct cost	Indiract cost	Courses of	Courses of
	f mono	mod (ionimus		toppool (ppp)		noind famo		cours)	(nnn)	can and			00000	5 00 000
ome			_					design	approach	(Costing	estimation	estimation	resource	price
onomies										year)	method	method	utilization	
ist Asia and P ₆	acific													
wer-middle	Myanmar	Schioldann,	Patient	Snakebite victims	Three villages in	2016	158 participants	cs	PB	MMK, USD	Bottom-up		Interview	Interview
		2018 42			Mandalay					(NR)				
Irope and Cen	tral Asia			C										
gh	Spain	Saz-	Health	Envenomed snakebite	Nationwide	1997-2009	1649 patients	ы	PB	EUR (NR)	Bottom-up		Database	Listed price
		Parkinson, 2012 ⁶²	system	patients		J								
atin America an	d Caribbean			ล				N CO A						
pper-middle	Guyana	Bachan, 2017	Societal	Snakebite patients	Five hinder land	2011-2015	57 patients	R	PB	USD (NR)	Bottom-up		Database	Listed price,
		68		required medical	regions									Literature
				evacuation	X.		K A	11/1						
Ipper-middle	Mexico	Sotelo, 2008 78	Provider	Snakebite children	One children	1977-2006	79 patients	R	PB	MXN (NR)	Bottom-up		Chart	Listed price
				I M RN	hospital in			10						
				าวิ U	Northwestern			7/IIII	12					
Aiddle East and	North Africa			'n		No and								
Jpper-middle	Iran	Nikfar, 2011 ⁷⁵	Health	Patients required	Nationwide	2004-2008	N/A	R	PB	IRR (NR)	Bottom-up		Database,	Listed price
			system	antidotes			(national data)	A					Interview,	
				์ รเ)								Literature	
Jpper-middle	Iran	Mashhadi,	Societal	Snakebite and	Three hospitals in	January to	655 patients	CS	В	I\$ (NR)	Bottom-up	Human-capital	Chart,	Interview,
		2017 67		scorpion sting	Ahvaz	December							Interview	Listed price
				patients		2015								
lorth America														
igh	Canada	Curran-Sills,	Provider	Snakebite patients	Nationwide	January 2008	99 patients	R	PB	USD (2017)	Bottom-up		Chart	Market price
		2018 ⁵⁸				to April 2016								
ligh	United	Lopoo, 1998 ⁶⁰	Provider	Snakebite children	One referral children	1987-1997	37 patients	ы	PB	USD (NR)	Bottom-up		Chart	Listed price
	States		_		hospital in									
					Oklahoma									
ligh	United	Narra, 2014 ⁶¹	Societal	Envenomed children	Thirty-three tertiary	2009	2755 patients	R	ЪВ	USD (NR)	Bottom-up		Database	Listed price
	States				children's hospitals									
High	United	Fowler, 2017	Provider	Crotaline Snakebite	One regional	January 2010	146 patients	R	PB	USD (NR)	Bottom-up		Database	Market price

Table A3 Methodological characteristics of the included cost of illness studies associated with snakebites.

98

Region/	Country	Author, year	Perspective	Study population	Study setting	Study period	Sample size	Study	Study	Currency	Direct cost	Indirect cost	Source of	Source of
Income								design	approach	(Costing	estimation	estimation	resource	price
economies										year)	method	method	utilization	
	States	59		patients	hospital in Texas	to November								
						2014								
South Asia														
Upper-middle	Sri Lanka	Kasturiratne,	Societal	Snakebite victims	All households in	August 2012 to	695 victims	CS, M	PB	LKR, USD	Bottom-up	Human-capital	Database,	Interview,
		2017 ³		(nine provinces	June 2013	(44,136			(NR)			Interview	Listed price
				Cı			households)							
Lower-middle	Bangladesh	Hasan, 2012	Patient	Snakebite patients	Four rural tertiary	June to	83 patients	Ь	PB	USD (NR)	Bottom-up	Human-capital	Interview	Market
		71		JL	level hospitals	October 2006	N B L							price,
				าส AL				Car A.						Interview,
Lower-middle	India	Vaiyapuri,	Patient	Snakebite victims	Thirty villages in	November to	1115 victims	cs	PB	EUR, INR	Bottom-up	Human-capital	Interview	Interview
		2013 ⁸¹		ก' N(rural Tami Nadu	December	(7578	/ AIN		(NR)				
				51 GK		2010	households)	NV10	Ulles					
Lower-middle	India	Gupt, 2015 ⁷⁰	Provider	Snakebite patients	One hospital in	January 2008	497 patients	R	PB	INR, USD	Bottom-up		Chart	Listed price
				ม R	Himachal Pradesh	to December) 6	2]]	(NR)				
				Я <i>'</i> N		2012	A	Theory of						
Lower-middle	India	Meena, 2016	Health	All patients	One tertiary hospital	2014-2015	200 patients	P	PB	INR (NR)	Bottom-up		Chart,	Listed price
		73	system	i y N	in Southern			IL R N	2				Interview	
				IV	Rajasthan				2					
Lower-middle	India	Ramanath,	Provider	Snakebite patients	One rural hospital	January 2011	190 patients	P, R	PB	INR (NR)	Bottom-up		Chart,	Listed price
		2016 77		ล้ เร	25	to February							Interview	
				EJ IT		2015								
Lower-middle	Pakistan	Qureshi, 2013	Health	Envenomed snakebite	Two public-sector	June to	74 patients	Ь	PB	PKR (NR)	Bottom-up		Chart	Listed price
		76	system	adults	hospitals	September								
						2010								
Low	Nepal	Sharma, 2004	Patient	Snakebite victims	Community-based;	December	143 victims	cs	PB	USD (NR)	Bottom-up	Human-capital	Interview	Interview
		80			Five villages in	2001	(1817							
					eastern Terai		households)							
Sub-Saharan Af	rica													
Upper-middle	South Africa	Darryl, 2016 ⁶⁸	Health	Snakebite patients	Fifty-six public	2012-2013	56 hospitals	M, R	PB	USD (NR)	Bottom-up		Chart,	Listed price,
			system		hospitals in KwaZulu								Database	Literature
					Natal									
Lower-middle	Nigeria	Michael, 2011	Societal	Snakebite patients	One 22-bed rural	April to July	72 patients	٩	PB	NGN, USD	Bottom-up		Chart,	Listed price
		74			hospital in central	2006				(NR)			Interview	

Region/	Country	Author vear	Perspective	Study population	Study setting	Study period	Sample size	Study	Study	Currency	Direct cost	Indirect cost	Source of	Source of
	(moo	mod ' houmer							(mag)	(on one of the second				5
economies								design	approacn	(Costing year)	estimation method	estimation method	utilization	price
					Nigeria									
Lower-middle	Zimbabwe	Kasilo, 1993 ⁷²	Provider	Snakebite patients	Six urban major referral hospitals	1980-1989	995 patients	ц	BB	USD, ZWD (NR)	Bottom-up		Chart	Listed price
Lower-middle	Zimbabwe	Tagwireyi, 2001 ⁷⁹	Provider	Uncomplicated envenomed snakebite patients	One large teaching hospital	January 1996 to December 1999	78 patients	ĸ	B	USD, ZWD (2000)	Bottom-up		Chart	Market price
Low	Burkina Faso	Gampini, 2016 66	Patient	Snakebite patients	All public health facilities	2010-2014	N/A (national data)	Ľ	BB	USD (NR)	Bottom-up		Database	Market price
Abbreviation	s: CS – Cross-	-sectional, EUR	- Euro, I\$ - Int	ternational Dollar, IB –	Incidence-based, In	NR - Indian Rup	ee, IRR - Iranian	Rial, LKR –	· Sri Lankan F	Rupee, M – M	odelling, MMK -	- Myanmar Kyat 	, MXN – Mexica	an Peso,
	n of method	ological chará	acteristics o	f included cost of	illness studies		N - Neti Osheorina				ZIIIIDADWEAII L	Olai		
<u>Perspectiv</u> . Eight studie	<u>e</u> es undertoc	yk analysis frc	om the healt	hcare provider's p	erspective 58-60.70.	^{72,77-79} , and five	e studies utiliz	ed health	system's p	oerspective	62,69,73,75,76 AI	l of these stuc	dies only foc	used on
direct med perspective	ical costs s ¹ ,63,68,74 -	uch as antive These studies	enom costs, s incorporate	and hospitalization ed broader scope	n costs. Other flv. of costs including	e studies utili: 3 both direct	zed patient's p and indirect co	berspectiv osts.	/e ^{42,66,71,80,8}	¹ and the re	maining five	studies utilize	ed societal	
<u>Study pop</u> ı Most studié	<i>ulation and</i> es included	<u>setting</u> population fr) age (om all age	groups. Only three	studies focused	on children ⁶⁽	^{0,61,78} , and one	studies fo	Scused on	adult. ⁷⁶ Stu	dies were ca	tegorized fro	m study loca	tion as
hospital-b <i>ɛ</i> studies foc	ased and cc used on sn	ommunity-bas akebite victim	sed study. N	lineteen studies w mmunities to also ii	ere hospital-bas€ nclude those whc	ed study as th did not reac	iey focused on th treatment fa	ıly snaket cilities. ^{3,42}	bite patient	s presentec	d at hospitals	58-62,66-79 While	e the remaini	ng four
<u>Study desi</u>	gn and stuc	dy approach												
Study desi, 62,66,68,72,75,78,	gn was clas ⁷⁹ Cross-se	ssified as cro: ctional studie	ss-sectional s were done	l, modelling, prosp e in four studies. ^{42,6}	ective, and retro: ^{57,80,81} Four studie	spective. Twe s prospective	elve studies co sly collected d	llected da ata from s	ata retrosp snakebite p	ectively usii patients. ^{71,73}	רמי שום שום שרמים שום שרמים שום שום שום שום שום שום שום שום שום שו	edical record: dy collected (s or database data both	3S. ⁵⁸⁻
retrospecti	vely and pr	ospectively. ⁷⁷	⁷ The remair	ning two studies cc	llected data whic	sh were furthe	er used in mod	lelling cos	sts of snak	ebite. ^{3,69}				
Study appr specific pe	roach for co priod of the s	ost of illness s study, usually	study include	es prevalence-bas te of snakebite. Wh	sed and incidence	e-based appr ased estimate	roach. Prevalei ∋s lifetime cost	nt-based is includin	approach	estimates c lated to dis:	ost of illness ability or sequ	of all prevale uelae due to	int cases in th the diseases	ле . Most
									þ					

studies undertook prevalence-based approach ^{3,4,2,5,6,2,6,6,6,8,1}, except one study which estimated costs of productivity loss due to disease and to premature death using incidence-based approach.⁶⁷

Costing year and reported currency

^{3,8,6,6,9,7,1,80}, and International Currencies in nine studies ^{59,42,7,3,76,78}, international currencies in six studies ^{58,66,6,7,1,80}, and International Dollars (a hypothetical currency unit that is Year of cost estimation was reported only in two studies.^{56,79} The costing years of the other 21 studies were not reported. Therefore, they were imputed using the publication year.^{3,42,59,62,66-} designed to capture differences in relative prices across different settings) in one study.⁶⁷ The other seven studies reported their results in both local and international currencies. 3,42,70,72,74,79,81

Direct cost estimation method

Direct costs are commonly quantified using top-down or bottom-up approach. The top-down approach estimates direct costs by allocating aggregate costs at the national level according the resources used by the disease cases. The bottom-up approach quantifies direct costs by calculating the resources used by the disease cases at the patient level. The costs per patient quantified using both approaches can be then extrapolated to national costs using relevant epidemiological data.⁵⁰ In this review, all of the included studies utilized bottom-up approach. ^{3,42,58-62,66-81}

Indirect cost estimation method

estimated indirect costs due to snakebite, all of which utilized human-capital approach.^{3,67,71,80,81} Therefore, only these studies could be considered as economic capital or friction cost approach. Human-capital approach values the productivity losses as output lost due inability to fully perform productive activities. While, Indirect costs are costs of productivity losses due to premature death or consequences of the disease. Indirect costs are normally estimated by either humanthe friction cost approach values the productivity losses as the employment costs to replace the ill workers.⁵⁰ Only five of the included cost of illness studies burden study because they estimated both direct and indirect costs

Sources of healthcare resource utilization

Sources of healthcare resource utilization are defined as Chart, Database, Interview, and Literature. Chart includes patient medical records. Database includes electronic medical records, claim databases, and national registries. Interview is conducted using questionnaire. Literature includes articles in published or unpublished sources and government documents. Studies might use more than one source of information. Chart was the most used source of healthcare resource utilization (n=12) $\frac{58,60,67,69,70,72-74,76-79}{64}$, followed by interview (n=10) $\frac{3,42,67,71,73-75,77,80,81}{64}$, database (n=7) $\frac{59,61,62,66,68,69,75}{64}$, and literature (n=1).75 Sources of price of healthcare resource

Literature includes standard cost database and published articles. Market price includes retail and wholesale prices. Studies might use more than one source of Sources of price of healthcare resource are defined as Interview, Listed price, Literature, and Market price. Interview includes prices or costs of illness revealed Listed price was the most used source of price of healthcare resource (n=15) ^{3,60-82,67-70,72-78}, followed by interview (n=6) ^{3,42,67,71,80,81}, market price (n=5) ^{58,59,66,71,79}, by interview especially out of pocket costs paid by patients and families. Listed price includes prices set in the hospital and financial or accounting databases. nformation. Listed price was assumed to be used when studies utilized hospital records to quantify resource utilization but not clearly stated the price source. and literature (n=2).68,69



Time Discount Sensitivity	horizon rate analysis	Lifelong 3% only - One-way	outcomes - Best-worst	- Scenario				Lifelong 3% only - One-way	outcomes - PSA	- Scenario	Lifelong 3% only - One-way	outcomes - PSA	- Scenario			
Health	outcomes	- Full recovery	- Amputation	- Death				- Full recovery	- Amputation	- Death	- Full recovery	- Finger/Toe	amputation	- Below-knee	amputation	- Death
Study	perspective	Public	healthcare	system				Public	healthcare	system	Private	healthcare	provider			
Type of	model	Decision	analytic	model				Decision	analytic	model	Decision	analytic	model	V).	1/	
Type	of EE	CEA						CEA		V U B	CEA	VIII/		Ş		(JUNN)
	Comparator	No availability of	effective	antivenoms				No availability of	effective	antivenoms	Antivenom and	supportive care			A A	
	Intervention	Availability of geographically	appropriate and effective	antivenoms				Availability of effective	antivenoms		Antivenom/adjunct	combination strategy with	supportive care			
Type of	antivenom	- Monovalent	- Polyvalent					- Monovalent	- Polyvalent		Not reported	_				
Type of	snake	- Carpet	viper	- non -	carpet	viper	snakes	- Vipers	- non-viper	snakes	Any	snakes	ณ์ KC	์ม)R	ห	1
Target	population	Envenomed	snakebite	victims				Envenomed	snakebite	victims	Snakebite	victims				
	Study Setting	Public healthcare	facilities in Nigeria					Public healthcare	facilities in West Africa		Prehospital setting and	Private health-care	providers in South India			
	Country	Nigeria						16 West	Africa	countries	India					
Author,	year	Habib,	2015 ⁶³					Hamza,	2016 ⁶⁴		Herzel,	2018 ⁶⁶				-

Table A4 Methodological characteristics of the included economic evaluation studies associated with snakebites.

Abbreviations: CEA - Cost-effectiveness analysis, PSA - Probabilistic sensitivity analysis

Description of methodological characteristics of economic evaluation studies

antivenom adjunct combination strategy to improve the proportion of victims reaching healthcare facilities from the private healthcare system's perspective. This study focused on snakebite public healthcare system's perspective. These studies only focused on envenomed snakebite patients presented to hospital. 63.64 While, another study compared antivenom alone with the All three included economic evaluation studies are cost-effectiveness analysis utilized decision analytic models. 63465 Two studies compared no access to antivenom to full access from the victims outside of the hospital.⁶⁵ Antivenoms were part of the analysis in all three studies. The health outcomes of snakebite in the models were similar including full recovery, death, and amputation. Lifelong was selected as the time horizon to capture deaths and disabilities. However, discount was applied only to outcomes because direct costs of snakebite normally occurred during treatment in healthcare facilities. All three studies performed sensitivity analyses.

Table A5 Cost components reported in the included cost of illness studies associated with snakebites.

Indirect costs	
Direct non-medical costs	
Direct medical costs	
Author, year	
Country	
Region/ Income economies	

			factor monevitnA	Antibiotic cost	Other medicine cost	Hospitalization cost	Diagnosis cost	Health worker and service cost	Laboratory cost	Traditional boolor occt		Medical evacuation cost	Transportation cost	teoo noiteoinmmoO	Food cost	feon notation cost	Caregiver cost	Cost of productivity loss	Income lost in employed	lncome loss in self- employed victims	ssol ∋mooni γlims∃
East Asia and Pacific																					
Lower-middle	Myanmar	Schioldann, 2018 ⁴²	+				,				+	•									-
Latin America and the Caribbes	ne																				
High	Spain	Saz-Parkinson, 2012 [®]	+	۰,		+						•	•			,					-
Middle East and North Africa			9 	9							-	-									
Upper-middle	Guyana	Bachan, 2017 ⁶⁸	+	ġ,	101-		,		1	+		+	+		+	+					-
Upper-middle	Mexico	Sotelo, 2008 78	Å.	้าส	he	÷		1	1		- (be de		'	,	'	-			,	-	
Upper-middle	Iran	Nikfar, 2011 ⁷⁵	Ļ	+7	+	+	1	4	4	+	V A D V	- 28	+	+	+	+	1	+			
Upper-middle	Iran	Mashhadi, 2017 ⁶⁷	+	'n	-	Ol-	/ (1)	1.8			ATTAX -	11/1/2	,	,	,						-
North America			GK	ភ័ន		S.	100	NO.	1º		1111	(IIII)									
High	Canada	Curran-Sills, 2018 ³⁸	Ċ	น์ส		次		38				-	•		ı	-					
High	United States	Lopoo, 1998 ⁶⁰	, RI	Li 1		次		N N	月二月	- N	1	1.	1 - 2		,						-
High	United States	Narra, 2014 ⁶¹	+	1		×4	1		2		710 and	1	-							,	-
High	United States	Fowler, 2017 59	+	ţ		+	-	4	+		N 1/5	22		,							-
South Asia			N	ท		A					N B D	2									
Upper-middle	Sri Lanka	Kasturiratne, 2017 ³	ţ	ģ	÷	ŧ			+	- // 1	08+	-	+	+	+	-	+		+	+	+
Lower-middle	Bangladesh	Hasan, 2012 ⁷¹	÷	1:	4	.0		+ 7	- 69	60 (3)	. A		'	+	+	+	+		+		-
Lower-middle	India	Vaiyapuri, 2013 ⁸¹	ŝ	วัย	Ũ	5						-		-							+
Lower-middle	India	Gupt, 2015 ⁷⁰	+	j			,	1	1	,		•				-	ı		,	1	
Lower-middle	India	Meena, 2016 ⁷³	+	+	+				1			-	'	-						ı	
Lower-middle	India	Ramanath, 2016 77	+	+	+				1			-	+	-							-
Lower-middle	Pakistan	Qureshi, 2013 ⁷⁶	+						1			-		-							-
Low	Nepal	Sharma, 2004 ^{so}	+	+	+	+		+		-	+	-	+	-	-				+		-
Sub-Saharan Africa																					
Upper-middle	South Africa	Darryl, 2016 ⁶⁹	+			+						-	•	-							-
Lower-middle	Nigeria	Michael, 2011 74	+			+						-	•	-							-
Lower-middle	Zimbabwe	Kasilo, 1993 ⁷²	+		-	+		-	-			•		-		-	-			-	-
Lower-middle	Zimbabwe	Tagwireyi, 2001 ⁷⁹	+	+	-				-	-		-	'	-							-
Low	Burkina Faso	Gampini, 2016 ⁶⁶	+		-			-	-	-		-	'	-			-		,	-	-
No. of studie	s reporting cost co	omponent	23	8	7	10	2	з	3	3	e	-	5	3	4	3	2	-	3	٢	2

		6									
	Family income loss	8.70			flic						
ct costs	-îles in seif -îles în self-	4.35			antibio	dies			, food,		
Indirec	lncome lost in employed victim	13.04			studies,	ten stu			iication,		
	Cost of productivity loss	4.35			in all s	ted in			unuuu		
	Caregiver cost	8.70			mated	o repoi	,42,80		ion, cc		
costs	teop noitabommoppA	13.04			ere esti	ere also)4%). ³		sportat		
on-medica	Food cost	17.39			osts we	costs w	es (13.0		of tran		
Direct n	Communication cost	13.04			enom c	zation c	e studi		e costs		
	Transportation cost	21.74			nake ve	ospitaliz	in thre		ies wer	tudies.	
	Medical evacuation cost	4.35			. Anti-s	^{,80,81} Hc	ported		d studi	e six st	J
	Forteited antivenom cost	4.35			ported	67,68,71,77	vere re	en C	nclude	iong th	L Vol
	Traditional healer cost	13.04			only re	43%). ^{3,}	costs v	///	in the i	ents am	11 H K
	Medical product cost	13.04			comm	es (30.	healer	6	ported	mpone	
osts	Laboratory cost	13.04			e were	n studi	litional	XC	cost rel	rted co	
medical c	Health worker and service cost	13.04			lakebit	n seve	ole, trac		edical	ly repo	
Direct	Diagnosis cost	8.70			nt of sr	jesics i	examp		m-non	nomma	
	teon noitasilatiqeoH	43.48		C	reatme	s analç	es. For		direct	nost co	N
	Other medicine cost	30.43		C	or the t	such a	y studi		ients of	re the r	
	teos sitoiditnA	34.78			costs f	e costs	aried b		Compor	osts we	
	factor monevitinA	100			adicine	ledicine	were v		^{5,77,80} . C	food ca	
Author, year			onents of snakebite		ed in all studies. Me	^{57,71,77-81} , and other m	er cost components		nedical costs ^{3,68,71,7}	Transportation and	
Country		^D ercentage (%)	ed cost comp		were estimat	; (34.78%) ^{61,6}	4,78,80 The othe	osts	l direct non-n	l caregivers.	
Region/ Income economies		ц	Description of reporte	Direct medical costs	Direct medical costs	costs in eight studies	(43.48%). ^{3,60-62,67,69,72,74}	Direct non-medical co	Six studies estimated	accommodation, and	

Indirect costs Five studies estimated indirect costs. ^{3,67,71,80,81} Components of indirect costs reported in the included studies were costs of productivity loss due to premature death and disability, income loss, and family income loss. Income loss in employed snakebite victims were the most commonly reported components among the five studies.

Reporting of detailed cost components	ON	ON	YES	YES	ON	ON	YES	YES	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	YES	ON	ON
Performed sensitivity analysis	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON
Description of statistical analyses	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	ON	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	ΥES
Estimated Intangible cost	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON
Specified Productivity loss valuation	ON	ON	ON	YES	ON	ON	ON	YES	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON
Specified Healthcare resource valuation	ON	ON	YES	YES	YES	ON	YES	YES	ON	ON	YES	YES	ON	YES	YES	ON
Specified Resource quantification method	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES
Specified study question	ON	ON	ຈູ W	าล Say	S n S		Pon	YES			YES	YES	ON	YES	YES	ON
Specified Epidemiologic approach	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	Oz	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON
Specified perspective	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON
Author, year	Kasilo, 1993 ⁷²	Lopoo, 1998 ⁶⁰	Tagwireyi, 2001 ⁷⁹	Sharma, 2004 ⁸⁰	Sotelo, 2007 78	Michael, 2011 74	Nikfar, 2011 ⁷⁵	Hasan, 2012 ⁷¹	Saz-Parkinson, 2012 ⁶²	Qureshi, 2012 ⁷⁶	Vaiyapuri, 2013 ⁸¹	Narra, 2014 ⁶¹	Gupt, 2015 ⁷⁰	Darryl, 2016 ⁶⁹	Gampini, 2016 ⁶⁶	Meena, 2016 73

Table A6 Quality assessment of the included cost of illness studies associated with snakebites.

106

Performed Reporting of detailed cost sensitivity components analysis	ON	NO	ON	NO	NO	ON	ON	ON	0	0.00% 34.78%
Description of statistical analyses	YES	ON	YES	YES	YES	YES	ON	YES	20	86.96%
Estimated Intangible cost	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON		0.00%
Specified Productivity loss valuation	ON	ON	ON	YES	YES	ON	ON	ON	4	17.39%
Specified Healthcare resource valuation	YES	ON	YES	YES	YES	YES	ON	ON	14	60.87%
Specified Resource quantification method	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES/	ON	YES	22	95.65%
Specified study question	ON	YES	YES	YES SA	AES A	AES SA		ON	91	%25.69
Specified Epidemiologic approach	ON	ON	ON	ON	YES	ON	ON	ON	1	4.35%
Specified perspective	ON	ON	ON	ON	YES	ON	ON	ON	+	4.35%
Author, year	Ramanath, 2016 77	Bachan, 2017 ⁶⁸	Fowler, 2017 ⁵⁹	Kasturiratne, 2017 ³	Mashhadi, 2017 ⁶⁷	Curran-Sills, 2018 ⁵⁸	Schioldann, 2018 ⁴²	Kasilo, 1993 ⁷²	No. of fulfilling studies	Percentage
		Author, year								
----------------------------------	-------------	--------------	--------------	-------------------	------------					
	Habib, 2015	Hazam, 2016	Herzel, 2018	No. of fulfilling	Percentage					
Recommended aspects	63	64	65	studies	(%)					
Study question	YES	YES	YES	3	100.00					
Description of intervention and	YES	YES	NO	2	66.67					
comparator										
Measurement of effectiveness	YES	YES	NO	2	66.67					
Assumption of costs and outcomes	YES	YES	YES	3	100.00					
Currency and price data	YES	NO	YES	2	66.67					
Choice of model	YES	YES	YES	3	100.00					
Perspective	YES	YES	YES	3	100.00					
Time horizon	YES	YES	YES	3	100.00					
Discount rate	YES	YES	YES	3	100.00					
Calculated and reported ICER	YES	YES	YES	3	100.00					
Sensitivity analysis	YES	YES	YES	3	100.00					
Disclosed funding source	YES	YES	YES	3	100.00					
		MARK A								

Table A7 Quality assessment of included economic evaluation studies associated with snakebites.



Table A8 Cost estimates per episode of snakebite in US\$ 2018.

		24		Avera	ge cost per episode of snak	ebite (US\$ 2018)	
Region/ Income	Country	Author, year	Perspective	Direct medical	Direct non-medical	Indice et essete	Total
economies			٣	costs	costs	Indirect costs	costs
East Asia and Pacific	-	จูฬาสงกร	เหมมา	าพยาลย			
Lower-middle	Myanmar	Schioldann, 2018 42	Patient	2	30.80	NR	230.80
Latin America and the Carib	bean	TULALUNG	KUKN (JNIVERSI	I Y		
High	Spain	Saz-Parkinson, 2012	Health	2220.40	ND	ND	2220.40
riigii	Spain	62	system	2339.40	INIX	INIX	2339.40
Middle East and North Africa	1						
Upper-middle	Guyana	Bachan, 2017 68	Societal	1090.20	1170.91	NR	2261.11
Upper-middle	Mexico	Sotelo, 2008 78	Provider	962.34	NR	NR	962.34
Lipper-middle	laon	Nikfar, 2011 75	Health	ND	ND	ND	ND
Opper-middle	Iran		system	INK	INK	INIK	INK
Upper-middle	Iran	Mashhadi, 2017 67	Societal	494.23	546.04	180.63	1220.90
North America							
High	Canada	Curran-Sills, 2018 58	Provider	25553.86	NR	NR	25553.86
High	United	Lopoo, 1998 ⁶⁰		2502.27	ND	ND	2502.27
riigii	States		FIOVICEI	5392.21	INIX	INIX	3392.21
Llink	United	Narra, 2014 61	Conintal	1006 74	ND	ND	1006 74
nigri	States		Societai	1290.74	INK	INK	1290.74
High	United	Fowler, 2017 59	Brovidor	40402.10	ND	ND	40402.10
riigii	States		FIONICE	40493.10	INE	INK	40493.10

Perion/Income				Avera	ge cost per episode of snak	ebite (US\$ 2018)	
economies	Country	Author, year	Perspective	Direct medical	Direct non-medical	Indirect costs	Total
coonomica				costs	costs	indirect costs	costs
South Asia							
Upper-middle	Sri Lanka	Kasturiratne, 2017 3	Societal	123.60	19.32	26.20	169.12
Lower-middle	Bangladesh	Hasan, 2012 71	Societal	106.59	66.89	19.68	193.16
Lauren er blatte	la elle	Vaiyapuri, 2013 ⁸¹	Deficient	0.00	0004.40	34.48 -	ND
Lower-middle	India		Patient	0.00	- 6034.10	1724.03	INK
Lower-middle	India	Gupt, 2015 70	Provider	80.91	NR	NR	80.91
Leurez midelle	India	Meena, 2016 73	Health	476.07	ND	ND	176.07
Lower-middle	Inula		system	110.01	INK	INIX	110.51
Lower-middle	India	Ramanath, 2016 77	Provider	522.47	NR	NR	522.47
Lower middle	Bakistan	Qureshi, 2013 76	Health	70.05	NP	ND	70.05
Lower-Inidule	Takistan		system	70.00	THE CONTRACT OF THE CONTRACT.	INIX	10.00
Low	Nepal	Sharma, 2004 80	Patient	68.98	11.76	41.30	122.02
Sub-Saharan Africa			Conn	12	•	•	•
Lipper-middle	South Africa	Darryl, 2016 69	Health	1005.00	NR	NP	1205.63
opper-middle	Journ Anica		system	1293.03	TVIX	INIX	1293.03
Lower-middle	Nigeria	Michael, 2011 74	Societal	8.44	NR	NR	8.44
Lower-middle	Zimbabwe	Kasilo, 1993 72	Provider	4.32	NR	NR	4.32
Lower-middle	Zimbabwe	Tagwireyi, 2001 79	Provider	4.33	NR	NR	4.33
Low	Burkina Faso	Gampini, 2016 66	Patients	NR	NR	NR	NR

Abbreviation: NR - Not reported



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

				Antivenom	Antivenom							
Author,		Sequalae	Currency,	price/dose (US\$	price/course (US\$		Reported	GDP per capita	Threshold	ICER	Study	
year	Country	(rate)	year	2018)	2018)	Disability weight	outcome	(US\$ 2018)	nsed	(US\$ 2018)	conclusion	Most sensitive parameters
Habib, 2015 ⁶³	Nigeria	- Amputation (3%) - Blindness (0.01%)* - PTSD (20%)*	US\$, 2015	CHUL 897.888.0	US\$87.68	- Amputation 0.102 - Blindness 0.552* - PTSD 0.105*	DALYs, Deaths	US\$1090.70	1 GDP per capita	- US\$1634.40 per Death averted - US\$69.87 per DALY averted	Very cost- effective	 Costs of antivenom Proportion of envenoming due to carpet viper, Probability of dying following carpet viper envenoming
Hamza, 2016 ⁶⁴	16 West Africa countries	- Amputation (3%) - Blindness (0.01%)* - PTSD (20%)*	US\$, 2015		US\$133.73	- Amputation 0.102 - Blindness 0.552* - PTSD 0.105*	DALYs, Deaths	US\$351,60 to US\$2504,14	1 GDP per capita	- US\$1823.77 to US\$5666.75 per Death averted - US\$75.80 to US\$256.62 per DALY averted	Very cost- effective	 Costs of antivenom Antivenom effectiveness against non-carpet viper envenoming Probability of dying following non-carpet viper envenoming
Herzel, 2018 ⁶⁵	India	- Amputation (25%)	US\$, 2015		US\$300.44	- Below-knee amputation 0.164 - Finger/toe amputation 0.02	DALYs	US\$1569.72	1 GDP per capita	- US\$71.16 per DALYs averted	Very cost- effective	 Proportion of severe envenomation Cost of severe envenomation Proportion of patients reaching treatment facilities

Table A9 Summary of findings of included economic evaluation studies associated with snakebites.

Note: * - included in model in sensitivity analysis. Abbreviations: DALYs – Disability-Adjusted Life Years, GDP – Gross Domestic Product, ICER – Incremental Cost-Effectiveness Ratio, PTSD – Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder

APPENDIX B ESTIMATING ECONOMIC AND DISEASE BURDEN OF SNAKEBITE IN ASEAN COUNTRIES USING A DECISION ANALYTIC MODEL

Methods B1 Justification of input parameters

Methods B2 Estimation of economic and disease burden of post-traumatic stress disorder following snakebite envenoming

 Table B1 Input parameters for estimating economic and disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN countries

 Table B2 Estimated annual epidemiological and disease burden of snakebite in 2019 in ASEAN countries

 Table B3 Estimated annual epidemiological and disease burden of snakebite envenoming per case

 in ASEAN countries

 Table B4 Estimated annual economic and disease burden of post-traumatic stress disorder following

 snakebite

Figure B1 One-way sensitivity analysis of economic burden

Figure B2 One-way sensitivity analysis of disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) of snakebite

Figure B3 Comparison of annual disease burden of neglected tropical diseases in ASEAN



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Methods B1 Justification of input parameters.

Country-specific input parameters were sought from various sources, including published literature, data from the country's Ministry of Health, unpublished data, and expert opinion. When parameters were available from multiple sources, the apply value were selected based on the most recent evidence and the representativeness of the data that covered the highest number of subjects in the following order of priority; (1) Published community-based national data, (2) Published hospitalbased national data, (3) Unpublished national data (community/hospital based, (4) Published community-based subnational data, (5) Unpublished community based subnational data, (6) Published subnational hospital data, and (7) Expert opinion.¹¹ When data of the country were not available, the parameters were borrowed from other countries.

An in-depth interview with key informants who were experts in snakebite in ASEAN countries was also conducted to confirm the retrieved parameters, refer to potential sources of information that might not be publicly available, and ask for their opinion when data were not available. The input parameters were validated through triangulation of data from literature and interview. Justification of input parameters for each country was described below.

Malaysia

Incidence of snakebite

- Number of snakebite patients treated in healthcare facilities in 2014¹⁸ = 3,006 cases

- Number of population in $2014^{16} = 29,866,559$ people

- Number of vulnerable people living within the range of one or more medically important venomous snake species, for which no effective therapy exists, and with a travel time of more than 3 hours from urban centers in 2017¹³ =

1,790,903 people

- Number of population in 2017¹⁶ = 31,105,028 people

- Proportion of people who could not access to healthcare facilities and would seek traditional healers in 2017 = 1,790,903 31,105,028 = 0.0576

- Number of people who could not access to healthcare facilities and would seek traditional healers in 2014 = 0.0576

x 29,866,559 = 1,719,597 people

- Number of people who could access to healthcare facilities = 31,105,028 - 1,719,597 = 28,146,962 people

- Incidence of snakebite patients treated in healthcare facilities in $2014 = \frac{3,006}{28,146,962} = 10.68$ cases per 100,000 population per year

- Number of snakebite victims who could not access to healthcare facilities and sought traditional healers in 2014 = 0.0001068 x 1,719,597 = 184 cases

- Total number of snakebite victims in 2014 = 3,006 + 184 = 3,190 cases

Treatment seeking behavior

- Total number of snakebite victims in 2014 = 3,190 cases

- Number of snakebite patients treated in healthcare facilities in $2014^{18} = 3,006$ cases

- Number of snakebite victims who could not access to healthcare facilities and sought traditional healer in 2014 = 184 cases

- Proportion of snakebite victims in healthcare facilities who sought traditional healer first then switched to

conventional treatment (unpublished data) = $\frac{1}{268}$ = 0.0037 (95%Cl 0.0001 to 0.0206)

- Number of snakebite victims who sought traditional healer first then switched to conventional treatment in $2014 = 0.0037 \times 3,006 = 11$ cases

- Number of snakebite victims who sought conventional treatment only = 3,006 - 11 = 2,995

- Proportion of snakebite victims who sought conventional treatment only = $\frac{2,995}{3,190}$ = 0.939

- Proportion of snakebite victims who sought traditional healer first = 1 - 0.939 = 0.061

- Proportion of snakebite victims who sought traditional healer first then switched to conventional treatment = $\frac{11}{195}$ = 0.058

- Proportion of snakebite victims who sought only traditional healer = 1 - 0.058 = 0.942

Mortality of snakebite

- Probability of systemic envenoming needed antivenom treatment in $2017^{86} = \frac{13}{92} = 0.1413$ (95%CI; 0.077 to 0.230)

- Number of patients with systemic envenomings treated in healthcare facilities in 2014 = 3,006 x 0.1413 = 421 cases

- Number of deaths from systemic envenoming treated in healthcare facilities in 2014¹⁸ = 1 death

- Probability of death of systemic envenoming treated in healthcare facilities in $2014 = \frac{1}{421} = 0.002$ (95%Cl 0.001 to 0.013)

- Relative risk of death in snakebite envenoming without antivenom treatment compared to with antivenom treatment¹⁰⁴ = 2.33

- Probability of death of systemic envenoming treated without antivenom treatment in healthcare facilities in $2014 = 0.002 \times 2.33 = 0.005$

- Probability of death of systemic envenoming not treated in healthcare facilities in 2014 = 0.013 x 2.33 = 0.030

Chulalongkorn University

Hospitalization costs for snakebite victims with systemic envenoming

- Hospitalization costs comprise of inpatient department services, laboratory, tetanus toxoid, and wound dressing.

ltem	Quantity	Price (MYR)	Cost (MYR)
Hospitalization costs, total			3,111.03
Inpatient department services	6.1 ⁸⁶	109.96 ¹¹¹	666.55
Laboratory for systemic envenoming, average			1,907.74
Proportion of hematotoxic to neurotoxic snakes	6:4		
Laboratory for systemic envenoming, hematotoxic snakes			2,622.46
Coagulation profile	12	126.45 ¹¹¹	1,517.40
Complete blood count	12	43.98 ¹¹¹	527.79
Urine analysis	2	32.99 ¹¹¹	65.97
Electrolyte	3	11.00 ¹¹¹	32.99
Blood urea nitrogen	4	11.00 ¹¹¹	43.98
Creatinine	1	38.48 ¹¹¹	38.48
Electrocardiogram	1	87.97 ¹¹¹	87.97
Creatine kinase	12	21.99 ¹¹¹	263.90
Bacterial culture	1	43.98 ¹¹¹	43.98
Laboratory for systemic envenoming, neurotoxic snakes			835.67
Coagulation profile	1	126.45 ¹¹¹	126.45
Complete blood count	3	43.98 ¹¹¹	131.95
Urine analysis	2*	32.99 ¹¹¹	65.97
Electrolyte	3.	11.00 ¹¹¹	32.99
Blood urea nitrogen	4	11.00 ¹¹¹	43.98
Creatinine	1	38.48 ¹¹¹	38.48
Electrocardiogram	1	87.97 ¹¹¹	87.97
Creatine kinase	12	21.99 ¹¹¹	263.90
Bacterial culture	1	43.98 ¹¹¹	43.98
Tetanus toxoid	วทยาลย		3.50
Tetanus toxoid	Inived city	3.15 ¹⁴³	3.15
Needle	1	0.04 ¹⁴⁴	0.04
Syringe	1	0.31 ¹⁴⁴	0.31
Wound dressing	6.1 ⁸⁶	87.97 ¹⁴⁵	533.24

Note: * – expert opinion; MYR – Malaysian Ringgit where 4.14 MYR = 1 United States Dollar.

Hospitalization	costs for	victims	without	snakebite	envenoming
-----------------	-----------	---------	---------	-----------	------------

- Hospitalization costs comprise of inpatient department services, laboratory, tetanus toxoid, and wound dressing.

Item	Quantity	Price (MYR)	Cost (MYR)
Hospitalization costs, total			619.25
Inpatient department services	1*	109.96111	109.96
Laboratory for snakebite without systemic envenoming			417.83
Coagulation profile	1	126.45 ¹¹¹	126.45
Complete blood count	1	43.98 ¹¹¹	43.98
Urine analysis	1*	32.99 ¹¹¹	32.99
Electrolyte	1*	11.00 ¹¹¹	11.00
Blood urea nitrogen	1.	11.00 ¹¹¹	11.00
Creatinine	1	38.48 ¹¹¹	38.48
Electrocardiogram	1	87.97 ¹¹¹	87.97
Creatine kinase	11	21.99 ¹¹¹	21.99
Bacterial culture	1	43.98 ¹¹¹	43.98
Tetanus toxoid	: =a		3.50
Tetanus toxoid	1	3.15 ¹⁴³	3.15
Needle		0.04 ¹⁴⁴	0.04
• Syringe	1	0.31 ¹⁴⁴	0.31
Wound dressing	1	87.97 ¹⁴⁵	87.97

Note: * - expert opinion; MYR - Malaysian Ringgit where 4.14 MYR = 1 United States Dollar.

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Antivenom treatment costs

- Antivenom treatment costs comprise of antivenom, and antivenom administration.

Item	Quantity	Price (MYR)	Cost (MYR)
Antivenom treatment costs, total			4,131.41
Antivenom, average			4,109.06
Proportion of hematotoxic to neurotoxic snakes	6:4		
Antivenom, hematotoxic snakes	4	790.20 ¹¹⁸	3,160.81
Antivenom, neurotoxic snakes	7*	790.20 ¹¹⁸	5,531.43
Antivenom administration			22.35
Needle	1	0.04 ¹⁴⁴	0.04
• Syringe	1	0.31 ¹⁴⁴	0.31
• 0.9% NaCl 100 mL	1	2.31 ¹¹⁸	2.31
• IV set	1	19.69 ¹⁴⁴	19.69

Note: * – expert opinion; MYR – Malaysian Ringgit where 4.14 MYR = 1 United States Dollar.

Adverse reaction management costs

Item	Quantity	Price (MYR)	Cost (MYR)
Adverse reaction management costs, total			16.29
Chlorpheniramine	1 [*]	2.71 ¹¹⁸	2.71
Adrenaline	1 [*]	3.64 ¹¹⁸	3.64
Hydrocortisone	1 [*]	8.89 ¹¹⁸	8.89
Needle	3 [°]	0.04 ¹⁴⁴	0.13
• Syringe	3	0.31 ¹⁴⁴	0.92

Note: * - expert opinion; MYR - Malaysian Ringgit where 4.14 MYR = 1 United States Dollar.

Thailand

Incidence of snakebite

- Number of snakebite patients treated with antivenom in $2019^{89} = 5,160$ cases

- Number of population in $2019^{16} = 64,929,153$ people

- Number of vulnerable people living within the range of one or more medically important venomous snake species,

for which no effective therapy exists, and with a travel time of more than 3 hours from urban centers in 2017¹³ =

77,295 people

- Number of population in $2017^{16} = 69,209,858$ people
- Proportion of people who could not access to healthcare facilities and would seek traditional healers in 2017 =

77,295 <u>69,209,858</u> = 0.00119 (95%CI 0.00118 to 0.00120)

- Number of people who could not access to healthcare facilities and would seek traditional healers in 2019 = 0.00119

x 69,209,858 = 82,886 people จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

- Number of people who could access to healthcare facilities = 69,209,858 - 82,886 = 69,542,696 people

- Probability of systemic envenoming required antivenom derived from meta-analysis^{87,90,92-103} = 0.59 (95%CI 0.42 to

0.74)				
Study	ES	[95% Conf. Inte	erval]	
+				
 Mitrakul (1984)	0.9362	0.8246	0.9866	
Malasit (1986)	0.8250	0.7238	0.9009	
Hutton (1990)	0.7083	0.4891	0.8738	
Mitrakul (1991)	0.6250	0.2449	0.9148	
Viravan (1992)	0.1923	0.1682	0.2183	
Buranasin (1993)	0.3832	0.2908	0.4822	
Rojnuckarin (1996)	0.7122	0.6551	0.7647	
Rojnuckarin (1998)	0.7085	0.6505	0.7619	
Rojnuckarin (1999)	0.1304	0.0494	0.2626	
Wongtongkam (2005)	0.8880	0.8192	0.9374	
Thiansookon (2008)	0.6649	0.6151	0.7121	
Chotenimitkhun (2008)	0.3292	0.2705	0.3922	
Laohawiriyakamol (2011)	0.3793	0.2551	0.5163	
Pingpit (2012)	0.1237	0.0656	0.2061	
Tongpoo (2018)	0.8205	0.7172	0.8983	
Thumtecho (2020) 🦳	0.6389	0.5805	0.6944	
	77/1603	n de Constantino de C		
Random pooled ES	0.5928	0.4231	0.7429	
LR test: RE vs FE Model	chi^2 = 7	65.8970 (d.f. =	= 14) p =	
Estimate of between-st	udv varianc	e Tau^2 = 1	.5260	
Test of ES=0 : z=	1.0732 p =	0.2832		
	- ALAVAL	5,160		
- Number of snakebite patients treated in	healthcare facilitie	$s = = \frac{1}{0.5928} = 8,704 \text{ cas}$	ses	
- Incidence of snakebite patients treated	in healthcare facilit	ies in 2019 = $\frac{63,701}{64,929,153}$	= 12.52 cases per 100	,000
population per year				
- Number of snakebite victims who could	not access to heal	thcare facilities and soug	ht traditional healers in 2	2019 =

0.0001252 x 82,886 = 11 cases

- Total number of snakebite victims in 2019 = 8,704 + 11 = 8,715 cases

Treatment seeking behavior

- Proportion of snakebite victims in healthcare facilities who sought traditional healer first then switched to

conventional treatment derived from	meta-analysis ⁹⁰⁻⁹² = 0.03	39 (95%CI 0.0105 to	0.1039)	
Study	ES [95	5% Conf. Int∈	erval]	
 Mitrakul (1984)	0.000	0.0000	0.0755	
Wongtongkam (2005)	0.0235	0.0029	0.0824	
Wongtongkam (2005)	0.0578	0.0311	0.0968	
Random pooled ES	0.0339	0.0105	0.1039	
LR test: RE vs FE Mode Estimate of between- Test of ES=0 : z=	el chi^2 = -study variance -5.4922 p =	0.2354 (d.f. Tau^2 = 0.0000	. = 1) p = 0.1679	0.3138
- Number of snakebite victims who so	ought traditional healer fi	rst then switched to	conventional treatment	in 2019 =
0.0339 x 8,704 = 295 cases				
- Number of snakebite victims who so	ought conventional treat	ment only = 8,704 - 2	295 = 8,409	
- Proportion of snakebite victims who	sought conventional tre	atment only = $\frac{8,409}{8,715}$	= 0.965	
- Proportion of snakebite victims who	sought traditional heale	r first = $1 - 0.965 = 0$	0.035	
- Proportion of snakebite victims who	sought traditional heale	r first then switched t	to conventional treatme	$tent = \frac{295}{205} =$
0.034	5086380A	in a start of the		303
- Proportion of snakebite victims who	sought only traditional h	ealer = 1 – 0.034 = 0	0.966	
	EQUALORS	B		
Mortality of snakebite		251		
- Probability of death of systemic env	enoming treated with an	tivenom in healthcar	e facilities in 2014 to 2	018 ¹⁰⁵ =
20 25,747 = 0.0008 (95%CI 0.0005 to 0	.0012)			
- Relative risk of death in snakebite e	nvenoming without antiv	enom treatment com	pared to with antivenor	m treatment ¹⁰⁴
= 2.33		JNIVEK5IIY		
- Probability of death of systemic env	enoming treated without	antivenom treatmen	t in healthcare facilities	x = 0.0008 x

2.33 = 0.0018

- Probability of death of systemic envenoming not treated in healthcare facilities = 0.0012 x 2.33 = 0.0028

Amputation following snakebite envenoming

- Probability of bitten by Naja kaouthia in $2019^{89} = \frac{578}{5,160} = 0.112$

- Probability of digit amputation following Naja kaouthia bite derived from meta-analysis^{87,90,91,95,99,102,106-109} = 0.003

(95%CI 0.001 to 0.012)

, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,				
Study	ES [9	5% Conf. Inte	erval]	
	+			
Trishnananda (1979)	0.0000	0.0000	0.1684	
Mitrakul (1984)	0.0000	0.0000	0.2180	
Malasit (1986)	0.0000	0.0000	0.0451	
Looareesuwan (1988)	0.0000	0.0000	0.0771	
Viravan (1992)	0.0000	0.0000	0.0435	
Buranasin (1993)	0.0000	0.0000	0.0974	
Pochanugool (1998)	0.0000	0.0000	0.6024	
Dumavibhat (1997)	0.0000	0.0000	0.0672	
Pochanugool (1997)	0.0000	0.0000	0.0528	
Pochanugool (1997)	0.0000	0.0000	0.0430	
Wongtongkam (2005)	0.0118	0.0003	0.0638	
Thiansookon (2008)	0.0000	0.0000	0.1089	
Laohawiriyakamol (2011)	0.0172	0.0004	0.0924	
Random pooled ES	0.0030	0.0008	0.0120	
LR test: RE vs FE Model	$chi^{2} = 0.0$	0000 (d.f. =	11) p =	
Estimate of between-st Test of ES=0 : z= -	udy variance Ta 8.1931 p =	au^2 = 0. 0.0000	.0000	
- Probability of digit amputation following	snakebite = 0.112×0.00	03 = 0.0003 (95%CI 0).0001 to 0.0013)	
- Probability of limb amputation following	snakebite = 0.00			
	- THE ARRA			



119

Hospitalization costs for snakebite victims with systemic envenoming

- Hospitalization costs comprise of inpatient department services, laboratory, tetanus toxoid, and wound dressing.

Item	Quantity	Price (THB)	Cost (THB)
Hospitalization costs, total			9,992.25
Inpatient department services	3.5	1,948.57117	6,816.09
Laboratory for systemic envenoming, average			2,385.66
Venous clotting time	7*	59.64 ¹¹⁷	417.49
Prothrombin time	12*	90.05 ¹¹⁷	1,080.56
Complete blood count	7	59.64 ¹¹⁷	417.49
Urine analysis	1	74.84 ¹¹⁷	74.84
Electrolyte	122	120.45 ¹¹⁷	120.45
Blood urea nitrogen	i	74.84 ¹¹⁷	43.98
Creatinine	i	74.84 ¹¹⁷	74.84
Tetanus toxoid			54.11
Tetanus toxoid	1	23.71 ¹¹⁷	23.54
Intramuscular drug administration	1	30.41 ¹¹⁷	30.41
Wound dressing	3.5	210.52 ¹¹⁷	736.39

Note: * - expert opinion; THB - Thai Baht where 31.05 THB = 1 United States Dollar.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University - Length of stay of victims hospitalized for systemic envenoming derived from meta-analysis 91,92,94,100,101,106,108 = 3.5

days (95%Cl 2.6 to 4.4)

Meta-analysis summa Random-effects mode Method: REML	ry 1	Number Heteroo	of studies = geneity: tau2 = I2 (%) = H2 =	= 14 1.7677 94.09 16.92
Study	Effect Size	[95% Conf.	Interval] १	Weight
Mitrakul (1991) Buranasin (1993) Buranasin (1993) Pochanugool (1997) Wongtongkam (2005) Wongtongkam (2005) Wongtongkam (2005) Wongtongkam (2005) Wongtongkam (2005) Wongtongkam (2005)	$\begin{array}{c} 1.500\\ 2.300\\ 2.000\\ 10.090\\ 5.500\\ 5.650\\ 2.870\\ 5.340\\ 3.020\\ 4.350\end{array}$	1.108 1.849 -2.371 1.976 -0.713 3.925 1.870 3.596 -0.371 3.076	1.892 2.751 6.371 18.204 11.713 7.375 3.870 7.084 6.411 5.624	11.11 11.03 2.98 1.06 1.70 7.90 9.91 7.85 4.22
9.17 Wongtongkam (2005) Wongtongkam (2005) Tongpoo (2018) Thumtecho (2020) 	2.150 4.330 7.000 3.000 3.498	1.895 2.154 3.394 2.706 2.620	2.405 6.506 10.606 3.294 4.377	11.26 6.70 3.90 11.22
Sorted by: _meta_id Test of theta = 0: Test of homogeneity	z = 7.81 z = 0 = chi2(13) = 88	3.18	Prob > z = Prob > Q =	= 0.0000 = 0.0000

ogeneity: Q = chi2(13) = 88.18 Quina Nasalumina e Chulalongkorn University

Hospitalization costs for victims without snakebite envenoming

- Hospitalization costs comprise of inpatient department services, laboratory, tetanus toxoid, and wound dressing.

Item	Quantity	Price (THB)	Cost (THB)
Hospitalization costs, total			3,209.23
Inpatient department services	1	2,578.90 ¹¹⁷	2,578.90
Laboratory for snakebite without systemic envenoming			630.33
Venous clotting time	1	59.64 ¹¹⁷	59.64
Prothrombin time	1*	90.05 ¹¹⁷	90.05
Complete blood count	1*	59.64 ¹¹⁷	59.64
Urine analysis	1*	74.84 ¹¹⁷	74.84
Electrolyte	12 pm	120.45 ¹¹⁷	120.45
Blood urea nitrogen	i	74.84 ¹¹⁷	43.98
Creatinine	Ì	74.84 ¹¹⁷	74.84
Tetanus toxoid			54.11
Tetanus toxoid	1	23.71 ¹¹⁷	23.54
Intramuscular drug administration	1	30.41 ¹¹⁷	30.41
Wound dressing	14	210.52 ¹¹⁷	210.52

Note: * - expert opinion; THB - Thai Baht where 31.05 THB = 1 United States Dollar.

Antivenom treatment costs



Item	Quantity	Price (THB)	Cost (THB)
Antivenom treatment costs, total	9		6,996.59
Antivenom, average	วทยาลย		6,748.57
Proportion of snakes ⁸⁹	NIVERCITY	/	
Antivenom, hematotoxic snakes	6	1,000 to 1,200*	6,000 to 7,200
Antivenom, neurotoxic snakes	5 to 10 [°]	1,000 to 1,200*	5,000 to 12,000
Antivenom administration			248.03
• IV set	1	150.86 ¹¹⁷	150.86
IV drug administration	2	30.41 ¹¹⁷	60.81
• 0.9% NaCl 100 mL	2.	18.18 ¹¹⁷	36.36

Note: * - expert opinion; THB - Thai Baht where 31.05 THB = 1 United States Dollar.

Adverse reaction management costs

Item	Quantity	Price (THB)	Cost (THB)
Adverse reaction management costs, total			105.46
Chlorpheniramine	1	2.27 ¹¹⁷	2.27
Adrenaline	1	5.72 ¹¹⁷	5.72
Dexamethasone	1*	6.25 ¹¹⁷	6.25
IV drug administration	3	30.41 ¹¹⁷	91.22

Note: * – expert opinion; THB – Thai Baht where 31.05 THB = 1 United States Dollar.

Indonesia

Incidence of snakebite

- Total number of snakebite victims in 2019 (expert opinion) = 135,000 cases
- Number of population in $2019^{16} = 270,625,568$ people
- Incidence of snakebite in 2019 = $\frac{135,000}{270,625,568}$ = 49.88 per 100,000 population per year

Treatment seeking behavior

- Proportion of snakebite victims treated in healthcare facilities (expert opinion) = 0.75
- Proportion of snakebite victims who sought only traditional treatment (expert opinion) = 1-0.75 = 0.25
- Proportion of snakebite victims in healthcare facilities who sought traditional healer first then switched to

conventional treatment (expert opinion) = 0.00

Mortality of snakebite

- Proportion of snakebite envenoming treated with antivenom from 2004 to $2009^{25} = \frac{17}{42} = 0.40 (95\% CI 0.26 to 0.57)$

- Probability of death of systemic envenoming treated with antivenom treatment in healthcare facilities in 2019

(unpublished data) = $\frac{54}{587}$ = 0.09 (95%Cl 0.07 to 0.12) - Relative risk of death in snakebite envenoming without antivenom treatment compared to with antivenom

- Relative risk of death in snakebite envenoming without antivenom treatment compared to with antivenom treatment 104 = 2.33

- Probability of death of systemic envenoming treated without antivenom treatment in healthcare facilities = $0.09 \times 2.33 = 0.21$

- Probability of death of systemic envenoming not treated in healthcare facilities = 0.12 x 2.33 = 0.28

Amputation due to snakebite envenoming

- Probability of amputation due to snakebite envenoming in 2019 (unpublished data) = $\frac{12}{587}$ = 0.02 (95%Cl 0.01 to 0.04)

- Proportion of digit amputation to limb amputation (expert opinion) = 0.50

- Probability of limb amputation due to snakebite envenoming in 2019 (unpublished data) = 0.02 x 0.50 = 0.01 (95%Cl 0.005 to 0.018)

Hospitalization costs for snakebite victims with systemic envenoming

- Hospitalization costs comprise of inpatient department services, laboratory, and tetanus toxoid.

Item	Quantity	Price (IDR)	Cost (IDR)
Hospitalization costs, total			14,253,228
Inpatient department services including laboratory based on diagnosis	6.1 ⁸⁶	2,326,565*	14,103,637
group of non-infectious bacteria for region 1 / class 3 / secondary			
hospital			
Tetanus toxoid			149,591
Tetanus toxoid	1	146,800 ¹¹²	146,800
Needle	1	734 ¹⁴⁴	734
• Syringe	1	2,056 ¹⁴⁴	2,056

Note: * - expert opinion; IDR - Indonesian Rupee where 14,147.67 IDR = 1 United States Dollar.

Hospitalization costs for victims without snakebite envenoming

- Hospitalization costs comprise of inpatient department services, laboratory, and tetanus toxoid.

Item	Quantity	Price (IDR)	Cost (IDR)
Hospitalization costs, total			2,476,156
Inpatient department services including laboratory based on diagnosis group of non-infectious bacteria for region 1 / class 3 / secondary	1	2,326,565*	2,326,565
hospital			
Tetanus toxoid	N N		149,591
Tetanus toxoid	1	146,800 ¹¹²	146,800
Needle	1	734 ¹⁴⁴	734
• Syringe	1	2,056 ¹⁴⁴	2,056

Note: * - expert opinion; IDR - Indonesian Rupees where 14,147.67 IDR = 1 United States Dollar.

Antivenom treatment costs

- Antivenom treatment costs comprise of antivenom, and antivenom administration.

Item	Quantity	Price (IDR)	Cost (IDR)
Antivenom treatment costs, total			10,931,952
Antivenom ¹¹²			10,892,732
Antivenom administration			39,220
Needle	1	734 ¹⁴⁴	734
• Syringe	1	2,056 ¹⁴⁴	2,056
• 0.9% NaCl 100 mL	1	7,197 ¹⁴⁴	7,197
IV set	1*	36,429 ¹⁴⁴	36,429

Note: * - expert opinion; IDR - Indonesian Rupee where 14,147.67 IDR = 1 United States Dollar.

Adverse reaction management costs

	Item	Quantity		Price (IDR)	Cost (IDR)
Adverse reaction management c	osts, total				54,373
Chlorpheniramine	-//b84		1	14,000 ¹¹²	14,000
Adrenaline			1	18,000 ¹¹²	18,000
Dexamethasone		8	1	14,000 ¹¹²	14,000
Needle	Turned and		3,	734 ¹⁴⁴	2,203
• Syringe		A D	3	2,056 ¹⁴⁴	6,169

Note: * - expert opinion; IDR - Indonesian Rupee where 14,147.67 IDR = 1 United States Dollar.

Philippines

Treatment seeking behavior มาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

- Proportion of snakebite victims seeking only conventional treatment (expert opinion) = 0.00

- Proportion of snakebite victims treated in healthcare facilities in $1987^{88} = \frac{2}{24} = 0.083$ (95%Cl 0.10 to 0.27) then applied higher estimate 0.27 for base-case analysis

- Proportion of snakebite victims in healthcare facilities who sought traditional healer first then switched to conventional treatment⁸⁸ = 0.27

- Proportion of snakebite victims who sought only traditional treatment = 1-0.27 = 0.73

Incidence of snakebite

- Number of snakebite patients treated in healthcare facility in 2019 (unpublished data) = 157 per 4,700,000 population

- Incidence of snakebite patients treated in healthcare facilities in $2019 = \frac{157}{4,700,000} = 3.34$ per 100,000 population per year

- Number of population in $2019^{16} = 108,116,615$ people

- Number of snakebite patients treated in healthcare facilities in $2019 = \frac{3.34}{100,000} \times 108,116,615 = 3,612$ cases

- Total number of snakebite victims = $\frac{3,612}{0.27} \times 108,116,615 = 13,377$ cases - Incidence of snakebite in 2019 = $\frac{13,377}{108,111,615} = 12.37$ per 100,000 population per year

Mortality of snakebite

- Proportion of snakebite envenoming treated with antivenom from 2018 to 2019 (unpublished data) = $\frac{45}{279}$ = 0.1613 - Probability of death of systemic envenoming treated with antivenom treatment in healthcare facilities from 2018 to

2019 (unpublished data) = $\frac{3}{45}$ = 0.067 (95%Cl 0.014 to 0.183)

- Relative risk of death in snakebite envenoming without antivenom treatment compared to with antivenom

 $treatment^{104} = 2.33$

- Probability of death of systemic envenoming treated without antivenom treatment in healthcare facilities = 0.067 x 2.33 = 0155

- Probability of death of systemic envenoming not treated in healthcare facilities = 0.12 x 2.33 = 0.426

Amputation due to snakebite envenoming

- Probability of amputation due to snakebite envenoming (expert opinion) = 0.01

- Proportion of digit amputation to limb amputation (expert opinion) = 0.70:0.30
- Probability of digit amputation due to snakebite envenoming = $0.01 \times 0.70 = 0.007$
- Probability of limb amputation due to snakebite envenoming = $0.01 \times 0.30 = 0.003$

Hospitalization costs for snakebite victims with systemic envenoming

^{ltem} หาลงกรณ์มหา	Quantity	Price (PHP)	Cost (PHP)
Hospitalization costs, total			21,135
Inpatient department services including laboratory	ER 6.1 ⁸⁶	3,479 ¹¹³	21,088
Tetanus toxoid			47
Tetanus toxoid	1	36 ¹¹⁴	36
Needle	1	1 ¹¹⁴	1
• Syringe	1.	10 ¹¹⁴	10

Note: * - expert opinion; PHP - Philippines Peso where 51.80 PHP = 1 United States Dollar.

Hospitalization costs for victims without snakebite envenoming

- Hospitalization costs comprise of inpatient department services, laboratory, and tetanus toxoid.

Item	Quantity	Price (PHP)	Cost (PHP)
Hospitalization costs, total			3,526
Inpatient department services including laboratory	1	3,479 ¹¹³	3,479
Tetanus toxoid			47
Tetanus toxoid	1*	36 ¹¹⁴	36
Needle	1*	1 ¹¹⁴	1
• Syringe	1*	10 ¹¹⁴	10

Note: * – expert opinion; PHP – Philippines Peso where 51.80 PHP = 1 United States Dollar.

Antivenom treatment costs



- Antivenom treatment costs comprise of antivenom, and antivenom administration.

Item	ANTINAL AND	Quantity		Price (PHP)	Cost (PHP)
Antivenom treatment costs, total					16,161
Antivenom			10*	1,600*	16,000
Antivenom administration	-///604				161
Needle	ROA		1.	1 ¹¹⁴	1
Syringe			1.	10 ¹¹⁴	10
● 0.9% NaCl 100 mL			2*	60 ¹¹⁴	120
•	- ALANAS		2*	60 ¹¹⁴	120
• IV set	E.	35	1.	30 ¹¹⁴	30

Note: * - expert opinion; PHP - Philippines Peso where 51.80 PHP = 1 United States Dollar.

Adverse reaction management costs

Item ULALONGKORN U	Quantity	Price (PHP)	Cost (PHP)
Adverse reaction management costs, total			230
Diphenhydramine	1	23 ¹¹⁴	23
Adrenaline	1*	24 ¹¹⁴	24
Hydrocortisone	1	150 ¹¹⁴	150
Needle	3	1 ¹¹⁴	4
• Syringe	3	10 ¹¹⁴	29

Note: * - expert opinion; PHP - Philippines Peso where 51.80 PHP = 1 United States Dollar.

Vietnam

Incidence of snakebite

- Incidence of snakebite patients treated in healthcare facilities in 2017³⁸ = 20.98 cases per 100,000 population
- Total incidence of snakebite victims in $2017^{38} = 48.46$ cases per 100,000 population

- Proportion of snakebite victims treated in healthcare facilities in $2017^{38} = \frac{20.98}{48.46} = 0.43$ (95%Cl 0.29 to 0.59)

Treatment seeking behavior

- Proportion of snakebite victims seeking only conventional treatment (expert opinion) = 0.00

- Proportion of snakebite victims in healthcare facilities who sought traditional healer first then switched to

conventional treatment³⁸ = 0.43

- Proportion of snakebite victims who sought only traditional treatment = 1-0.43 = 0.57

Mortality of snakebite

- Probability of death of systemic envenoming treated with antivenom in healthcare facilities (unpublished data) =

 $\frac{15}{1,000} = 0.015 \ (95\% \text{Cl} \ 0.008 \text{ to } 0.025)$

- Relative risk of death in snakebite envenoming without antivenom treatment compared to with antivenom

 $treatment^{104} = 2.33$

- Probability of death of systemic envenoming treated without antivenom treatment in healthcare facilities = 0.015 x

2.33 = 0.035

- Probability of death of systemic envenoming not treated in healthcare facilities = $0.025 \times 2.33 = 0.057$

Hospitalization costs for snakebite victims with systemic envenoming

- Hospitalization costs comprise of inpatient department services, laboratory, and tetanus toxoid.

ltem	Quantity	Price (VND)	Cost (VND)
Hospitalization costs, total	ามอาเมอ		3,922,215
Inpatient department services including laboratory	6.1 ⁸⁶	647,017 ¹¹⁶	3,981,731
Tetanus toxoid	DIVIVENSITI		59,515
Tetanus toxoid	1	42,049	42,049
Needle	1	2,417 [*]	2,417
• Syringe	1*	15,049	15,049

Note: * - expert opinion; VND - Vietnamese Dong where 23,050.24 VND = 1 United States Dollar.

Hospitalization costs for victims without snakebite envenoming

- Hospitalization costs comprise of inpatient department services, laboratory, and tetanus toxoid.

Item	Quantity	Price (VND)	Cost (VND)
Hospitalization costs, total			706,532
Inpatient department services including laboratory	1	647,017 ¹¹⁶	647,017
Tetanus toxoid			59,515
Tetanus toxoid	1	42,049	42,049
Needle	1*	2,417	2,417
• Syringe	1.	15,049	15,049

Note: * - expert opinion; VND - Vietnamese Dong where 23,050.24 VND = 1 United States Dollar.

Antivenom treatment costs



Item	Quantity	Price (VND)	Cost (VND)
Antivenom treatment costs, total			1,565,316
Antivenom, average*			1,491,486
Antivenom administration			73,830
Needle	1 I	2,417	2,417
• Syringe	1	15,049	15,049
0.9% NaCl 100 mL	2.	23,370	46,741
IV set	1	27,089	27,089

Note: * - expert opinion; VND - Vietnamese Dong where 23,050.24 VND = 1 United States Dollar.

Adverse reaction management costs

Iten	าหาลงกรณ์มห า ^ะ	Quantity	Price (VND)	Cost (VND)
Adverse reaction management costs,	, total			118,703
Chlorpheniramine	HULALONGKORN U	JNIVERSITY	24,878	24,878
Adrenaline		1*	23,813	23,813
Dexamethasone		1*	17,705	17,705
Needle		3	2,417	7250
 Syringe 		3	15,049	45,148

Note: * - expert opinion; VND - Vietnamese Dong where 23,050.24 VND = 1 United States Dollar.

Lao PDR

Incidence of snakebite

- Total incidence of snakebite in 2019 (expert opinion) = 200.00 per 100,000 population per year
- Number of population in $2019^{16} = 7,169,455$ people

- Total number of snakebite victims = $\frac{200.00}{100,000} \times 7,169,455 = 14,339$ cases

Treatment seeking behavior

- Proportion of snakebite victims seeking only conventional treatment (expert opinion) = 0.00

- Proportion of snakebite victims treated in healthcare facilities (expert opinion) = 0.10
- Proportion of snakebite victims in healthcare facilities who sought traditional healer first then switched to

conventional treatment = 0.10

- Proportion of snakebite victims who sought only traditional treatment = 1-0.10 = 0.90

Mortality of snakebite

- Probability of systemic envenoming needed antivenom treatment in $2014^{36} = \frac{43}{158} = 0.27$ (95%Cl 0.20 to 0.35) - Probability of death of systemic envenoming treated in healthcare facilities in $2014^{36} = \frac{2}{43} = 0.05$ (95%Cl 0.01 to

0.16)

- Relative risk of death in snakebite envenoming without antivenom treatment compared to with antivenom treatment¹⁰⁴ = 2.33</sup>

- Probability of death of systemic envenoming treated without antivenom treatment in healthcare facilities = $0.05 \times 2.33 = 0.11$

- Probability of death of systemic envenoming not treated in healthcare facilities = 0.16 x 2.33 = 0.37

Amputation due to snakebite envenoming

- Probability of digit amputation due to snakebite envenoming in $2014^{36} = \frac{2}{43} = 0.05$ (95%Cl 0.01 to 0.16) - Probability of limb amputation due to snakebite envenoming in $2014^{36} = \frac{1}{43} = 0.02$ (95%Cl 0.001 to 0.12)

Hospitalization costs for snakebite victims with systemic envenoming

- Hospitalization costs comprise of inpatient department services, laboratory, tetanus toxoid, and wound dressing.

Item	Quantity	Price (LAK)	Cost (LAK)
Hospitalization costs, total			3,233,043
Inpatient department services	6.1 ⁸⁶	90,000*	545,580
Laboratory for systemic envenoming, average			2,301,333
Coagulation profile	7	52,667	368,667
Complete blood count	4	43,667	174,667
Urine analysis	6	61,000	366,000
Electrolyte	6	96,000	576,000
Blood urea nitrogen	6	48,000	288,000
Creatinine	6	44,000	264,000
Creatine kinase	6.	44,000	264,000
Tetanus toxoid			22,410
Tetanus toxoid	1	15,833	15,833
Needle	1	910	910
• Syringe	1 I	5,667	5,667
Wound dressing	6.1 ⁸⁶	60,000 [*]	363,720

Note: * - expert opinion; LAK - Lao Kip where 8,679.41 LAK = 1 United States Dollar.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Hospitalization costs for victims without snakebite envenoming

- Hospitalization costs comprise of inpatient department services, laboratory, tetanus toxoid, and wound dressing.

Item	Quantity	Price (LAK)	Cost (LAK)
Hospitalization costs, total			598,077
Inpatient department services	1*	90,000	90,000
Laboratory for snakebite without systemic envenoming			485,667
Coagulation profile	2	52,667	105,333
Complete blood count	2*	43,667	87,333
Urine analysis	1.	61,000	61,000
Electrolyte	1.	96,000	96,000
Blood urea nitrogen	1	48,000	48,000
Creatinine	1	44,000	44,000
Creatine kinase	i	44,000	44,000
Tetanus toxoid			22,410
Tetanus toxoid	1 I	15,833	15,833
Needle	1	910	910
Syringe	1	5,667	5,667
Wound dressing	1	60,000 [*]	60,000

Note: * - expert opinion; LAK - Lao Kip where 8,679.41 LAK = 1 United States Dollar.

Antivenom treatment costs

- Antivenom treatment costs comprise of antivenom, and antivenom administration.

^{ltem} มชาลงกรณ์แหว	Quantity	Price (LAK)	Cost (LAK)
Antivenom treatment costs, total			1,715,377
Antivenom, average	NIVERSI³	560,334 [*]	1,681,000
Antivenom administration			34,376
• Needle	1	910	910
• Syringe	1	5,667	5,667
• 0.9% NaCl 100 mL	2	8,800	17,600
• IV set	1	10,200	10,200

Note: * - expert opinion; LAK - Lao Kip where 8,679.41 LAK = 1 United States Dollar.

Adverse reaction management costs

Item	Quantity	Price (LAK)	Cost (LAK)
Adverse reaction management costs, total			44,697
Diphenhydramine	1*	9,333	9,333
Adrenaline	1*	8,967 [*]	8,967
Dexamethasone	1.	6,667 [*]	6,667
• Needle	3	910	2,730
• Syringe	3	5,667 [*]	17,000

Note: * - expert opinion; LAK - Lao Kip where 8,679.41 LAK = 1 United States Dollar.

Myanmar

Treatment seeking behavior

- Incidence of snakebite victims reported in communities in $2015^{41} = 116$ cases per 100,000 population (95%Cl 74 to 182)

- Incidence of snakebite patients treated in healthcare facilities in $2015^{41} = 44$ cases per 100,000 population

- Proportion of snakebite patients treated in healthcare facilities in $2015^{41} = \frac{44}{116} = 0.38$

- Proportion of snakebite victims treated in healthcare facilities who have sought traditional treatment before in 2015⁴¹

$$=\frac{111}{965}=0.12$$
 (95%Cl 0.10 to 0.14)

- Number of snakebite patients seeking traditional treatment only in $2015^{41} = \frac{965}{0.38} = 2,544$ cases

- Proportion of snakebite victims seeking only conventional treatment in $2015^{41} = \frac{854}{2,544} = 0.34$

- Proportion of snakebite victims in healthcare facilities who sought traditional healer first then switched to

conventional treatment in $2015^{41} = \frac{111}{1,690} = 0.07$

- Proportion of snakebite victims who sought only traditional treatment in $2015^{41} = 1-0.07 = 0.93$

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Incidence of snakebite

- Number of snakebite patients treated in healthcare facilities in 2019 (unpublished data from the Ministry of Health

and Sports Myanmar) = 7,988 cases

- Total number of snakebite victims = $\frac{7,988}{0.38}$ = 21,059 cases

- Number of population in $2019^{16} = 54,045,420$ people

- Incidence of snakebite in
$$2019 = \frac{21,059}{54,045,420} = 38.97$$
 per 100,000 population per year

Mortality of snakebite

- Proportion of snakebite envenoming treated with antivenom in healthcare facilities $2015^{41} = \frac{762}{965} = 0.79$ (95%CI 0.76 to 0.81)

- Number of snakebite envenoming treated with antivenom in healthcare facilities $2015^{41} = 7,988 \times 0.79 = 6,308$ cases - Number of deaths from snakebite envenoming treated in healthcare facilities in 2019 (unpublished data from the Ministry of Health and Sports Myanmar) = 426 deaths

- Probability of death of systemic envenoming treated with antivenom in healthcare facilities in $2019 = \frac{426}{6,308} = 0.068$ (95%Cl 0.061 to 0.074)

- Relative risk of death in snakebite envenoming without antivenom treatment compared to with antivenom treatment 104 = 2.33

- Probability of death of systemic envenoming treated without antivenom treatment in healthcare facilities = 0.068 x

2.33 = 0.157

- Probability of death of systemic envenoming not treated in healthcare facilities = 0.074 x 2.33 = 0.172

Hospitalization costs for snakebite victims with systemic envenoming

- Hospitalization costs comprise of inpatient department services, laboratory, and tetanus toxoid.

Item	Quantity	Price (MMK)	Cost (MMK)
Hospitalization costs, total			318,232
Inpatient department services including laboratory	6.1 ⁸⁶	52,163 ¹¹⁵	316,212
Tetanus toxoid			2,020
Tetanus toxoid	1 I	1,900	1,900
Needle	1	20	20
Syringe	1 ¹	200	200

Note: * - expert opinion; MMK - Myanmar Kyat where 1,518.26 MMK = 1 United States Dollar.

าหาลงกรณมหาวัทยาล์ย

Hospitalization costs for victims without snakebite envenoming

- Hospitalization costs comprise of inpatient department services, laboratory, and tetanus toxoid.

Item	Quantity	Price (MMK)	Cost (MMK)
Hospitalization costs, total			54,183
Inpatient department services including laboratory	1	52,163 ¹¹⁵	52,163
Tetanus toxoid			2,020
Tetanus toxoid	1	1,900	1,900
Needle	1	20	20
• Syringe	1	100	100

Note: * – expert opinion; MMK – Myanmar Kyat where 1,518.26 MMK = 1 United States Dollar.

Antivenom treatment costs

- Antivenom treatment costs comprise of antivenom, and antivenom administration.

Item	Quantity	Price (MMK)	Cost (MMK)
Antivenom treatment costs, total			494,883
Antivenom, average*			494,463
Antivenom administration			420
Needle	1	20	20
Syringe	1	100	100
• IV set	1	300	300

Note: * – expert opinion; MMK – Myanmar Kyat where 1,518.26 MMK = 1 United States Dollar.

Adverse reaction management costs

	Ite	n Siri	Quantity		Price (MMK)	Cost (MMK)
Adverse r	eaction management costs	, total				1,160
•	Chlorpheniramine	2/11		1	200	200
•	Adrenaline			1	350	350
•	Dexamethasone			1	250	250
•	Needle		A CONTRACT	3	20	60
•	Syringe	ALL CONTRACTOR		3	100	300

Note: * - expert opinion; MMK - Myanmar Kyat where 1,518.26 MMK = 1 United States Dollar.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University **Methods B2** Estimation of economic and disease burden of post-traumatic stress disorder following snakebite.

Economic burden of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) following snakebite was estimated as the productivity losses due to PTSD following snakebite. Productivity losses due to PTSD following snakebite were estimated by the number of absent days from work multiplied by daily income. PTSD following snakebite was assumed to last for 41.3 months which was an average duration of chronic PTSD.¹²⁹ Lost working days due to PTSD following snakebite were calculated at 36.35 days per year.¹³⁰ Thus, lost working days due to PTSD following snakebite were calculated at 125.10 days per case. Productivity losses due to PTSD was valued using a human capital approach by multiplying the time loss due to illness to daily income which was estimated based on the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) per capita of each country.¹²⁵

Disease burden of PTSD following snakebite was estimated as years lived with disability (YLD). YLDs due to PTSD following snakebite envenoming were calculated using the template developed by WHO.¹²⁷ YLDs due to PTSD were calculated from the duration of PTSD of 41.3 months multiplied by disability weight of 0.523 for severe anxiety.^{110,129}



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Parameters (Distribution)	Malaysia	Thailand	Indonesia	Philippines	Vietnam	Lao PDR	Myanmar
Epidemiological parameters							
Total population, million people ¹⁶	32	20	271	108	96	2	54
Incidence of snakebite per 100,000 population (Beta) ^{18,39,41,88,89}	10.7	12.52	49.9	12.4	48.5	200.0	39.0
	(10.3 to 11.1)	(12.25 to 12.78)	(49.6 to 50.2)	(10.5 to 14.5)	(19.5 to 99.8)	(196.7 to 203.3)	(38.4 to 39.5)
Probability of snakebite victims seeking conventional treatment only (Beta) ^{13,41}	0.94	0.965	0.75	0:00	0.00	00.0	0.34
C	(0.93 to 0.95)	(0.961 to 0.969)					(0.32 to 0.35)
Probability of snakebite victims firstly seeking traditional treatment then switching to	0.06	0.03	0.00	0.27	0.43	0.10	0.07
conventional treatment (Beta) ^{38,41,39,42}	(0.03 to 0.10)	(0.02 to 0.06)			(0.29 to 0.59)		(0.05 to 0.08)
Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment for victims	0.14	0.59	0.40	0.16	0:00	0.27	0.79
seeking conventional treatment (Beta) ^{36,38,38,41,58,87,90,28-103}	(0.08 to 0.23)	(0.42 to 0.74)	(0.26 to 0.57)	(0.12 to 0.21)	(0.87 to 0.93)	(0.20 to 0.35)	(0.76 to 0.81)
Probability of systemic envenoming for victims seeking traditional treatment	0.08	0.42	0.26	0.12	0.87	0.20	0.76
Probability of antivenom given to victims with systemic envenoming seeking care at	1.00	1.00	0.12	0.77	0.83	0.33	1.00
the healthcare facilities*	โมห)// 9			
Probability of adverse reaction following antivenom treatment (Beta) ^{36,37,41,87}	0.10	0.04	0.40	0.05	0.22	0.53	0.08
	() ()	(0.02 to 0.07)			(0.03 to 0.60)	(0.38 to 0.69)	(0.06 to 0.10)
Probability of death in snakebite victims without systemic envenoming 25,30,38,4186,88	0.00	0.00	0.00	0:00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Probability of death in systemic envenoming treated with antivenom	0.002	0.0008	60:0	0:0	0.015	0.05	0.068
(Beta) ^{18,25,36,41} ,104,105	(0.001 to 0.013)	(0.0005 to 0.0012)	(0.07 to 0.12)	(0.01 to 0.18)	(0.008 to 0.025)	(0.01 to 0.16)	(0.061 to 0.074)
Relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available (Log-normal) ¹⁰⁴	2.33	2.33	2.33	2.33	2.33	2.33	2.33
	(1.26 to 4.06)	(1.26 to 4.06)	(1.26 to 4.06)	(1.26 to 4.06)	(1.26 to 4.06)	(1.26 to 4.06)	(1.26 to 4.06)
Probability of death in systemic envenoming treated in hospital without antivenom	0.005	0.0018	0.21	0.16	0.035	0.11	0.16
(Beta)							
Probability of death in systemic envenoming not treated in hospital (Beta)	0.030	0.0028	0.28	0.43	0.057	0.37	0.17
Probability of digit amputation due to snakebite envenoming (Beta) 36,38,41,87,89-	0.00	0.003	0.01	0.007	0.00	0.05	0.00
91,95,99,102,106-109		(0.001 to 0.012)	(0.005 to 0.02)			(0.01 to 0.16)	
Probability of limb amputation due to snakebite envenoming (Beta) ^{36,38,41,87,89-}	0.00	00:0	0.01	0.003	0:00	0.02	0.00
91,35,59,102,106-109			(0.005 to 0.02)			(0.001 to 0.12)	
Disability weight							
Disability weight for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (Beta) ¹¹⁰	0.006	0.006	0.006	0.006	0.006	0.006	0.006
	(0.002 to 0.012)	(0.002 to 0.012)	(0.002 to 0.012)	(0.002 to 0.012)	(0.002 to 0.012)	(0.002 to 0.012)	(0.002 to 0.012)

Table B1 Input parameters for estimating economic and disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN countries.

137

Parameters (Distribution)		Malaysia	Thailand	Indonesia	Philippines	Vietnam	Lao PDR	Myanmar
Disability weight for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (Beta) ¹¹⁰		0.163	0.163	0.163	0.163	0.163	0.163	0.163
		(0.109 to 0.227)						
Disability weight for digit amputation (Beta) ¹¹⁰		0.005	0.005	0.005	0.005	0.005	0.005	0.005
		(0.002 to 0.010)						
Disability weight for limb amputation (Beta) ¹¹⁰		0.039	0.039	0.039	0.039	0.039	0.039	0.039
		(0.024 to 0.059)						
Duration of disease								
Length of stay for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment, day	<u> </u>	1	Ļ	Ļ	L	Ļ	F	←
Length of stay for victims indicated for antivenom treatment		6.1 (4.1 to 8.0)	3.5 (2.6 to 4.4)	6.1 (4.1 to 8.0)				
(Gamma) ^{86,91,92,94,100,101,106,108}				N B D .				
Unit costs, USD	61				4 ×			
Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment		150	103	175	68	31	69	36
(Gamma) ¹¹¹⁻¹¹⁶		(135 to 164)	(93 to 114)	(158 to 193)	(61 to 75)	(28 to 34)	(62 to 76)	(32 to 39)
Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment		751	332	200'1	408	821	372	210
(Gamma) ¹¹⁻¹¹⁶	0	(676 to 826)	(290 to 354)	(907 to 1,108)	(367 to 449)	(155 to 190)	(335 to 410)	(189 to 231)
Unit cost of antivenom treatment (Gamma) ^{111,112,114,117}		992	217	822	312	89	202	326
		(893 to 1,091)	(196 to 239)	(695 to 850)	(281 to 343)	(61 to 75)	(181 to 222)	(293 to 359)
Unit cost of antivenom logistics costs, percentage of antivenom price ¹¹⁷		0.05	90'0	90.0	0.05	90'0	0.05	0.05
Unit cost of adverse reaction management (Gamma) 111.112.114.118		3.9 (3.5 to 4.3)	3.4 (3.1 to 3.7)	3.8 (3.5 to 4.2)	4.4 (4.0 to 4.9)	5.1 (4.6 to 5.7)	5.1 (4.6 to 5.7)	0.76 (0.69 to 0.84)
Unit cost of digit amputation (Gamma) ¹¹⁷		96 (86 to 106)	52 (47 to 57)	96 (86 to 106)				
Unit cost of limb amputation (Gamma) ¹¹⁷	61	154 (138 to 169)	158 (143 to 174)	154 (138 to 169)				
Unit cost of traditional healer		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Unit cost of transportation (Gamma) ^{111,118,120}		5.9 (5.3 to 6.5)	3.4 (3.1 to 3.6)	7.8 (7.0 to 8.6)	5.8 (5.2 to 6.4)	21 (19 to 23)	4.7 (4.2 to 5.1)	20 (18 to 22)
Unit cost of additional food (Gamma) ^{111,119,121}		2.7 (2.4 to 2.9)	1.2 (1.0 to 1.3)	2.3 (2.1 to 2.6)	2.3 (2.1 to 2.6)	6.5 (5.9 to 7.2)	2.4 (2.3 to 2.5)	3.3 (3.0 to 3.6)
Others								
Discount rate ¹²²⁻¹²⁴		0.03	0.03	80.0	0.03	80'0	0.03	0.03
		(0.00 to 0.05)	(0.00 to 0.06)					
GDP per capita, USD ¹²⁵		11,415	7,808	4,136	3,485	2,715	2,625	1,421
GDP per capita annual growth, % ¹²⁶		0.03	0.02	0.04	0.05	0.06	0.03	0.02
Number of relatives or family members who companied snakebite victims			£=	-	2	F	-	2

Vietnamese Dongs, 8,679.41 Lao Kips, and 1,518.26 Myanmar Kyats. *- Probability of antivenom given to victims with systemic envenoming seeking care at the healthcare facilities was determined by the number of antivenom Parameters are presented as base-case value (range). Costs are presented as USD where 1 USD equals to 4.14 Malaysian Ringgits, 31.05 Thai Bahts, 14,147.67 Indonesian Rupees, 51.80 Philippine Pesos, 23,050.24 treatments available divided by the number of snakebite victims needed antivenom treatment who sought care at the healthcare facilities.



	Incidence per 100,000	Mortality per 100,000	YLLs	YLDs for	YLDs for
				snakebite	amputation
				episode	
Malaysia	10.68 (10.34-11.06)	0.006 (0.001-0.019)	50 (0-151)	1 (1-3)	0
Thailand	12.52 (12.24-12.79)	0.006 (0.003-0.009)	102 (51-178)	8 (4-13)	0.21 (0.01-0.91)
Indonesia	49.88 (49.62-50.14)	3.90 (1.85-8.34)	262,302 (124,650-561,145)	149 (77-252)	437 (170-868)
Philippines	12.37 (10.59-14.59)	0.51 (0.25-1.02)	13,311 (6,624-26,641)	5 (3-8)	2 (1-3)
Vietnam	48.46 (18.14-94.35)	1.72 (0.51-4.60)	40,136 (11,869-107,679)	114 (38-258)	0
Lao PDR	200.00 (196.82-203.23)	14.04 (7.12-28.03)	24,468 (12,420-48,837)	8 (5-13)	56 (5-176)
Myanmar	38.97 (38.16-39.86)	3.97 (2.41-7.08)	50,786 (30,877-90,632)	44 (27-67)	0
Total	38.03 (32.89-45.62)	2.49 (1.19-5.32)	391,154 (186,491-835,263)	330 (154-613)	495 (175-1,049)

Table B2 Estimated annual epidemiological and disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN countries.

Estimates are presented as base-case estimates with their 95% credibility interval (in parentheses) based on probabilistic sensitivity analysis. Abbreviations: DALYs – disability-adjusted life years; YLDs – years lived with disabilities; YLLs – years of life lost.

Table B3 Estimated annual epidemiological and disease burden of snakebite envenoming per case

in ASEAN countries.

	Mortality rate	Amputation rate	DALYs per case	Direct costs per case, USD	Indirect costs per case, USD	Total costs per case, USD
Malaysia	0.004 (0.001-0.013)		0.11 (0.00-0.32)	1,736 (1,609-1,874)	1,649 (377-4,360)	3,386 (2,110-6,120)
Thailand	0.001 (0.000-0.001)	0.0003 (0.000- 0.001)	0.02 (0.01-0.03)	564 (492-641)	297 (223-377)	861 (739-998)
Indonesia	0.213 (0.107- 0.420)	0.016 (0.008-0.028)	5.30 (2.68- 10.45)	929 (708-1,157)	38,867 (19,690-76,612)	39,796 (20,616-77,511)
Philippines	0.313 (0.158- 0.642)	0.007 (0.004-0.008)	7.59 (3.83-15.52	240 (193-292)	46,833 (23,709-95,880)	47,072 (23,924-96,113)
Vietnam	0.040 (0.021-0.077)	C.S.	0.98 (0.51-1.86)	156 (103-216)	6,337 (3,337-12,025)	6,493 (3,534-12,166)
Lao PDR	0.332 (0.167- 0.668)	0.047 (0.007-0.115)	8.10 (4.10- 16.23)	32 (25-40)	26,508 (13,351-53,172)	26,540 (13,390-53,199)
Myanmar	0.132 (0.080- 0.235)	4 M 181	3.12 (1.90-5.56)	260 (231-300)	4,591 (2,819-8,125)	4,851 (3,072-8,378)
ASEAN	0.135 (0.089-	0.008 (0.004-0.014)	3.33 (2.19-5.78)	519 (381-697)	20,667 (12,391-38,973)	21,186 (12,905-39,710)

Estimates are presented as base-case estimates with their 95% credibility interval (in parentheses) based on probabilistic sensitivity analysis. Costs are presented as 2019 USD where 1 USD = 14,147.67 Indonesian Rupees = 51.80 Philippine Pesos = 23,050.24 Vietnamese Dong = 8,679.41 Lao Kip = 1,518.26 Myanmar Kyat. Abbreviations: DALYs – disability-adjusted life years; USD – US Dollar.

	PTSD, n	YLDs	Productivity losses, x1000 USD
Malaysia	98 (69-155)	168 (81-324)	382 (206-678)
Thailand	464 (161-977)	794 (239-1,797)	1,228 (371-2,796)
Indonesia	4,738 (2,480-8,514)	8,103 (3,144-16,702)	6,783 (2,866-13,287)
Philippines	334 (250-481)	426 (238-662)	407 (229-667)
Vietnam	3,103 (554-8,792)	5,306 (867-16,305)	2,994 (499-8,962)
Lao PDR	390 (257-587)	666 (304-1,174)	351 (181-618)
Myanmar	1,167 (880-1,448)	1,995 (997-3,070)	563 (319-856)
Total	10,293 (4,651-20,954)	17,458 (5,869-40,035)	12,708 (4,670-27,864)

Table B4. Estimated annual economic and disease burden of post-traumatic stress disorder

following snakebite.

Estimates are presented as base-case estimates as x1000 USD with their 95% credibility interval (in parentheses) based on probabilistic sensitivity analysis. Costs are presented as 2019 USD where 1 USD = 14,147.67 Indonesian Rupees = 51.80 Philippine Pesos = 23,050.24 Vietnamese Dong = 8,679.41 Lao Kip = 1,518.26 Myanmar Kyat. Abbreviations: PTSD – post-traumatic stress disorder; USD – US Dollar, YLDs – years lived with disabilities.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Figure B1 One-way sensitivity analysis of economic burden.

Malaysia

	Base-case 2,283	,915 US Dollars			
	-14%		68%		Probability of death in snakebite victims treated with antivenom (0.001-0.013)
	-32%	39%			Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment (0.08-0.23)
	-6%	14%			Discount rate (0.00-0.05)
	0%	14%			Antivenom effectiveness (1.3-4.1)
	-5%	5%			Length of stay of victims indicated for antivenom treatment (4.1-8.0)
	-2%	3%			Incidence of snakebite per 100,000 population (10.3-11.1)
	-2% [2%			Unit cost of antivenom treatment (893-1,091)
	-2% [2%			Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (135-164)
	-1% [1%			Unit cost of hospitalization for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (676-826)
	-0.3%	0.1%			Probability of seeking traditional treatment then conventional tratment (0.03-0.10)
	-0.2%	0.2%			Unit cost of transportation (5.3-6.5)
High	-0.1%	0.1%			Unit cost of additional food (2.4-2.9)
L'ingri	-0.001%	0.001%			Probability of seeking conventional treatment only (0.93-0.95)
Low	-0.001%	0.001%			Unit cost of adverse reaction management (3.5-4.3)
-150% -100% Percentage	-50% 0° change of base-ca	% 50% se economic butde	100% en of snakebite	150%	

Thailand

-0.002% 0 -0.001% 0	.010% .001%	Probability of digit amputation due to snakebite envenoming (0.001-0.012) Unit cost of adverse reaction management (3.1-3.7)
-0.1% 0	.01%	Probability of adverse reaction following antivenom treatment (0.02-0.07)
-0.1% 0	.1%	Unit cost of additional food (1.0-1.3)
-0.7% 🛚 0	1.7%	Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (93-114)
-1.8%	1.8%	Incidence of snakebite per 100,000 population (12.25-12.78)
-2.4%	2.4%	Unit cost of antivenom treatment (196-239)
-4.4%	7.6%	Discount rate (0.00-0.06)
-7.6%	7.6%	Probability of death in snakebite victims treated with antivenom (0.0005-0.0012)
-20.3%	18.4%	Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment (0.42-0.74) Length of stay of victims indicated for antivenom treatment (2.6-4.4)

Percentage change of base-case economic burden of snakebite

Indonesia

Bas	se-case 1,988,8	391,230 US Dollars		
-48%			137%	Discount rate (0.00-0.06)
-42%			69%	Relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available (1.3-4.1)
	30%	33%		Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment (0.26-0.57)
	-18%	21%		Probability of death in snakebite victims treated with antivenom (0.07-0.12)
	-1%	1%		Length of stay of victims indicated for antivenom treatment (4.1-8.0)
	-1%	1%		Incidence of snakebite per 100,000 population (49.6-50.2)
	-0.2%	0.2%		Unit cost of hospitalization for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (907-1,108)
	-0.1%	0.1%		Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (158-193)
	-0.02%	0.02%		Unit cost of antivenom treatment (695-850)
	-0.01%	0.01%		Unit cost of transportation (7.0-8.6)
	-0.01%	0.01%		Unit cost of additional food (2.1-2.6)
	-0.002%	0.004%		Probability of limb amputation due to snakebite envenoming (0.005-0.02)
	-0.002%	0.004%		Probability of digit amputation due to snakebite envenoming (0.005-0.02)
■High	-0.0003%	0.0003%		Unit cost of limb amputation (138-169)
	-0.0002%	0.0002%		Unit cost of digit amputation (86-106)
	-0.00004%	0.00004%		Unit cost of adverse reaction management (3.5.4.2)
150% -100% -50	0%	% 50%	100% 150%	

Percentage change of base-case economic burden of snakebite

Philippines



Vietnam



Discount rate (0.00-0.06)

Relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available (1.3-4.1)

Length of stay of victims indicated for antivenom treatment (4.1-8.0)

Probability of death in snakebite victims treated with antivenom (0.01-0.18)

Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment (0.12.0.21)

Unit cost of hospitalization for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (376-449)

Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (61-75)

Incidence of snakebite per 100,000 population (10.5-14.5)

Unit cost of antivenom treatment (281-343)

Unit cost of adverse reaction management (4.0-4.9)

Unit cost of transportation (5.2-6.4)

Unit cost of additional food (2.1-2.6)



Lao PDR

		В	ase-case 80	,582,627 US	Dollars				
		-41%		i] 105%		Discount rate (0.00-0.06)
		-45% 🗆				73%			Relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available (1.3-4.1)
			-3% (8%					Probability of death in snakebite victims treated with antivenom (0.01-0.16)
			-2%	2%					Incidence of snakebite per 100,000 population (196.7-203.3)
			-1%	1%					Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment (0.20-0.35)
			-0.1%	0.1%					Length of stay of victims indicated for antivenom treatment (4.1-8.0)
			0.0%	0.0%					Probability of limb amputation due to snakebite envenoming (0.001-0.12)
			-0.01%	0.01%					Probability of digit amputation due to snakebite envenoming (0.01-0.16)
			-0.01%	0.01%					Unit cost of hospitalization for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (335-410)
			-0.003%	0.003%					Unit cost of antivenom treatment (181-222)
			-0.002%	0.002%					Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (62-76)
			-0.002%	0.002%					Unit cost of transportation (4.2-5.1)
			-0.001%	0.001%					Unit cost of limb amputation (143-174)
			-0.001%	0.001%					Unit cost of additional food (2.3-2.5)
High			-0.001%	0.001%					Unit cost of digit amputation (47-57)
			-0.0001%	0.0001%					Probability of adverse reaction following antivenom treatment (0.38-0.69)
			-0.00004%	0.00004%					Unit cost of adverse reaction management (4.6-5.7)
-150%	-100%	-50%	。 0	%	50%	100	%	150%	
	Percentage c	hange	of base-ca	ase econo	mic burde	n of sna	akebite		
Myanmar

		Base-case 7	79,18	6,245 US D	ollars		
		-35%					83%
		-34%	_		5	5%	
		-2	2% d	2%			
		-2	2% 🛊	2%			
		-1	1%	1%			
		-1	1% 🕯	1%			
		-1	1%	1%			
		(0% i	0%			
		(0%	0%			
		(0%	0%			
			0%	0%			
			0% i	0%			
High			0%	0%			
anigh			0% i	0%			
□Low				0%			
-150%	-100%	-50%	09	%	50%		100%
	Percentage cha	ange of base	-ca	se econor	mic hu	den o	f snakehite

Discount rate (0.00-0.06) Relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available (1.3-4.1) Incidence of snakebite per 100,000 population (38.4-39.5) Probability of death in snakebite victims treated with antivenom (0.061-0.0740) Length of stay of victims indicated for antivenom treatment (4.1-8.0) Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment (0.76-0.81) Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment (0.76-0.81) Probability of firstly seeking traditional treatment then conventional tratment (0.5-0.08) Unit cost of antivenom treatment (293-359) Unit cost of hospitalization for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (189-231) Unit cost of transportation (18-22) Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (32-39) Probability of adverse reaction following antivenom treatment (0.06-0.10)

Unit cost of adverse reaction management (0.69-0.84)





Malaysia





Indonesia











CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY



Figure B3 Comparison of annual disease burden of neglected tropical diseases in ASEAN.

Estimated disease burden of snakebite from this study (shown in purple) was compared to the disease burden of neglected tropical diseases in seven ASEAN countries that were estimated in the Global Burden of Disease 2019 study.¹³¹



APPENDIX C POTENTIAL ECONOMIC AND CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS OF IMPROVING ACCESS TO SNAKE ANTIVENOM IN FIVE ASEAN COUNTRIES: A COST-EFFECTIVENESS ANALYSIS

Table C1 CHEERS 2022 Checklist.

Table C2 Input parameters for economic evaluation of improving access to snake antivenom inASEAN countries.

 Table C3 Sensitivity analysis of cost-effectiveness analysis of improving access to snake antivenom

 in ASEAN countries in different scenarios.

Table C4 Sensitivity analysis of cost-utility analysis of improving access to snake antivenom inASEAN countries in different scenarios.

 Table C5 Threshold analyses of antivenom effectiveness and costs of antivenom treatment resulted

 in an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio of 0.

Figure C1 One-way sensitivity analysis of incremental costs per death averted of improving access to snake antivenom in ASEAN countries.

Figure C2 One-way sensitivity analysis of incremental costs per disability-adjusted life year (DALY) averted of improving access to snake antivenom in ASEAN countries.

Figure C3 Cost-effectiveness plane of incremental costs per death averted of improving access to snake antivenom in ASEAN countries.

Figure C4 Cost-effectiveness plane of incremental costs per disability-adjusted life year (DALY) averted of improving access to snake antivenom in ASEAN countries.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Table C1 CHEERS 2022 Checklist.

Торіс	No.	Item	Location where item is reported
Title			
	1	Identify the study as an economic evaluation and specify the interventions being compared.	Title
Abstract			
	2	Provide a structured summary that highlights context, key methods, results, and alternative analyses.	Abstract
Introduction			
Background and objectives	3	Give the context for the study, the study question, and its practical relevance for decision making in policy or practice.	Introduction, paragraph 3-4
Methods			
Health economic analysis plan	4	Indicate whether a health economic analysis plan was developed and where available.	Not reported
Study population	5	Describe characteristics of the study population (such as age range, demographics, socioeconomic, or clinical characteristics).	Methods, paragraph 1-2
Setting and location	6	Provide relevant contextual information that may influence findings.	Methods, paragraph 1
Comparators	7	Describe the interventions or strategies being compared and why chosen.	Methods, paragraph 2
Perspective	8	State the perspective(s) adopted by the study and why chosen.	Methods, paragraph 2
Time horizon	9	State the time horizon for the study and why appropriate.	Methods, paragraph 2
Discount rate	10	Report the discount rate(s) and reason chosen.	Methods, Discounting
Selection of outcomes	11	Describe what outcomes were used as the measure(s) of benefit(s) and harm(s).	Methods, Decision analytic model
Measurement of	12	Describe how outcomes used to capture	Methods, Health outcomes
outcomes		benefit(s) and harm(s) were measured.	
Valuation of outcomes	13	Describe the population and methods used to measure and value outcomes.	Methods, Health outcomes

Торіс	No.	Item	Location where item is reported
Measurement and	14	Describe how costs were valued.	Methods, Costs
valuation of resources			
and costs			
Currency, price date,	15	Report the dates of the estimated	Methods, Base-case analyses
and conversion		resource quantities and unit costs, plus	
		the currency and year of conversion.	
Rationale and	16	If modelling is used, describe in detail	Methods, Decision analytic model,
description of model		and why used. Report if the model is	Figure 1
		publicly available and where it can be	
		accessed.	
Analytics and	17	Describe any methods for analysing or	Methods, Decision analytic model
assumptions		statistically transforming data, any	
		extrapolation methods, and approaches	
		for validating any model used.	
Characterising	18	Describe any methods used for	Not Applicable
heterogeneity		estimating how the results of the study	
		vary for subgroups.	
Characterising	19	Describe how impacts are distributed	Not Applicable
distributional effects		across different individuals or	
		adjustments made to reflect priority	
		populations.	
Characterising	20	Describe methods to characterise any	Methods, Sensitivity analyses
uncertainty		sources of uncertainty in the analysis.	
Approach to	21	Describe any approaches to engage	Methods, Input parameters;
engagement with		patients or service recipients, the general	Methods, Patient and public
patients and others		public, communities, or stakeholders	involvement
affected by the study		(such as clinicians or payers) in the	
		design of the study.	
Results			
Study parameters	22	Report all analytic inputs (such as	S1 Table in the supplementary
		values, ranges, references) including	material
		uncertainty or distributional assumptions.	
Summary of main	23	Report the mean values for the main	Results, Base-case analyses, Table
results		categories of costs and outcomes of	2, Table 3
		interest and summarise them in the most	
		appropriate overall measure.	
1			

Торіс	No.	Item	Location where item is reported	
Effect of uncertainty	24	Describe how uncertainty about analytic	Results, Sensitivity analysis, Figure	
		judgments, inputs, or projections affect	2, S1 Table, S2 Table, S3 Table, S4	
		findings. Report the effect of choice of	Table, S5 Table, S1 Figure, S2	
		discount rate and time horizon, if	Figure, S3 Figure, S4 Figure	
		applicable.		
Effect of engagement	25	Report on any difference patient/service	Not reported	
with patients and others		recipient, general public, community, or		
affected by the study		stakeholder involvement made to the		
		approach or findings of the study		
Discussion				
Study findings,	26	Report key findings, limitations, ethical or	Discussion	
limitations,		equity considerations not captured, and		
generalisability, and		how these could affect patients, policy,		
current knowledge		or practice.		
Other relevant				
information				
Source of funding	27	Describe how the study was funded and	Acknowledgement	
		any role of the funder in the identification,		
		design, conduct, and reporting of the		
		analysis		
Conflicts of interest	28	Report authors conflicts of interest	Acknowledgement	
		according to journal or International		
		Committee of Medical Journal Editors		
		requirements.		

From: Husereau D, Drummond M, Augustovski F, et al. Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards 2022 (CHEERS 2022) Explanation and Elaboration: A Report of the ISPOR CHEERS II Good Practices Task Force. Value Health 2022;25.

doi:10.1016/j.jval.2021.10.008

Parameters (Distribution)	Indonesia	Philippines	Vietnam	Lao PDR	Myanmar
Epidemiological parameters					
Total population, million people ¹⁶	271	108	96	2	54
Incidence of snakebite per 100,000 population (Beta) ^{38,41,38}	49.9	12.4	48.5	200.0	39.0
	(49.6 to 50.2)	(10.5 to 14.5)	(19.5 to 99.8)	(196.7 to 203.3)	(38.4 to 39.5)
Probability of snakebite victims seeking conventional treatment only in current access (Beta) ⁴¹	0.75	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.34
((0.32 to 0.35)
Probability of snakebite victims firstly seeking traditional treatment then switching to conventional treatment in current	0.00	0.27	0.43	0.10	0.07
access (Beta) ^{38,41}			(0.29 to 0.59)		(0.05 to 0.08)
Probability of snakebite victims firstly seeking traditional treatment then switching to conventional treatment in full access	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment for victims seeking conventional treatment	0.40	0.16	06.0	0.27	0.79
(Beta) ^{25,8,2,4,1}	(0.26 to 0.57)	(0.12 to 0.21)	(0.87 to 0.93)	(0.20 to 0.35)	(0.76 to 0.81)
Probability of systemic envenoming for victims seeking traditional treatment	0.26	0.12	0.87	0.20	0.76
Probability of victims indicated for antivenom treatment regardless of treatment seeking behavior who received antivenom	0.10	0.26	0.37	0.04	0.64
treatment at current level of access*			2.2		
Probability of antivenom given to victims with systemic envenoming seeking care at the healthcare facilities at current level of access*	0.12	0.77	0.83	0.33	1.00
Probability of antivenom given to victims with systemic envenoming seeking care at the healthcare facilities at full level of	1.00	00:4	1.00	1.00	1.00
access	EC II II				
Probability of adverse reaction following antivenom treatment (Beta) ^{96,37,41}	0.40	0.05	0.22	0.53	0.08
) SI			(0.03 to 0.60)	(0.38 to 0.69)	(0.06 to 0.10)
Probability of death in snakebite victims without systemic envenoming ^{25,36,41,88}	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Probability of death in systemic envenoming treated with antivenom (Beta) ^{255,36,41,104}	60:0	0.07	0.015	0.05	0.068
	(0.07 to 0.12)	(0.01 to 0.18)	(0.008 to 0.025)	(0.01 to 0.16)	(0.061 to 0.074)
Relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available (Log-normal) ¹⁰⁴	2.33	2.33	2.33	2.33	2.33
	(1.26 to 4.06)	(1.26 to 4.06)	(1.26 to 4.06)	(1.26 to 4.06)	(1.26 to 4.06)
Probability of death in systemic envenoming treated in hospital without antivenom (Beta)	0.21	0.16	0.035	0.11	0.16
Probability of death in systemic envenoming not treated in hospital (Beta)	0.28	0.43	0.057	0.37	0.17
Probability of digit amputation due to snakebite envenoming (Beta) ^{38,38,41}	0.01	0.007	0.00	0.05	0.00
	(0.005 to 0.02)			(0.01 to 0.16)	
Probability of limb amputation due to snakebite envenoming (Beta) ⁴¹	0.01	0.003	00.00	0.02	0.00
	(0.005 to 0.02)			(0.001 to 0.12)	
Disability weight					

Table C2 Input parameters for economic evaluation of improving access to snake antivenom in ASEAN countries.

153

Disability weight for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (Beta) ¹¹⁰	0.006	0.006	0.006	0.006	0.006
	(0.002 to 0.012)	(0.002 to 0.012)	(0.002 to 0.012)	(0.002 to 0.012)	(0.002 to 0.012)
Disability weight for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (Beta) ¹¹⁰	0.163	0.163	0.163	0.163	0.163
	(0.109 to 0.227)	(0.109 to 0.227)	(0.109 to 0.227)	(0.109 to 0.227)	(0.109 to 0.227)
Disability weight for digit amputation (Beta) ¹¹⁰	0.005	0.005	0.005	0.005	0.005
	(0.002 to 0.010)	(0.002 to 0.010)	(0.002 to 0.010)	(0.002 to 0.010)	(0.002 to 0.010)
Disability weight for limb amputation (Beta) ¹¹⁰	0.039	0.039	0.039	0.039	0.039
	(0.024 to 0.059)	(0.024 to 0.059)	(0.024 to 0.059)	(0.024 to 0.059)	(0.024 to 0.059)
Duration of disease					
Length of stay for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment, day	1	1	1	L	~
Length of stay for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (Gamma)*	6.1 (4.1 to 8.0)	6.1 (4.1 to 8.0)	6.1 (4.1 to 8.0)	6.1 (4.1 to 8.0)	6.1 (4.1 to 8.0)
Unit costs, USD		N. Carl			
Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (Gamma) 12-116	175	89	31	69	36
n N	(158 to 193)	(61 to 75)	(28 to 34)	(62 to 76)	(32 to 39)
Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (Gamma) 122-116	1,007	408	173	372	210
ານີ້: ເດ	(907 to 1,108)	(367 to 449)	(155 to 190)	(335 to 410)	(189 to 231)
Unit cost of antivenom treatment (Gamma) ^{112,114}	273	312	68	202	326
N N	(695 to 850)	(281 to 343)	(61 to 75)	(181 to 222)	(293 to 359)
Unit cost of antivenom logistics costs, percentage of antivenom price ¹¹⁷	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05
Unit cost of adverse reaction management (Gamma) ^{112,114}	3.8 (3.5 to 4.2)	4.4 (4.0 to 4.9)	5.1 (4.6 to 5.7)	5.1 (4.6 to 5.7)	0.76 (0.69 to 0.84)
Unit cost of digit amputation (Gamma) ¹⁷⁷	96 (86 to 106)	96 (86 to 106)	96 (86 to 106)	52 (47 to 57)	96 (86 to 106)
Unit cost of limb amputation (Gamma) ¹¹⁷	154 (138 to 169)	154 (138 to 169)	154 (138 to 169)	158 (143 to 174)	154 (138 to 169)
Unit cost of traditional healer	0	0	0	0	0
Unit cost of transportation (Gamma) ¹²⁰	7.8 (7.0 to 8.6)	5.8 (5.2 to 6.4)	21 (19 to 23)	4.7 (4.2 to 5.1)	20 (18 to 22)
Unit cost of additional food (Gamma) ¹²¹	2.3 (2.1 to 2.6)	2.3 (2.1 to 2.6)	6.5 (5.9 to 7.2)	2.4 (2.3 to 2.5)	3.3 (3.0 to 3.6)
Others					
Discount rate ^{t23,124}	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03
	(0.00 to 0.06)	(0.00 to 0.06)	(0.00 to 0.06)	(0.00 to 0.06)	(0.00 to 0.06)
GDP per capita, USD ¹²⁶	4,136	3,485	2,715	2,625	1,421
GDP per capita annual growth, % ¹²⁶	0.04	0.05	0.06	0.03	0.02
Number of relatives or family members who companied snakebite victims	E	2	1	1	2
Note: Parameters are presented as base-case value (range). Costs are presented as USD w	where 1 USD equals to 14,147.67 Ir	ndonesian Rupees, 51.80 F	hilippine Pesos, 23,050.	24 Vietnamese Dongs, 8,6	579.41 Lao Kips, and

1,518.26 Myanmar Kyats. *- Probability of antivenom given to victims with systemic envenoming seeking care at the healthcare facilities was determined by the number of antivenom treatments available divided by the number of snakebite victims needed antivenom treatment who sought care at the healthcare facilities.

154

Table C3 Sensitivity analysis of cost-effectiveness analysis of improving access to snake antivenomin ASEAN countries in different scenarios.

		Incremental costs per death averted, USD						
Scenario	Indonesia	Philippines	Vietnam	Lao PDR	Myanmar			
Base-case	-173,745	-144,872	-146,977	-78,021	-27,595			
Antivenom was effective on reducing risk of	-173,755	-144,874	N/A	-78,032	N/A			
amputation following snakebite envenoming								
Incorporating post-traumatic stress disorder	-173,637	-144,781	-146,905	-	-27,558			
as disability following snakebite envenoming				77,953				
Excluding indirect costs	8,396	4,092	8,632	1,488	6,708			
Logistic costs as 10% of antivenom price	-173,458	-144,826	-146,896	-77,988	-27,439			

Note: Willingness-to-pay thresholds of each ASEAN country were 4,136 USD for Indonesia, 2,317 USD for Philippines, 2,715 USD for Vietnam, 2,625 USD for Lao PDR, and 1,421 USD for Myanmar. Costs are presented as 2019 USD where 1 USD = 14,147.67 = Indonesian Rupees = 51.80 = Philippine Pesos = 23,050.24 Vietnamese Dong = 8,679.41 Lao Kip = 1,518.26 Myanmar Kyat. USD – US Dollars; N/A – not applicable.

Table C4 Sensitivity analysis of cost-utility analysis of improving access to snake antivenom inASEAN countries in different scenarios.

	Increme	Incremental costs per disability-adjusted life year averted, USD						
Scenario	Indonesia	Philippines	Vietnam	Lao PDR	Myanmar			
Base-case	-6,991	-5,987	-6,062	-3,213	-1,165			
Antivenom was effective on reducing risk of	-6,978	-5,985	N/A	-3,207	N/A			
amputation following snakebite envenoming								
Incorporating post-traumatic stress disorder as	-7,023	-6,015	-6,091	-3,228	-1,170			
disability following snakebite envenoming								
Excluding indirect costs	KO R \ 338	169	356	61	283			
Logistic costs as 10% of antivenom price	-6,978	-5,983	-6,059	-3,212	-1,159			

Note: Willingness-to-pay thresholds of each ASEAN country were 4,136 USD for Indonesia, 2,317 USD for Philippines, 2,715 USD for Vietnam, 2,625 USD for Lao PDR, and 1,421 USD for Myanmar. Costs are presented as 2019 USD where 1 USD = 14,147.67 = Indonesian Rupees = 51.80 = Philippine Pesos = 23,050.24 Vietnamese Dong = 8,679.41 Lao Kip = 1,518.26 Myanmar Kyat. USD – US Dollars; N/A – not applicable.

Parameter	Indonesia	Philippines	Vietnam	Lao PDR	Myanmar
Antivenom effectiveness, Relative risk of	death				
Base-case value	2.33	2.33	2.33	2.33	2.33
Threshold value resulting in ICER of 0	1.01	0.44	0.73	0.35	1.19
Costs of antivenom treatment, USD					
Base-case value	773	312	68	202	326
Threshold value resulting in ICER of 0	22,985	46,054	5,624	22,365	3,083
Ratio of threshold value to base-case	30	149	87	113	9
value	人名德利 副	a			

 Table C5 Threshold analyses of antivenom effectiveness and costs of antivenom treatment resulted
 in an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio of 0.

Note: Costs are presented as 2019 USD where 1 USD = 14,147.67 = Indonesian Rupees = 51.80 = Philippine Pesos = 23,050.24 Vietnamese

Dong = 8,679.41 Lao Kip = 1,518.26 Myanmar Kyat. DALY – disability



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University Figure C1 One-way sensitivity analysis of incremental costs per death averted of improving access to

snake antivenom in ASEAN countries.

Indonesia

	Base-case -173,745	USD/death averted		
	-52%		149%	Discount rate (0.00-0.06)
	-17%	3%		Relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available (1.3-4.1)
	-1%	1%		Probability of death in snakebite victims treated with antivenom (0.07-0.12)
	-0.4%	0.3%		Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment (0.26-0.57)
	-0.3%	0.3%		Unit cost of antivenom treatment (695-850)
	-0.3%	0.3%		Length of stay of victims indicated for antivenom treatment (4.1-8.0)
	-0.1%	0.1%		Unit cost of hospitalization for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (907-1,108)
	-0.04%	0.04%		Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (158-193)
	-0.01%	0.01%		Unit cost of transportation (7.0-8.6)
	-0.003%	0.003%		Unit cost of additional food (2.1-2.6)
	-0.001%	0.001%		Probability of limb amputation due to snakebite envenoming (0.005-0.02)
	-0.001%	0.001%		Probability of digit amputation due to snakebite envenoming (0.005-0.02)
	-0.001%	0.001%		Unit cost of adverse reaction management (3.5.4.2)
High	-0.001%	0.001%		Incidence of snakebite per 100,000 population (49.6-50.2)
	-0.0001%	0.0001%		Unit cost of limb amputation (138-169)
LOW	-0.0001%	0.0001%		Unit cost of digit amputation (86-106)
-200% -150% -100%	% -50% 0%	% 50 % 100	0% 150% 2	00%

Percentage change of base-case ICER per death averted

Philippines

	Base-case -144,872	USD/death averted		
	-48%		129%	Discount rate (0.00-0.06)
	-3%	1%		Relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available (1.3-4.1)
	-1.0%	0.3%		Probability of death in snakebite victims treated with antivenom (0.01-0.18)
	-0.3%	0.3%		Length of stay of victims indicated for antivenom treatment (4.1-8.0)
	-0.1%	0.1%		Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (61-75)
	-0.1%	0.1%		Unit cost of hospitalization for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (376-449)
	-0.03%	0.03%		Unit cost of transportation (5.2-6.4)
	-0.02%	0.02%		Unit cost of antivenom treatment (281-343)
	-0.02%	0.02%		Unit cost of additional food (2.1-2.6)
	-0.01%	0.01%		Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment (0.12.0.21)
High	-0.005%	0.004%		Incidence of snakebite per 100,000 population (10.5-14.5)
Low	-0.00002%	0.00002%		Unit cost of adverse reaction management (4.0-4.9)
-200% -150%	-100% -50% 0	% 50% 100%	150% 200	0%

-200% -150% -100% -50% . 0% 50% 100% 150% Percentage change of base-case ICER per death averted

Vietnam

	Base-case -146,977	USD/death avert	ed		
	-52%			147%	Discount rate (0.00-0.06)
	-10% 🗖	3%			Relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available (1.3-4.1)
	-1%	1%			Length of stay of victims indicated for antivenom treatment (4.1-8.0)
	-1%	1%			Probability of death in snakebite victims treated with antivenom (0.008-0.025)
	0%	1%			Probability of snakebite victims firstly seeking tradtional treatment then switching to
	0%	0%			Incidence of snakebite per 100,000 population (19.5-99.8)
	0%	0%			Unit cost of hospitalization for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (155-190)
	0%	0%			Unit cost of additional food (5.9-7.2)
	0%	0%			Unit cost of antivenom treatment (61-75)
	0%	0%			Unit cost of transportation (19-23)
	0%	0%			Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment (0.87-0.93)
n High	0%	0%			Probability of adverse reaction following antivenom treatment (0.03-0.60)
	0%	0%			Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (28-34)
Low	0%	0%			Unit cost of adverse reaction management (4.6-5.7)
200% -150% -100%	50% 0	% 50%	100% 1	50% 20	л Ю%

Percentage change of base-case ICER per death averted

Lao PDR

	Base-case -78,021	USD/death averted		
	-42%		107%	Discount rate (0.00-0.06)
	-2% (1%		Relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available (1.3-4.1)
	-1%	0%		Probability of death in snakebite victims treated with antivenom (0.01-0.16)
	-0.2%	0.2%		Length of stay of victims indicated for antivenom treatment (4.1-8.0)
	-0.1%	0.1%		Unit cost of antivenom treatment (181-222)
	-0.04%	0.04%		Unit cost of hospitalization for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (335-410)
	-0.02%	0.02%		Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (62-76)
	-0.02%	0.02%		Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment (0.20-0.35)
	-0.02%	0.02%		Unit cost of transportation (4.2-5.1)
	-0.020%	0.005%		Probability of limb amputation due to snakebite envenoming (0.001-0.12)
	-0.008%	0.008%		Unit cost of additional food (2.3-2.5)
	-0.007%	0.003%		Probability of digit amputation due to snakebite envenoming (0.01-0.16)
	-0.003%	0.004%		Probability of adverse reaction following antivenom treatment (0.38-0.69)
	-0.001%	0.001%		Unit cost of adverse reaction management (4.6-5.7)
■ High	-0.0005%	0.0005%		Unit cost of limb amputation (143-174)
	-0.0004%	0.0004%		Incidence of snakebite per 100,000 population (196.7-203.3)
	-0.0003%	0.0003%		Unit cost of digit amputation (47-57)
-200% -150% -	100% -50% 0	% 50% 100%	150%	200%

Percentage change of base-case ICER per death averted



Myanmar

	Base-case -27,595 USD/death averted	
	-46%	111% Discount rate (0.00-0.06)
-7	5% 13%	Relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available (1.3-4.1)
	-3% 💼 3%	Length of stay of victims indicated for antivenom treatment (4.1-8.0)
	-2% 🛊 1%	Probability of death in snakebite victims treated with antivenom (0.061-0.0740)
	-1% 🛔 1%	Unit cost of antivenom treatment (293-359)
	-1% 🚺 1%	Unit cost of hospitalization for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (189-231)
	-0.3% 0.3%	Unit cost of transportation (18-22)
	-0.2% 0.2%	Unit cost of additional food (3.0-3.6)
	-0.04% 0.04%	Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (32-39)
	-0.001% 0.000%	Probability of adverse reaction following antivenom treatment (0.06-0.10)
	-0.0002% 0.0002%	Unit cost of adverse reaction management (0.69-0.84)
	0.00000% 0.00000%	Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment (0.76-0.81)
Hiah	0.00000% 0.00000%	Probability of snakebite victims firstly seeking tradtional treatment then switching to.
	0.00000% 0.00000%	Incidence of snakebite per 100,000 population (38.4-39.5)
LOW	0.00000% 0.00000%	Probability of snakebite victims seeking conventional treatment only (0.32-0.35)
200% -150% -100	% -50% 0% 50% 100%	150% 200%

-200% -150% -100% -50% 0% 50% 100% 150% 20 Percentage change of base-case ICER per death averted

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Figure C2 One-way sensitivity analysis of incremental costs per disability-adjusted life year (DALY)

averted of improving access to snake antivenom in ASEAN countries.

Indonesia

	Base-case -6,991 USD/DALY averted	
	-22% 20%	Discount rate (0.00-0.06)
	-16% 3%	Relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available (1.3-4.1)
	-1% b 1%	Probability of death in snakebite victims treated with antivenom (0.07-0.12)
	0.4% 0.2%	Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment (0.26-0.57)
	-0.33% 0.33%	Unit cost of antivenom treatment (695-850)
	0.28% 0.28%	Length of stay of victims indicated for antivenom treatment (4.1-8.0)
	0.08% 0.08%	Unit cost of hospitalization for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (907-1,108)
	0.04% 0.04%	Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (158-193)
	-0.03% 0.05%	Probability of limb amputation due to snakebite envenoming (0.005-0.02)
	-0.03% 0.05%	Probability of digit amputation due to snakebite envenoming (0.005-0.02)
	0.02% 0.03%	Disability weight for limb amputation (0.024-0.059)
	-0.004% 0.007%	Disability weight for digit amputation (0.002-0.010)
	-0.005% 0.005%	Unit cost of transportation (7.0-8.6)
	-0.003% 0.003%	Unit cost of additional food (2.1-2.6)
	-0.001% 0.001%	Unit cost of adverse reaction management (3.5.4.2)
	-0.0004% 0.0004%	Incidence of snakebite per 100,000 population (49.6-50.2)
= Lliab	0.0001% 0.0001%	Unit cost of limb amputation (138-169)
High	-0.0001% 0.0001%	Unit cost of digit amputation (86-106)
n l ow	0.0000% 0.0000%	Disability weight for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (0.002-0.012)
	0.0000% 0.0000%	Disability weight for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (0.0109-0.227)

-100% -80% -60% -40% -20% 0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% Percentage change of base-case ICER per DALY averted

Philippines

	Base-case -5,987 U	SD/DALY averted	
	-16%	17%	Discount rate (0.00-0.06)
	-3% 🗖	1%	Relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available (1.3-4.1)
	-1.0% 🛽	0.3%	Probability of death in snakebite victims treated with antivenom (0.01-0.18)
	-0.3%	0.3%	Length of stay of victims indicated for antivenom treatment (4.1-8.0)
	-0.09%	0.09%	Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (61-75)
	-0.08%	0.08%	Unit cost of hospitalization for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (376-449)
	-0.03%	0.03%	Unit cost of transportation (5.2-6.4)
	-0.022%	0.022%	Unit cost of antivenom treatment (281-343)
	-0.017%	0.017%	Unit cost of additional food (2.1-2.6)
	-0.012%	0.014%	Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment (0.12.0.21)
	-0.004%	0.003%	Incidence of snakebite per 100,000 population (10.5-14.5)
High	-0.001%	0.001%	Disability weight for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (0.0109-0.227)
	0.0000%	0.0000%	Unit cost of adverse reaction management (4.0-4.9)
LOW	0.0000%	0.0000%	Disability weight for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (0.002-0.012)

-100% -80% -60% -40% -20% 0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% Percentage change of base-case ICER per DALY averted

Vietnam

	Base-case -6,062 USD/DALY averted	
	-23% 26.2425%	Discount rate (0.00-0.06)
	-10% 3%	Relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available (1.3-4.1)
	-1.2% 📫 1.2%	Length of stay of victims indicated for antivenom treatment (4.1-8.0)
	-1.3% 📋 0.6%	Probability of death in snakebite victims treated with antivenom (0.008-0.025)
	-0.2% 0.6%	Probability of snakebite victims firstly seeking tradtional treatment then switching to.
	0.2% 0.4%	Incidence of snakebite per 100,000 population (19.5-99.8)
	0.2% 0.2%	Unit cost of hospitalization for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (155-190)
	-0.122% 0.122%	Unit cost of additional food (5.9-7.2)
	-0.116% 0.116%	Unit cost of antivenom treatment (61-75)
	-0.073% 0.073%	Unit cost of transportation (19-23)
	-0.042% 0.034%	Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment (0.87-0.93)
	-0.033% 0.017%	Probability of adverse reaction following antivenom treatment (0.03-0.60)
	-0.007% 0.007%	Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (28-34)
High	-0.002% 0.002%	Unit cost of adverse reaction management (4.6-5.7)
	0.0000% 0.0000%	Disability weight for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (0.0109-0.227)
	0.0000% 0.0000%	Disability weight for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (0.002-0.012)

-100% -80% -60% -40% -20% 0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% Percentage change of base-case ICER per DALY averted



Lao PDR

Base	-case -3,213 USD/I	DALY averted			
	-7%	6%			Discount rate (0.00-0.06)
	-2% 🖬 19	%			Relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available (1.3-4.1)
	-1% 🕯 0%	6			Probability of death in snakebite victims treated with antivenom (0.01-0.16)
	-0.1% 0.4	4%			Probability of limb amputation due to snakebite envenoming (0.001-0.12)
	-0.2% 0.2	2%			Length of stay of victims indicated for antivenom treatment (4.1-8.0)
	-0.1% 0.1	1%			Unit cost of antivenom treatment (181-222)
	-0.04% 0.0	04%			Unit cost of hospitalization for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (335-410)
	-0.03% 0.0	05%			Disability weight for limb amputation (0.024-0.059)
	-0.02% 0.0	05%			Probability of digit amputation due to snakebite envenoming (0.01-0.16)
	-0.02% 0.0	02%			Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (62-76)
	-0.01% 0.0	02%			Disability weight for digit amputation (0.002-0.010)
	-0.019% 0.0	018%			Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment (0.20-0.35)
	-0.018% 0.0	018%			Unit cost of transportation (4.2-5.1)
	-0.008% 0.0	08%			Unit cost of additional food (2.3-2.5)
	-0.003% 0.0	004%			Probability of adverse reaction following antivenom treatment (0.38-0.69)
	-0.001% 0.0	001%			Unit cost of adverse reaction management (4.6-5.7)
	-0.0005% 0.0	0005%			Unit cost of limb amputation (143-174)
High	-0.0004% 0.0	0004%			Incidence of snakebite per 100,000 population (196.7-203.3)
L light	-0.0003% 0.0	0003%			Unit cost of digit amputation (47-57)
□Low	0.0000% 0.0	000%			Disability weight for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (0.0109-0.227)
	0.0000% 0.0	0000%			Disability weight for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (0.002-0.012)
100% -80% -60% -40%	-20% 0%	20% 40%	60% 8	30% 100	%

Percentage change of base-case ICER per DALY averted

Myanmar

-75%		13%	Relative risk of death when antivenoms are not available (1.3-4.1)
	-15%	11%	Discount rate (0.00-0.06)
	-3% 🔲 3%	5	Length of stay of victims indicated for antivenom treatment (4.1-8.0)
	-2% 👖 1%		Probability of death in snakebite victims treated with antivenom (0.061-0.0740)
	-1.1% 🖕 1.1	%	Unit cost of antivenom treatment (293-359)
	-0.7% 🗴 0.7	%	Unit cost of hospitalization for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (189-231)
	-0.3% 0.3%	6	Unit cost of transportation (18-22)
	-0.2% 0.2%	6	Unit cost of additional food (3.0-3.6)
	-0.04% 0.04	%	Unit cost of hospitalization for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (32-39)
	-0.001% 0.00	0%	Probability of adverse reaction following antivenom treatment (0.06-0.10)
	-0.0002% 0.00	02%	Unit cost of adverse reaction management (0.69-0.84)
	0.00000% 0.00	000%	Probability of systemic envenoming indicated for antivenom treatment (0.76-0.81)
	0.00000% 0.00	000%	Probability of snakebite victims seeking conventional treatment only (0.32-0.35)
	0.00000% 0.00	000%	Probability of snakebite victims firstly seeking tradtional treatment then switching to.
High	0.00000% 0.00	000%	Incidence of snakebite per 100,000 population (38.4-39.5)
	0.00000% 0.00	000%	Disability weight for victims indicated for antivenom treatment (0.0109-0.227)
LOW	0.00000% 0.00	000%	Disability weight for victims not indicated for antivenom treatment (0.002-0.012)

-100% -80% -60% -40% -20% 0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% Percentage change of base-case ICER per DALY averted

Figure C3 Cost-effectiveness plane of incremental costs per death averted of improving access to

snake antivenom in ASEAN countries.

Incremental costs and deaths averted of full access to snake antivenom in each ASEAN country based on a probabilistic sensitivity analysis of 1,000 iterations are presented in dots. Willingness-to-pay thresholds of each country are presented as dash lines with corresponding color.



Figure C4 Cost-effectiveness plane of incremental costs per disability-adjusted life year (DALY)

averted of improving access to snake antivenom in ASEAN countries.

Incremental costs and disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) averted of full access to snake antivenom in each ASEAN country based on a probabilistic sensitivity analysis of 1,000 iterations are presented in dots. Willingness-to-pay thresholds of each country are presented as dash lines with corresponding color.



REFERENCES





VITA

NAME	Chanthawat Patikorn, Pharm.D., M.Sc.			
DATE OF BIRTH	29 November 1992			
PLACE OF BIRTH	Chiang Rai, Thailand			
INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED	Graduate Research Assistant at the Department of Social and			
	Administrative Pharmacy, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences,			
	Chulalongkorn University			
	Postdoctoral Research Fellow at the Department of			
2	Pharmacotherapy, University of Utah College of Pharmacy, Salt Lake			
4	City, Utah, United States			
HOME ADDRESS	869/165 Paholyothin, Wieng, Meung, Chiang Rai, Thailand, 57000			
PUBLICATION	1. Patikorn C, Ismail AK, Abidin SAZ, Othman I,			
	Chaiyakunapruk N, Taychakhoonavudh S. (2022). Potential			
	economic and clinical implications of improving access to snake			
8	antivenom in five ASEAN countries: A cost-effectiveness analysis.			
4	PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 16(11), e0010915.			
	2. Patikorn C, Blessmann J, Nwe MT, Tiglao PJG,			
r	Vasaruchapong T, Maharani T, Doan UV, Abidin SAZ, Ismail AK,			
	Othman I, Taychakhoonavudh S, Chaiyakunapruk N. (2022)			
	Estimating economic and disease burden of snakebite in ASEAN			
	countries using a decision analytic model. PLoS Negl Trop Dis			
	16(9):e0010775.			
	3. Gutierrez MM, Patikorn C, Anantachoti P. Evaluation of			
	pharmaceutical pictogram comprehension among adults in the			
	Philippines. J of Pharm Policy and Pract 15, 30 (2022).			
	https://doi.org/10.1186/s40545-022-00426-y.			
	4. Patikorn C, Ismail AK, Abidin SAZ, Blanco FB, Blessmann J,			
	Choumlivong K, Comandante JD, Doan UV, Mohamed @ Ismail Z, Yi			
	Khine Y, Maharani T, Thet Nwe M, Qamruddin RM, Safferi RS,			

Santamaria E, Tiglao PJG, Trakulsrichai S, Vasaruchapong T, Chaiyakunapruk N, Taychakhoonavudh S, Othman I. Situation of snakebite, antivenom market and access to antivenoms in ASEAN countries. BMJ Global Health 2022;7:e007639.

 Patikorn C, Taychakhoonavudh S, Sakulbumrungsil R, Ross-Degnan D, Anantachoti P. Financing strategies to facilitate access to high-cost anticancer drugs: a systematic review of the literature.
 International Journal of Health Policy and Management. 2022; 11(9): 1625-1634. doi:10.34172/ijhpm.2021.138.

 Patikorn C, Roubal K, Veettil SK, Chandran V, Pham T, Lee YY, Giovannucci EL, Varady KA; Chaiyakunapruk N. Intermittent Fasting and Health Outcomes: an Umbrella Review of Meta-Analyses of Randomized Controlled Trials. JAMA Network Open. 2021 Dec 1;4(12):e2139558. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.39558.
 PMID: 34919135.

Yamamura S, Terajima T, Hughes CA, Yuksel N, Schindel TJ, Navarrete J, Sriboonruang T, Anantachoti P, Patikorn C.
Reproductive Health Services: Attitudes and Practice of Japanese Community Pharmacists. Healthcare. 2021, 9(10), 1336; https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare9101336.

8. Jirawutkornkul N, Patikorn C, Anantachoti P. Access to precision medicine in Thailand: a comparative study. Journal of Health Research. 2021 Mar 11.

 Patikorn C, Veettil SK, Phisalprapa P, Pham T, Kowdley KV, Chaiyakunapruk N. Horizon scanning of therapeutic modalities for nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Annals of Hepatology. 2021 Jan 27:100315.

 Patikorn C, Leelavanich D, Ismail AK, Othman I,
 Taychakhoonavudh S, Chaiyakunapruk N. Global systematic review of cost of illness and economic evaluation studies associated with snakebites. Journal of Global Health. 2020;10:020415
 Sakulbumrungsil R, Kessomboon N, Kanchanapibool I,
 Manomayitthikan T, Thathong T, Patikorn C, Vanichayakorn T,
 Udomaksorn K. The impact of drug financing system under Thailand Universal Health Coverage (UHC) on the performances of drug system. Journal of Health Science. 2020 Jan 27;29:59-71.
12. Patikorn C, Taychakhoonavudh S, Thathong T, Anantachoti P. Patient access to anti-cancer medicines under public health insurance schemes in Thailand: A mixed methods study. TJPS. 2019;43(3):168-78.

